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Introduction 
 
This Listing Statement (the "Listing Statement") is furnished in connection with the proposed listing by and on behalf 
of the management of Peekaboo Beans Inc.  
 
Forward-Looking Statements  
 
Certain statements in this Listing Statement may constitute "forward-looking" statements which involve known and 
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of 
the Company, or industry results, to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements 
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. When used in this Listing Statement, such statements use 
such words as "will", "may", "could", "intends", "potential", "plans", "believes", "expects", "projects", "estimates", 
"anticipates", "continue", "potential", "predicts" or "should" and other similar terminology. These statements reflect 
current expectations regarding future events and operating performance and speak only as of the date of this Listing 
Statement. Forward-looking statements include, among others, statements with respect to:  
 

 the Company's expected future losses and accumulated deficit levels; 

 the requirement for, and the Company's ability to obtain future funding on favourable terms or at all; 

 the Company's dependence on management; 

 the Company's plans in respect of development and operations; 

 the Company's risks associated with economic conditions; and 

 the Company’s conflicts of interest. 

 

Forward-looking statements involve significant risks and uncertainties, should not be read as guarantees of future 
performance or results, and will not necessarily be accurate indications of whether or not such results will be 
achieved. A number of factors could cause actual results to differ materially from the results discussed in the 
forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, the factors discussed under the heading "Risk Factors". 
Although the forward-looking statements contained in this Listing Statement are based upon what management of 
the Company believes are reasonable assumptions, the Company cannot assure investors that actual results will be 
consistent with these forward-looking statements and such statements should not be unduly relied upon by 
investors. These forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this Listing Statement. A number of factors 
could cause actual events, performance or results, including those in respect of the foregoing items, to differ 
materially from the events, performance and results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could 
cause actual events, performance or results to differ materially from those set forth in the forward-looking 
statements include, but are not limited to: 
 

 the extent of future losses; 

 the ability to obtain the capital required to fund development and operations; 

 the ability to capitalize on changes to the marketplace; 

 the ability to comply with applicable governmental regulations and standards; 

 the ability to attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel; 

 the impact of changes in the business strategies and development priorities of strategic partners; 

 stock market volatility; and 

 other risks detailed from time-to-time in the Company's ongoing quarterly and annual filings with applicable 

securities regulators, and those which are discussed under the heading "Risk Factors". 

 

Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as the plans, intentions or expectations 
upon which they are based might not occur. Readers are cautioned that the foregoing lists of factors are not 
exhaustive. Each of the forward-looking statements contained in this Listing Statement are expressly qualified by 
this cautionary statement. The Company expressly disclaims any obligation or responsibility to update the forward-
looking statements in this Listing Statement except as otherwise required by applicable law. 
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Market and Industry Data  
 
This Listing Statement includes market and industry data that has been obtained from third party sources. The 
Company believes that its industry data are accurate and that its estimates and assumptions are reasonable, but 
there is no assurance as to the accuracy or completeness of this data. Third party sources generally state that the 
information contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but there is no assurance as 
to the accuracy or completeness of included information. Although the data are believed to be reliable, the Company 
has not independently verified any of the data from third party sources referred to in this Listing Statement or 
ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon by such sources.  
 
Currency Information  
 
In this Listing Statement, unless otherwise indicated, all references to "$" or "CDN$" are to Canadian dollars. 
 
2. Corporate Structure 
 
2.1 – Corporate Name and Head Office and Registered Office 
 
This Form 2A is filed in respect of Peekaboo Beans Inc. (the "Company" or "Peekaboo"), in connection with its listing 
on the Canadian Securities Exchange ("CSE"). The head office and registered address of the Company is located at 
170 – 11120 Bridgeport Road, Richmond, British Columbia, Canada, V6X 1T2. The records office of the Company is 
located at 39073 Kingfisher Road, Squamish, British Columbia, Canada, V8B 0S9.  
 
2.2 – Jurisdiction of Incorporation  
 
The Company was incorporated on May 9, 1991 pursuant to the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) under the name 
of "Takla Star Resources Ltd.", it then continued into the federal jurisdiction of Canada on July 8, 2002 pursuant to 
the Canada Business Corporations Act (the "CBCA") under the name "North Group Finance Limited". On December 
21, 2005, the Company discontinued under the CBCA and continued into British Columbia pursuant to the Business 
Corporations Act (British Columbia) (the "BCBCA"), it then changed its name from "North Group Finance Limited" to 
"Peekaboo Beans Inc." on September 23, 2016. The Company is a reporting issuer in the Provinces of British 
Columbia and Alberta. 
 
2.3 – Intercorporate Relationships  
 
On September 26, 2016, the Company completed a reverse takeover transaction (the "RTO"), which consisted of the 
acquisition by the Company of all of the issued and outstanding common shares in the capital of a private company 
incorporated under the CBCA named "Peekaboo Beans Inc." (which amalgamated and was renamed Peekaboo Beans 
(Canada) Inc. upon the completion of the RTO) ("PBI"), by way of a three-cornered amalgamation, pursuant to which 
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company "Peekaboo Beans (Canada) Inc." ("PBI Canada") amalgamated with PBI. 
Following completion of the RTO, PBI Canada became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and is now the 
Canadian operating entity of the Company. On September 6, 2017, the Company incorporated a wholly-owned 
subsidiary pursuant to the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware "Peekaboo Beans, Inc.", which is the 
US operating entity of the Company. 
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The diagram below describes the inter-corporate relationship between the Company and its subsidiaries: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
        
   
 
 
 
   
2.4 – Fundamental Change  
 
The Company is not requalifying following a fundamental change or proposing an acquisition, amalgamation, 
merger, reorganization or arrangement.  
 
2.5 – Non-corporate Issuers and Issuers incorporated outside of Canada 
 
This section is not applicable.  
 
3.  General Development of the Business  
 
3.1 – General Development of the Business  
 
The Company is classified as an industrial issuer producing high-quality, ethically manufactured children’s apparel 
which is sold primarily through its direct-sales network of stylists or independent sales representatives. The 
Company’s common shares (each a "Common Share") are currently listed on the TSX Venture Exchange (the "TSX-
V") under the symbol of "BEAN" and on the Over the Counter Market Place QB Exchange (the "OTCQB") under the 
symbol "PBBSF".  
 
History  
 
Founded in 2005, PBI was a privately held company headquartered in Richmond, British Columbia. After selling 
through specialty children's retail stores for several years, in fiscal 2010, PBI took control of its distribution channel 
by moving to a direct-sales network of sales representatives. Manufacturing moved from British Columbia to China 
in fiscal 2010. PBI experienced a doubling of year-over-year sales in fiscal 2011 after moving into the direct-sales 
channel. From fiscal 2011 to fiscal 2013, PBI built a strong Stylists base through word-of-mouth and demand for PBI’s 
children playwear by investing in marketing and increasing brand awareness.  
 
With an established Stylist base, PBI spent fiscal 2014 developing and testing a new Stylist compensation and reward 
program to be more aligned towards a direct-sales channel model. PBI identified sales leaders and formed a 
leadership group of Stylists, who were taught how to recruit and train new Stylists. PBI then began recruiting and 
training regional sales managers to manage the growing Stylist sales force. With input from direct-sales industry 
consultants, PBI officially launched and implemented the new compensation plan in fiscal 2015, which, in addition 
to increasing sales, would grow the Stylist base through strategic recruitment. The expansion plans required PBI to 
find a permanent source of working capital for increased inventory and apparel production deposits. The RTO 
completed in September 2016 provided access to additional capital for the Company and allowed Stylists to become 
shareholders of the Company, in addition to business operators.  
 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. 

 TSX-V Listed Company  

 Transfer to the CSE 

 

 

 

Peekaboo Beans (Canada) Inc. 

 100% owned subsidiary of the Company 

 Private B.C. corporation 

  

 

 

 

 
100% equity 

 

Peekaboo Beans, Inc.  

 100% owned subsidiary of the Company 

 Private Delaware corporation 

  

 

 

 

100% equity 
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Since closing of the RTO, Peekaboo has focused on its Canadian and US expansion efforts, growing sales by increasing 
Stylist recruitment. 
 
Recent Financings  
 
On February 16, 2018, the Company completed a brokered private placement and issued an aggregate of 2,983,333 
units of the Company at a price of $0.75 per unit for gross proceeds of approximately $2,237,500. Each unit consisted 
of one Common Share and one half of one Common Share purchase warrant, each whole warrant exercisable into 
one Common Share at a price of $1.00 until February 16, 2020. Agents’ fees paid in connection with the financing 
totaled $267,136 in cash and 238,666 agents’ warrants. The agents’ warrants are exercisable on the same terms as 
the warrants which formed part of the units. The Company also issued 149,166 units as a corporate finance fee in 
connection with the private placement.  
 
On December 20, 2017, the Company completed a brokered and non-brokered private placement and issued an 
aggregate of 2,488,500 Common Shares at a price of $0.60 per Common Share for aggregate gross proceeds of 
$1,493,100. A commission of $101,400 was paid to the agents and an aggregate of 169,066 agents warrants were 
issued. Each warrant is exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.60 per Common Share until December 20, 
2019. The Company also issued 105,666 Common Shares as a corporate finance fee in connection with the private 
placement.  
 
On June 29, 2017, the Company completed the second tranche of a private placement, which consisted of a brokered 
and non-brokered portion, and issued 857,000 units at a price of $0.60 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of 
$514,200. Each unit consisted of one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant, with 
each whole warrant exercisable into one Common Share at a price of $0.80 until June 29, 2019. In connection with 
the closing, a commission of $28,732.01 was paid to certain finders and an aggregate of 47,887 finders warrants 
were issued. The finder’s warrants are exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.80 per Common Share 
until June 29, 2019. 
 
On May 12, 2017, the Company completed the first tranche of a private placement, which consisted of a brokered 
and non-brokered portion, and issued 2,633,001 units at a price of $0.60 per unit for aggregate gross proceeds of 
$1,579,800.50. Each unit consisted of one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant, 
each whole warrant exercisable into one Common Share at a price of $0.80 until May 12, 2019.  In connection with 
the closing, a commission of $67,158.04 was paid to the agents, an aggregate of 111,930 agents’ warrants were 
issued and a $30,000 corporate finance fee was paid. The agents’ warrants are exercisable for units at $0.60 per 
unit, with each unit consisting of one Common Share and one half of one Common Share purchase warrant, each 
whole warrant exercisable into one Common Share at $0.80 until May 12, 2019. 
 
3.2 – Significant Acquisitions and Dispositions  
 
Other than as described in sections 3.1 and 4.1 in this Listing Statement, no significant acquisitions or significant 
dispositions have been completed by the Company during the last three financial years or are contemplated. 
 
3.3 – Trends, Commitments, Events or Uncertainties  
 
Other than as described in this section 3.3, there are no trends, commitments, events or uncertainties known to 
management which could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the Company’s business, the 
Company’s financial condition or results of operations. However, there are significant risks associated with the 
Company’s business, as described in "Part 17 – Risk Factors".  
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4. Narrative Description of the Business 
 
4.1 General  
 
Business of the Company 
 
The Company is a publicly owned direct-sales retailer of children’s apparel operating in Canada and the US based 
out of Richmond, British Columbia. The Company designs and manufactures children’s apparel that is stylish, 
functional and allows free, unstructured play for children. Peekaboo is helping to create a revolutionary lifestyle 
brand around the growing culture of children’s play by focusing on the Company’s core customers, "Parents". 
 
Peekaboo’s design team in British Columbia, Canada works with child development specialists, educators, and 
therapists to review, evaluate and create new designs that take into consideration the developmental needs of 
children by creating value with versatile pieces and longevity through quality construction.  
 
The fabric that Peekaboo designs in-house for its apparel are third-party tested to guarantee that it is aligned with 
OEKO-TEK® Standard 100, an independent testing and certification system for all stages of production from textile 
raw materials to end products. The requirement is that all components of an item comply with the required criteria 
without exception, including the outer material, sewing threads, linings, prints, etc., as well as non-textile accessories 
such as buttons, zip fasteners, rivets, etc. for harmful substances and sensitivity to skin contact.  
 
Operations 
 
The Company does not own or operate any manufacturing facilities. Peekaboo works closely with its third-party 
contract manufacturers who adhere to a vendor code of ethics regarding social and environmental sustainability 
practices. Peekaboo relies on a limited number of suppliers to provide custom designed fabrics and follows the 
production of its apparel from raw fiber to finished garment.  
 
Peekaboo’s apparel is sold exclusively through a direct-sales network of independent sales representatives or 
"Stylists" in Canada and the US. The Company expanded into the US in September 2017. The Company does not 
own, lease or operate any retail store locations. Peekaboo’s direct-sales business offers Stylists the business 
opportunity to generate income and not sacrifice time with their families.  
 
The direct-sales channel allows Peekaboo’s Stylists to market actual products directly to customers, provide 
customers with a higher level of service and encourage repeat purchases through building personal relationships. As 
Stylists purchase the apparel themselves for their children, they can provide the first-hand testimonial of the quality 
of the apparel, which serves as a powerful sales tool and is strengthened by ongoing personal contact and education 
between the Stylists and Parents. The Company’s network of Stylists encourages friends to host sales parties or "Pop-
ups" in their homes to demonstrate and sell the Company’s children’s apparel. In return for hosting, the hosts receive 
free products and discounts. Pop-ups also act as business opportunities for Stylists to gain engagement to book more 
parties, present the direct-sales business opportunity to potential Stylists and market Peekaboo’s brand and apparel. 
Orders are processed through Peekaboo’s online system, and payments are made at Pop-ups or directly on the 
Company’s website, usually by credit cards. 
 
Stated Business Objectives  
 
In previous years, Peekaboo produced four seasonal collections each year with the Fall collection being the biggest 
season for sales. Starting in January 2017, the Company adopted a new rhythm to launch six collections in one 
calendar year, with the expectations that more frequent launches would generate more consistent sales and keep 
the Stylists and customers continuously engaged with Peekaboo’s products. In evaluation of this product launch 
strategy, however, management has decided to resume its four seasonal collections rhythm in the calendar year 
2018, which is better aligned with seasonal trend of its product. Management plans to source for special product 
launches to engage with Stylists and customers in between launches. During the second quarter of 2018, the 
Company has collaborated with other Canadian brands that share similar values with Peekaboo to create special 
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product drops, including underwear and windbreaker jackets. The initiative has proved to be a success as the 
additional product mix incentivizes Peekaboo’s loyal customers to increase their order size.  
 
Peekaboo’s short-term objectives for the next 12 months are to expand additional distribution channels and to 
enhance its current compensation plan. The cost of such objectives and targeted date to achieve them, are outlined 
in the table below. 
 

Objective Target Date Projected Cost 

Expand additional distribution 
channels as the phase two strategy 
of United States Expansion 

October 1, 2018 Approximately $210,000 

Enhance current compensation 
plan to incentivize people to join 
Peekaboo Beans community and 
sell the products 

October 1, 2018 Approximately $100,000 

 
Principal Products or Services 
 
Peekaboo’s direct-sales business model allows the business to grow quickly with modest investment capital as most 
of the Company’s costs are fixed once the investment has been made in the independent sales representative 
network. Peekaboo incurs minimal incremental direct costs to add new Stylists to the Company’s existing markets. 
Stylist compensation varies directly with sales. Unlike other children’s apparel manufacturers, the direct-sales model 
does not require significant expenditures for multiple retail store rent, retail sales staff and capital to hold inventory 
across a retail store network or costs for marketing and returned goods if sold through independent retail store 
network. In the direct-sales industry, the Stylists bear the majority of the consumer marketing expenses and 
sponsors coordinate a good proportion of the recruiting and training of new Stylists. 
 
Production and Sales 
 
Peekaboo’s primary drivers for sales growth are growing the Stylists network, retaining current Stylists and 
increasing the average sales per Stylist. Other drivers that influence growth include Stylist and sales manager training 
and the time and costs to market and recruit new Stylists. Investing in brand awareness through campaigns 
promoting the importance of play to children’s development increases the Stylist retention rate, which is largely 
influenced by Peekaboo’s unique mission, culture and quality apparel. To be an active Stylist, a sales representative 
must achieve $900 in personal sales in a twelve-month period on a rolling basis. 
 
Lease Arrangements 
 
The Company’s current lease is expiring in August 2018. The Company has completed negotiation with its landlord 
with a new lease contract, pending execution by the Company. The landlord is not a related person of the Company. 
The new lease will run from September 2018 to August 2020. The material payment terms of the new lease are as 
follows: (i) $61,128 basic rent payable in twelve instalments in the first year at the first day of each month, (ii) 
$63,720 basic rent payable in twelve instalments in the second year at the first day of each month, and (iii) additional 
rent payable estimated at $2,154 per month in the first year. 
 
Brand Recognition 

 
The Company recognizes that its brand name and reputation associated with its brand are critical for its success in 
marketing and selling the apparel garments in a competitive children apparel industry. The Company has taken 
actions to protect its brand by registering the brand names in both countries where the Company has operations. 
See "Narrative Description of the Business – Proprietary Protection." 
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Seasonality  
 
The Company’s revenue trend is cyclical, corresponding to its four launches of seasonal collections. The Company 
has taken initiatives to source for accessories to complement the main collections to increase revenues in between 
seasonal launches. 
 
Material Negotiations 
 
The Company has identified the following contracts that may have a material impact on the Company’ business by 
renegotiation or termination in the next 12 months: 
 

i. Management contract with Ms. Traci Costa: The Company is currently in negotiation with Ms. Traci 

Costa in relation to her CEO position at the Company. The Company recognizes that retaining Ms. 

Costa’s service is critical to the Company’s future growth and failure to negotiate a management 

contract with satisfactory terms for both parties will result in potential disruption of the Company’s 

operation and growth plans. 

 

ii. Consulting and sourcing contract with Exit 21 Apparel Solutions LLC: The Company currently 

renegotiates a new contract with Exit 21 Apparel Solutions LLC, the product sourcing agent, 

approximately every six months. The Company relies on the sourcing agent for more than 90% of its 

production. The Company recognizes that failure to negotiate a sourcing contract with satisfactory 

terms for both parties will result in potential disruption of the Company’s inventory production. 

Employees 
 
As at March 31, 2018, the Company has 19 employees based out of its head office in Richmond and 1,133 Stylists 
across Canada and the US. Stylists join Peekaboo’s opportunity for a number of reasons. Many become a Stylist to 
earn part-time money to contribute to their family’s income while receiving product discounts, and some are drawn 
to Peekaboo because they can be their own boss and earn substantial rewards based on their skills and hard work. 
Peekaboo has built a community where the Company helps parents across Canada and the US connect with each 
other, who shares the same belief in play as the Company, and together promote a playful lifestyle for children while 
also supporting their families at home. Peekaboo has ensured that there is an opportunity for everyone of any 
lifestyle to become a Stylist.  
 
Revenues  
 
Revenue represents sales of children apparel and catalogues.  Sale of children apparel and catalogues, net of returns, 
is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the customer, usually 
on delivery of the goods.   
 
Funds Available and Use of Funds 
 
The Company’s recurring cash requirements include executive and employee salary compensation, distribution and 
information technology costs, administrative and public company costs.  
 
The Company’s recurring working capital requirements include financing the lead-time for inventory and apparel 
production deposits. The Company places apparel production deposits several months before the final purchase 
order and pays for goods before shipment to Canada from Vietnam, which happens several weeks before the 
Company receives payment for goods sold. Up until the RTO, the Company had used interest-bearing loans from 
related parties to fund the working capital required for the production-to-payment cycle.  
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The Company sells its apparel and holds cash in Canadian and United States Dollars. The fluctuation in the price of 
the Canadian dollar, United States Dollars and to a lesser degree, the Vietnamese Dong may affect financial 
performance. The economic health of the economies of North America and to a lesser extent Vietnam may affect 
the financial performance of the Company. 
 
Growth strategies require the Company to fund a permanent source of working capital for increased inventory and 
apparel production deposits to fund the time when apparel orders are paid for and when the Company receives 
payment from Stylists and customers. The advantage of the direct-sales business model is that it allows Peekaboo 
the flexibility on when to expand as the majority of expansion costs are variable in nature and borne on the Stylist. 
During the first six months of fiscal 2018, the Company raised $3.73 million gross proceeds in private placements at 
$0.60 and $0.75 to provide working capital for apparel production deposits and US expansion. 
 
As at June 7, 2018, the Company had working capital amounting to approximately $2,186,581 (as of June 7, 2018 
the Company has $582,369 cash on hand). The Company expects to have total funds available to it of $4,132,698. 
The table does not include any proceeds that may be available to the Company through future financings, warrants 
or incentive stock options.   
 
The following table sets out the principal purposes, using approximate amounts, for which the Company intends to 
use the estimated funds available to the Company for the 12 months following the date of this Listing Statement. 
 

Use of Available Funds Amount 

Expenditures on Business(1) $1,065,367 

CSE Monthly Fees $7,800 

General and Administrative Expenses(2)  $3,059,531 

(1) This amount includes but is not limited to, inventory and apparel production deposits, importing duty and 

taxes, and product sourcing agents’ commission.  

(2) Includes commissions, consulting fees, insurance, interests, occupancy costs, payroll, professional fees, 

public company costs and selling expenses. 

Competitive Conditions 
 
Peekaboo operates in a highly competitive market, children's apparel. The size and resources of some of Peekaboo's 
competitors may allow them to operate more effectively, which in turn could cause Peekaboo to lose market share 
and sales revenues. The children's apparel industry is very competitive and includes both branded and private label 
manufacturers. Due to the fragmented nature of the industry, Peekaboo also competes with many other 
manufacturers and retailers. Some of Peekaboo's competitors have greater financial resources and larger customer 
bases than Peekaboo. As a result, these competitors may be able to adapt to changes in customer requirements 
more quickly, take advantage of acquisitions and other opportunities more readily, devote greater resources to the 
marketing and sale of their products and adopt more aggressive pricing strategies than Peekaboo can. 
 
Peekaboo competes with traditional apparel retailers such as The Gap, retailers specifically focused on children 
apparel including Zara Kids and specialty online retailers, such as the Tea Collection. 
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Proprietary Protection 
 
Peekaboo plans to protect its intellectual property through trade secrets, reliance upon copyright legislation, 
common law trademark protection and trademark applications and registrations.  
 
Peekaboo has registered the following trademarks: 
 

i. Canadian trademark registered with the Canadian Intellectual Property Office. Valid from July 9, 2009 until 

July 9, 2024; and 

 

ii. United States trademark registered with the United States Patent and Trademark Office. Valid from May 1, 

2018 until May 1, 2028. 

As of the date hereof, Peekaboo does not have any other rights to any intellectual property. 
 
Lending and Investment Policies and Restrictions 
 
This is not applicable to the Company. 
 
Bankruptcy and Receivership 
 
The Company has not been the subject of any bankruptcy or any receivership or similar proceedings against the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries or any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings by the Company 
or its subsidiary, since its incorporation. 
 
Material Restructuring 
 
The Company has not completed any reorganizations in its last three financial years. 
 
Social or Environmental Policies 
 
While the Company has not implemented any social or environmental policies that are fundamental to its current 
operations, it strives to producing high-quality, ethically manufactured children’s apparel. 
 
4.2 – Asset Backed Securities  
 
The Company does not have any asset backed securities.  
 
4.3 – Companies with Mineral Properties 
 
The Company does not have any mineral projects. 
 
4.4 – Companies with Oil and Gas Operations 
 
The Company does not have oil and gas operations. 
 
5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  
 
5.1 – Annual Information  
 
The information below should be read in conjunction with the management’s discussion and analysis ("MD&A"), the 
audited consolidated financial statements and related notes and other financial information, all of which are 
available at www.sedar.com. This selected financial information has been prepared using accounting policies in 
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compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee. 
 

  Six Months  
ended  

March 31, 2018 

 Financial Year  
ended  

September 30, 2017 

 Financial Year  
ended  

September 30, 2016 

 Financial Year  
ended  

September 30, 2015 

Net Sales  $1,512,768  $3,358,307  3,540,449  $3,469,867 

Income (Loss) from 
continuing 
operations 

 $(1,484,911)  $(2,494,037)  $(1,157,404)  $(1,468,201) 

Net Income (Loss)  $(1,612,473)  $(3,000,404)  $(2,552,809)  $(2,694,490) 
 - per share  $(0.12)  $(0.35)  $(0.66)  $(1.04) 
Total Assets  $2,803,555  $1,604,913  1,613,707  1,433,293 
Total Long Term 
Liabilities 

  
$429,924 

  
$246,821 

  
842,995 

  
474,178 

 
The Company has not declared any cash dividends as of the date hereof and does not currently have a dividend 
policy. 
 
To date, the Company has incurred losses and further losses are anticipated as the Company further develops its 
business. 
 
5.2 – Quarterly Information  
 
The following table sets forth summary financial information for the Company for the eight most recently completed 
interim periods ending at the end of the most recently completed financial year end (September 30, 2017). This 
summary financial information should only be read in conjunction with the Company’s financial statements, 
including the notes thereto.  
 

 2017 2016 

 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 

Net Sales $862,160 $976,381 $658,635 $861,131 $934,685 $816,322 $928,311 $867,632 
Income (Loss) from 
continuing operations 

$(1,215,178) $(762,815) $[221,459] $[294,585] $[186,733] $[417,373] $[265,107] $[288,191] 

Net Income (Loss) $(1,394,063) $(792,285) $(476,021) $(338,035) $(1,533,687) $(352,771) $(351,113) $(315,238) 
   per share basis,  
basic 

$(0.16) $(0.08) $(0.07) $(0.05) $(0.38) $(0.09) $(0.12) $(0.11) 

and diluted per  
share 

        

 
5.3 – Dividends  
 
Dividends can be declared by the Company’s board of directors when deemed appropriate from time to time. As of 
the date of this Listing Statement, the Company has not declared any dividends on the Common Shares and it is 
unlikely that earnings will be available for the payment of dividends in the foreseeable future. 
 
5.4 – Foreign GAAP 
 
Not applicable. 
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6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 
 
The Company’s MD&A for six months ended March 31, 2018 and for the years ended September 30, 2017, and 2016 
should be read in conjunction with the financial statements of the Company for six months ended March 31, 2018 
and for the years ended 2017, and 2016 respectively, attached to this Listing Statement as Schedule "A". The 
Company’s other public disclosure documents are available for viewing under the Company’s profile at 
www.sedar.com. 
 
7. Market for Securities 
 
The Company’s Common Shares currently trade on the TSX-V under the symbol "BEAN" and on the OTCQB under 
the symbol "PBBSF". In connection with the listing of the Company’s Common Shares on the CSE, the Company 
expects to delist from the TSX-V. The Trading symbol for the Company’s Common Shares on the CSE is expected to 
be "BEAN". 
 
8. Consolidated Capitalization  
 
The following table sets forth the consolidated capitalization of the Company as at September 30, 2017 and as of 
the date of this Listing Statement:  
 

Authorized  Outstanding as at  
September 30, 2017 

 Outstanding as of  
this Listing Statement 

     
Warrants 

Stock Options 
 2,751,669 

875,000 
 4,617,850 

1,670,000 
Common Shares  11,894,535  17,646,533 

 
9. Option to Purchase Securities  
 
As of the date of this Listing Statement, 1,670,000 Options are outstanding. The maximum aggregate number of 
Common Shares reserved for issuance and which may be purchased upon exercise of Options granted is equal to 
10% of the issued Common Shares at the time the Option is granted. An aggregate of 1,670,000 Common Shares are 
reserved for issuance pursuant to Options as set forth below. 
 

Optionee  Type of Option  Common Shares 
Issuance 

 Exercise Price  Expiry Date 

Officers (2)  Stock Option  615,000 
200,000 

 $0.60 
$0.80 

 May 12, 2027 
Feb. 26, 2028 

 
Directors (2)  Stock Option  20,000 

200,000 
 $0.60 

$0.80 
 

 May 12, 2027 
February 7, 2028 

 
Officers of Subsidiaries  Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil 

 
Directors of Subsidiaries  Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil 

 
Employees  Stock Option  65,000 

100,000 
 

 $0.60 
$0.24 

 May 12, 2027 
July 27, 2023 

Employees of Subsidiaries  Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil 
 

Consultants  Stock Option 
Stock Option 

 20,000 
150,000 

 $0.60 
$0.60 

 Sept. 26, 2022 
January 17, 2028 
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Optionee  Type of Option  Common Shares 
Issuance 

 Exercise Price  Expiry Date 

Stock Option 100,000 $0.60 May 12, 2027 
 

Investor Relations  Stock Option  200,000  $0.80  February 26, 2020 
 

Other  Nil  Nil  Nil  Nil 
 

TOTAL    1,670,000     
 
The Company's stock option plan (the "Option Plan") is a 10% "rolling" stock option plan. Pursuant to the terms of 
the Option Plan, the Board of Directors may designate directors, officers, employees and consultants (and any 
subsidiaries thereof) (the "Optionees") of the Company eligible to receive Options. The number of Common Shares 
subject to each Option, in addition to the exercise price, vesting period and term of each Option is to be determined 
by the Board of Directors. 
 
The maximum aggregate number of Common Shares reserved for issuance and which may be purchased upon 
exercise of Options granted is equal to 10% of the issued shares of the Company at the time the Option is granted. 
 
In accordance with its terms, in no case will the grant of Options under the Option Plan result in: (i) the number of 
Common Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to Options granted to any one individual, within any twelve-month 
period, exceeding in the aggregate 5% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares; (ii) the number of Common 
Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to Options granted all persons engaged by the Company to provide investor 
relations activities, within any twelve month period, exceeding in the aggregate 2% of the issued and outstanding 
Common Shares; or (iii) the number of Common Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to Options granted to any 
one consultant, in any twelve month period, exceeding in the aggregate 2% of the issued and outstanding Common 
Shares.  
 
The price at which Common Shares may be purchased under any Option granted pursuant to the Option Plan (the 
"Exercise Price") shall not be less than the minimum exercise price determined under the applicable rules and 
regulations of all regulatory authorities and stock exchanges to which the Company is or may be subject, including 
the CSE. Subject to certain exceptions, any Options granted pursuant to the Option Plan will terminate within 90 
days of the Optionee ceasing to be a director, officer, employee or consultant of the Company. Options held by any 
Optionee who ceases to be a director, officer, employee or consultant of the Company for "cause" as defined in the 
Option Plan, shall terminate immediately. If the Optionee dies during the term of the Option, the Options will expire 
one year after the date of the Optionee's death and may be exercised by the Optionee's legal personal representative 
until that time, or until the expiry date of the Option, whichever is earlier. 
 
10. Description of the Securities  
 
10.1 – Description of the Company’s Securities  
 
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares without nominal or par value. As of the 
date hereof, there are 17,646,533 Common Shares issued and outstanding.  
 
The holders of Common Shares are entitled to receive notice of and to attend all meetings of the Shareholders and 
shall have one vote for each Common Share held at all meetings of the Shareholders. The holders of Common Shares 
are entitled to: (a) receive any dividends as and when declared by the Board of Directors, out of the assets of the 
Company properly applicable to the payment of dividends, in such amount and in such form as the Board of Directors 
may from time to time determine; and (b) receive the remaining property of the Company (after payment of all 
outstanding debts) in the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Company. The holders of the 
Common Shares have no pre-emptive, redemption or conversion rights, sinking or purchase fund provisions, 
provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities or provisions requiring a securityholder to 
contribute additional capital. 
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10.2 – 10.6 – Miscellaneous Securities Provisions  
 
None of the matters set out in sections 10.2 to 10.6 of CSE Form 2A are applicable.  
 
10.7 – Prior Sales of Common Shares 
 
The following table summarizes the issuances of Common Shares or securities convertible into Common Shares for 
the 12 month period prior to the date of the Listing Statement. 

 
 

Date Issued 

  
 

Class of Security 

  
Number of Common 

Shares  
Issued/Issuable 

 Price/Deemed 
Price/Exercise  

Price of Security 

       
March 9, 2018  Convertible Debenture(1)  246,296  $0.75 
March 2, 2018  Common Shares  7,333  $0.60 
March 2, 2018  Warrant(2)  12,667  $0.80 

February 16, 2018  Common Shares  3,132,499  $0.75 
February 16, 2018  Warrant(3)  1,566,248  $1.00 
February 16, 2018  Agents’ Warrants(4)  238,666  $0.75 

February 2, 2018  Common Shares  18,000  $0.60 
December 20, 2017  Common Shares  2,594,166  $0.60 
December 20, 2017  Warrants(5)  169,066  $0.60 

September 28, 2017  Common Shares  878,111  $0.60 
September 28, 2017  Warrants(6)  439,055  $0.80 
September 28, 2017  Convertible Debenture(7)  412,513  $0.60 

June 29, 2017  Common Shares  857,000  $0.60 
June 29, 2017  Warrants(8)  476,385  $0.80 

 
Notes: 

(1) The convertible debenture has an outstanding principal amount of $184,722.17, accrues interest at a 
rate of 12% per annum, matures on March 9, 2020, and is convertible into units of the Company, 
comprised of one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant, at a price of 
$0.75 per unit. Each whole warrant is exercisable, at a price of $0.80 per Common Share until December 
31, 2019. 

(2) Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $0.80 until May 12, 2019. 

(3) Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $1.00 until February 16, 2020. 

(4) Each agents’ warrant is exercisable for one unit at a price of $0.75 per unit until February 16, 2020, with 

each unit being comprised of one Common Share and one half of one Common Share purchase warrant, 

each whole warrant exercisable at $1.00 until February 16, 2020. 

(5) Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $0.60 until December 20, 2019. 

(6) Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $0.80 until September 28, 2019. 

(7) The convertible debenture has an outstanding principal amount of $247,507.90, accrues interest at a 
rate of 12% per annum, matures on December 31, 2019, and is convertible into units of the Company, 
comprised of one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant, at a price of 
$0.60 per unit. Each whole warrant is exercisable, at a price of $0.80 per Common Share until December 
31, 2019. 

(8) Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $0.80 until June 29, 2019. 
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10.8 – Stock Exchange Price  
 
The Common Shares are listed and posted for trading on the TSX-V under the trading symbol "BEAN". The following 
table sets forth the daily high and low closing trading prices and the volume of the trading of the Common Shares, 
on days which there was trading activity, on the TSX-V for the periods indicated.  
 

  Price Range Per Common Share   

  High  Low  Volume 

June, 2018(1) 
May, 2018 
April, 2018 
March, 2018 
February, 2018 
January, 2018 
Q1 2018 
Q4 2017 
Q3 2017 
Q2 2017 
Q1 2017 
Q4 2016 
Q3 2016 

 $0.415 
$0.43 
$0.50 
$0.60 
$0.77 
$0.74 
$0.60 
$0.58 
$0.60 
$0.72 
$1.09 

N/A 
N/A 

 

 $0. 31 
$0.41 
$0.48 
$0.58 
$0.74 
$0.69 
$0.58 
$0.57 
$0.59 
$0.70 
$0.70 

N/A 
N/A 

 

 186,750 
20,698 
14,974 
13,010 
28,971 
76,976 
27,796 

9,853 
10,747 
22,440 

305,449 
N/A 
N/A 

 
Notes: 

(1) Up to and including June 7, 2018.  

11. Escrowed Securities  
 
As of the date of this Listing Statement the following Common Shares of the Company are held in escrow: 
 

Designation of class held in escrow 
 

Number of securities 
held in escrow 

Percentage of class 

Common Shares 
 

334,215 
 

1.89% 
 

Common Shares 
 

1,408,012 7.98% 

 
Notes: 

1. Held in escrow pursuant to a Value Security Escrow Agreement with Computershare Trust Company dated 

September 23, 2016 with release dates remaining of September 28, 2018, March 28, 2019 and September 

28, 2019. 

2. Held in escrow pursuant to a Surplus Security Escrow Agreement with Computershare Trust Company dated 

September 23, 2016 with release dates remaining of September 28, 2018, March 28, 2019 and September 

28, 2019. 

12. Principal Shareholders  
 
To the knowledge of the Company, no security holder of the Company owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises 
control or direction over, voting securities carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to any class of voting 
securities of the Company.  
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12.1. – Voting Trusts  
 
To the knowledge of the Company, no voting trust exists within the Company such that more than 10 percent of any 
class of voting securities of the Company are held, or are to be held, subject to any voting trust or similar agreement.  
 
12.2. – Associates and Affiliates  
 
This section is not applicable. 
 
13. Directors and Officers 
 
13.1 – 13.3 – Directors and Officers 
 
The following table sets forth the names and location of residence of the officers and directors of the Company, their 
positions and their principal occupations:  
 

Name and Municipality of 
Residence 

 Position with the 
Company(5) 

 Number of  
Common Shares  

 Principal Occupation for 
the Past 5 Years 

Traci Costa(2) 
Surrey, British Columbia 
 

 Director, President and 
CEO since September 23, 

2016 
 

 793,939 
4.50%(5)  

 

 Mrs. Costa founded 
Peekaboo in 2006 and is 
presently the President 
and CEO. 
 

Nikki Mayer 
Surrey, British Columbia 
 

 Director since September 
23, 2016; CFO and 

Corporate Secretary since 
December 30, 2016 

 

 297,142 
1.68%(5)  

 

 Mrs. Mayer has been the 
general manager of 
Peekaboo since 2011 and 
is presently the CFO and 
Corporate Secretary. 
 

Darrell Kopke(1) (2) (3) 
West Vancouver, British 
Columbia 
 

 Director since September 
23, 2016 

 

 290,000 
1.64%(5)  

 

 Mr. Kopke was the 
founder of Institute B in 
2010 and is presently the 
CEO. 
 

Karen Mate(1) (2) (3) 
Oakville, Ontario 
 

 Director since September 
26, 2017 

 

 16,667 
0.09%(5)  

 

 

 Mrs. Mate is the Partner 
of Capital Markets 
Advisory Services Inc. 
 

Notes: 
(1) Independent Director. 
(2) Member of the Audit Committee.  
(3) Member of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee.  
(4) Each director’s term of office will expire at the next annual meeting of the shareholders unless re-elected 

at such meeting. 
(5) Based on 17,646,533 common shares issued and outstanding as of the date of this Listing Statement.  

 
13.4 – Board Committees of the Company  
 
The Company currently has the following committees: 
 
Audit Committee  
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The purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the board of directors in discharging its responsibilities with respect 
to: the integrity of the financial statements and the financial reporting process; external and internal audits; 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; internal controls; financial risk management; and disclosure. 
 
Human Resources and Compensation Committee 
 
The purpose of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee is to assist the board of directors in discharging 
its responsibilities with respect to human resources; including: performance, development, compensation, and 
succession.  For the purposes of this committee, compensation includes, but is not limited to: cash or deferred 
payments, incentive and equity compensation, benefits and perquisites, employment terms and conditions, 
retention and/or termination/severance agreements, and any other programs that would be considered 
compensation by regulatory bodies.   
  
13.5 – Principal Occupation of Directors and Officers  
 
See table 13.1 – 13.3 above.  
 
13.6 – Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 
 
No director, officer or a shareholder of the Company holding a sufficient number of securities of the Company to 
affect materially the control of the Company other than disclosed herein:  
  
(a) is, as at the date of this Listing Statement, or has been, within ten years before the date of this Listing Statement, 
a director or officer of any company, including the Company, that:  
  

(i) was subject to a cease trade order or similar order or an order that denied the relevant company access to 
any exemption under Ontario securities law, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days 
while that person was acting in the capacity as director or officer; or  
 
(ii) was subject to a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the company access to any exemption 
under securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, that was issued 
after the person ceased to be a director or officer of the company and which resulted from an event that 
occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as director or officer; or  

  
(b) is as at the date of this Listing Statement or has been within the 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement, 
a director or officer of any company, including the Company, that while that person was acting in that capacity, or 
within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation 
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise 
with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or  
  
(c) has, within the 10 years before the date of this Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any 
legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangements 
or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that 
person. 
 
13.7 - 13.8 - Penalties Sanctions and Settlements  
 
No director, officer, or promoter of the Company, or any shareholder anticipated to hold a sufficient amount of 
securities of the Company to materially affect control of the Company, has been subject to any penalties or sanctions 
imposed by a court relating to Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has 
entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian securities regulatory authority or has been subject to any 
other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body or self-regulatory authority that would be likely 
to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment decision. 
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13.9 – Personal Bankruptcies 
 
No director, officer or promoter of the Company, or a shareholder anticipated to hold a sufficient amount of 
securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, or a personal holding company of any 
such persons, has, within the 10 years preceding the date of this Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a 
proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the 
assets of the individual.   
 
13.10 – Conflicts of Interest 
  
Conflicts of interest may arise as a result of the directors, officers and promoters of the Company also holding 
positions as directors or officers of other companies. Some of the individuals who will be directors and officers of 
the Company have been and will continue to be engaged in the identification and evaluation of assets, businesses 
and companies on their own behalf and on behalf of other companies, and situations may arise where the directors 
and officers of the Company will be in direct competition with the Company. Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the 
procedures and remedies provided under the BCBCA.  
 
13.11 – Directors and Officers  
 
Other than as set forth below, no director or officer has entered into a non-competition, nondisclosure, or 
confidentiality agreement with the Company. Traci Costa and Nikki Mayer are the only directors and officers that 
are also employees of the Company.  
 
Traci Costa – President, Chief Executive Officer, Director and Member of the Audit Committee (Age 46) 
 
Mrs. Costa founded Peekaboo in 2006. Peekaboo has since become the largest children's apparel direct sales retailer 
in Canada. Mrs. Costa is a "YMCA Women of Distinction Award" winner (2016 and 2015), an "Ethel Tibbits Women 
of Distinction Business Award" winner (2015), a recipient of the "Richmond Chamber of Commerce Business 
Excellence Award" (2015) and a "Business in Vancouver Top Forty Under 40 Award" winner (2010). Prior to founding 
Peekaboo, Mrs. Costa was a senior executive assistant for the Aquilini Investment Group and Markin Developments 
from 1993 to 2000 and a national operations manager of a communications distributor from 2001 to 2006. Mrs. 
Costa sits on the board of directors for the non-profit organization Playground Builders and has been involved with 
In the Forum of Women Entrepreneurs and the Women's Enterprise Network as a committee member and as part 
of their mentorship program. Mrs. Costa is a graduate of Steveston High School. 

 
Mrs. Costa has not entered into a non-competition, or confidentiality agreement with the Company but is 
negotiating an executive employment agreement with the Company that will have non-competition and 
confidentiality clauses. It is expected that Mrs. Costa will devote approximately 100% of her time to the business of 
the Company to effectively fulfill her duties as the President, Chief Executive Officer and Director.  

Nikki Mayer – Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Secretary and Director (Age 45) 
 
Mrs. Mayer is presently the Business Development Manager of Peekaboo and was the general manager from 2011 
to 2017. Previously, Mrs. Mayer opened Lululemon's fifth franchise store in Whistler, British Columbia in October 
2003, and owned and operated the store until September 2005, when Lululuemon purchased the store. The Whistler 
franchise had the highest sales per square foot during the two years Mrs. Mayer owned and operated the location. 
Mrs. Mayer opened Lululemon's second United States retail franchise location in Bellevue, Washington in July 2005, 
and owned and operated the store until September 2008. The Bellevue franchise was recognized for achieving the 
highest year-over-year comparative sales growth from 2007 to 2008 and the highest sales per square foot in the 
United States in 2008. Mrs. Mayer is a graduate of Steveston High School. 
 
Mrs. Mayer has not entered into a non-competition, or confidentiality agreement with the Company. It is expected 
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that Mrs. Mayer will devote approximately 100% of her time to the business of the Company to effectively fulfill her 
duties as Chief Financial Officer, Corporate Secretary and Director.  

Darrell Kopke – Director, Member of the Audit Committee and Member of the Human Resources and Compensation 
Committee (Age 48) 
 
Mr. Kopke has been a director of, and an initial investor in, Peekaboo since 2006. Mr. Kopke is the Founder and CEO 
of Ædelhard and is an Adjunct Professor of Entrepreneurship at the University of British Columbia’s Sauder School 
of Business. Previously, Mr. Kopke was the CEO of Kit and Ace Designs Ltd., a global designer and retailer of technical 
luxury apparel and accessories based in British Columbia, Canada. Mr. Kopke was a member of the group of founders 
of Lululemon, serving as Asia-Pacific Managing Director until 2009. Mr. Kopke earned a Master in Business 
Administration in Supply Chain Management degree from the University of British Columbia (2001) and a Bachelor 
of Commerce degree in Marketing from Concordia University (1993). Mr. Kopke was a "Business in Vancouver Top 
Forty under 40" award winner (2006). 

 
Mr. Kopke has not entered into a non-competition, or confidentiality agreement with the Company. It is expected 
that Mr. Kopke will devote approximately 20% of his time to the business of the Company to effectively fulfill his 
duties as a director. Mr. Kopke is an independent contractor of the Company. 
 
Karen Mate – Director, Member of the Audit Committee and Member of the Human Resources and Compensation 
Committee (Age 61) 
 
Ms. Mate has been active in the investment industry as an Institutional Sales Professional with over 25 years of 
experience. Ms. Mate worked as a director for Scotia Bank, where she was responsible for the largest private equity 
trade in Scotia’s history at the time. Ms. Mate also worked for National Bank and Dundee Capital in a similar capacity. 
She helped finance many companies in the capital markets and dealt with several large institutions in Toronto and 
New York. As the founder and partner of Capital Markets Advisory CA, an independent consulting firm, Karen has 
been able to broaden her network outside of North America to include retail and institutional investors in Europe. 
Ms. Mate is a graduate of Concordia University with a Bachelor of Commerce, Finance Major. 
 
Mrs. Mate has not entered into a non-competition, or confidentiality agreement with the Company. It is expected 
that Mrs. Mate will devote approximately 20% of her time to the business of the Company to effectively fulfill her 
duties as a director. Mrs. Mate is an independent contractor of the Company. 
 
14. Capitalization  
 
14.1 – Capitalization 
 
Issued Capital:  Common Shares  
 

 Number of 
Securities 
(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-diluted) 
 

% of Issued 
(non-diluted) 

% of Issued  
(fully diluted) 

Public Float 
 

    

Total outstanding (A) 
At Listing  

17,646,533 23,934,383 100% 100% 

     

Held by Related Persons or 
employees of the Issuer or 
Related Person of the Issuer, or 
by persons or companies who 

1,397,748 3,218,594 8% 13% 
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 Number of 
Securities 
(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 
(fully-diluted) 
 

% of Issued 
(non-diluted) 

% of Issued  
(fully diluted) 

beneficially own or control, 
directly or indirectly, more than a 
5% voting position in the Issuer 
(or who would beneficially own 
or control, directly or indirectly, 
more than a 5% voting position in 
the Issuer upon exercise or 
conversion of other securities 
held) (B) 

     

Total Public Float (A-B) 16,248,785 20,715,789 92% 87% 

     

Freely-Tradeable Float 
 

    

Number of outstanding securities 
subject to resale restrictions, 
including restrictions imposed by 
pooling or other arrangements or 
in a shareholder agreement and 
securities held by control block 
holders (C)  

1,742,227 8,030,077 10% 34% 

     

Total Tradeable Float  
(A-C) 

15,904,306 15,904,306 90% 66% 

 
Public Securityholders (Registered) 

Class of Security 
 

    
Common Shares 

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 
     
1 – 99 securities  Nil  N/A 

     
100 – 499 securities  7  2,773 

     
500 – 999 securities  12  7,858 

     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  62  69,172 

     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  21  43,984 

     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  14  44,728 

     
 
4,000 – 4,999 securities 

 7  29,049 

     
5,000 or more securities  72  17,448,969 
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Total  195  17,646,533 

 
 
Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 

 

Class of Security 
 

    
Common Shares 

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 
     
1 – 99 securities  21  781 

     
100 – 499 securities  67  18,885 

     
500 – 999 securities  60  38,097 

     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  76  91,921 

     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  70  154,138 

     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  32  103,901 

     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  35  151,715 

     
5,000 or more  securities  281  13,149,587 

     
Unable to confirm  Nil  N/A 

 
 
Total Board Lots:  500+ shares:  188                                
 
Total Shares:  17,643,760 (held by Board Lot holders)                                                                                                               



 

FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 
Page 23 

Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Class of Security 
 

    
Common Shares 

Size of Holding   Number of holders  Total number of securities 
     
1 – 99 securities  Nil  N/A 

     
100 – 499 securities  Nil  N/A 

     
500 – 999 securities  Nil  N/A 

     
1,000 – 1,999 securities  Nil  N/A 

     
2,000 – 2,999 securities  Nil  N/A 

     
3,000 – 3,999 securities  Nil  N/A 

     
4,000 – 4,999 securities  Nil  N/A 

     
5,000 or more  securities  4  1,397,748 

     
Total  4  1,397,748 

 
14.2 – Convertible/Exchangeable Securities  
 
The following table sets out information regarding securities convertible or exchangeable into Common Shares as of 
the date of this Listing Statement: 
 

Description of Security  
(include 

conversion/exercise/terms, 
including conversion/exercise 

price) 

 
Number of 

convertible/exchangeable  
securities outstanding 

 
Number of listed securities 

issuable upon conversion/exercise 

Stock Options ($0.60)(1) 800,000 800,000 
Stock Options ($0.60)(2) 20,000 20,000 
Stock Options ($0.60)(3) 150,000 150,000 
Stock Options ($0.80)(4) 200,000 200,000 
Stock Options ($0.80)(5) 200,000 200,000 
Stock Options ($0.80)(6) 200,000 200,000 
Stock Options ($0.24)(7) 100,000 100,000 
Convertible Debenture(8) 246,296 246,296 
Warrant(9) 12,667 12,667 
Warrant(10) 1,566,248 1,566,248 
Agents Warrants(11) 238,666 238,666 
Warrants(12) 169,066 169,066 
Warrants(13) 439,055 439,055 
Convertible Debenture(14) 412,513 412,513 
Warrants(15) 476,385 476,385 
Warrants(9) 1,316,499 1,316,499 
Agents Warrants(16) 86,597 86,597 
Warrants(17) 300,000 300,000 



 

FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 
Page 24 

 
Notes: 

(1) Each Option is exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.60 per Common Share expiring May 12, 

2027.  800,000 Options are currently exercisable. 

(2) Each Option is exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.60 per Common Share expiring September 

26, 2022.  10,000 Options are currently exercisable. 

(3) Each Option is exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.60 per Common Share expiring January 

17, 2028.  150,000 Options are currently exercisable. 

(4) Each Option is exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.80 per Common Share expiring February 

7, 2028.  50,000 Options are currently exercisable. 

(5) Each Option is exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.80 per Common Share expiring February 

26, 2028.  50,000 Options are currently exercisable. 

(6) Each Option is exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.80 per Common Share expiring February 

26, 2028.  50,000 Options are currently exercisable. 

(7) Each Option is exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.24 per Common Share expiring July 27, 

2023.  100,000 Options are currently exercisable. 

(8) The convertible debenture has an outstanding principal amount of $184,722.17, accrues interest at a rate 

of 12% per annum, matures on March 9, 2020, and is convertible into units of the Company, comprised of 

one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant, at a price of $0.75 per unit. Each 

whole warrant is exercisable, at a price of $0.80 per Common Share until December 31, 2019. 

(9) Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $0.80 until May 12, 2019. 

(10) Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $1.00 until February 16, 2020. 

(11) Each agents’ warrant is exercisable for one unit at a price of $0.75 per unit, with each unit being comprised 

of one Common Share and one half of one Common Share purchase warrant, each whole warrant 

exercisable at $1.00 until February 16, 2020. 

(12) Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $0.60 until December 20, 2019. 

(13) Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $0.80 until September 28, 2019. 

(14) The convertible debenture has an outstanding principal amount of $245,202.43, accrues interest at a rate 

of 12% per annum, matures on December 31, 2019, and is convertible into units of the Company, comprised 

of one Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant, at a price of $0.60 per unit. 

Each whole warrant is exercisable, at a price of $0.80 per Common Share until December 31, 2019. 

(15) Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $0.80 until June 29, 2019. 

(16) Each agents’ warrant is exercisable for one unit at a price of $0.60 per unit, with each unit being comprised 

of one Common Share and one half of one Common Share purchase warrant, each whole warrant 

exercisable at $0.80 until May 12, 2019. 

(17) Each warrant is exercisable into one Common Share at $0.80 until March 30, 2019. 

 

14.3 – Other Listed Securities  
 
The Company has no other listed securities reserved for issuance.  

15. Executive Compensation 
 
15.1 – Compensation of Executive Officers and Directors 
 
The Company’s Statement of Executive Compensation for the most recent financial year (2017) is attached in 
Schedule "B".  
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16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 
 
No director or officer of the Company or person who acted in such capacity in the last financial year, or any other 
individual who at any time during the most recently completed financial year of the Company was a director of the 
Company or any associate of the Company, is indebted to the Company, nor is any indebtedness of any such person 
to another entity the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or 
understanding provided by the Company.  
 
17.  Risk Factors 
 
17.1 – Description of Risk Factors  

An investor should carefully consider the following risk factors in addition to the other information contained in this 
Listing Statement. The risks and uncertainties below are not the only ones related to the Company. There are 
additional risks and uncertainties that the Company does not presently know of or that the Company currently 
considers immaterial which may also impair the Company's business operations. If any of the following risks actually 
occur, the Company's business may be harmed and its financial condition and results of operations may suffer 
significantly. An investment in the Company’s shares is speculative and will be subject to certain material risks. 
Investors should not invest in securities of the Company unless they can afford to lose their entire investment.  
 
General 

An investment in the shares is speculative and involves a high degree of risk due to the nature of the Company’s 
business and the present stage of the Company’s operations. The following risk factors, as well as risks not currently 
known to the Company, could materially adversely affect the Company’s future business, operations and financial 
condition and could cause them to differ materially from the estimates described in forward-looking statements 
contained herein. Prospective investors should carefully consider the following risk factors along with the other 
matters set out herein.  
 
An investment in the Company will be subject to certain material risks and investors should not invest in securities 
of the Company unless they can afford to lose their entire investment. A purchase of any of the securities of the 
Company involves a high degree of risk and should be undertaken only by purchasers whose financial resources are 
sufficient to enable them to assume such risks and who have no need for immediate liquidity in their investment. An 
investment in the securities of the Company should not constitute a major portion of an individual’s investment 
portfolio and should only be made by persons who can afford a total loss of their investment. Prospective purchasers 
should evaluate carefully the following risk factors associated with an investment in the Company’s securities prior to 
purchasing any of the securities. 
 
Dependence on key personnel 
 
The unexpected loss or failure to retain Peekaboo's founder and/or key employees could adversely affect the 
business. The success of the Company depends on its continuing ability to identify, hire, attract, develop and retain 
highly qualified personnel. The unexpected loss or departure of any of the key officers, employees or consultants of 
the Company could be detrimental to the Company’s future operations. 
 
The Stylist 
 
Stylists, and the contributions they will make, are important to the future operations and success of the Company. 
The success of the Company will be largely dependent upon the performance of the Company’s Stylists and on the 
Company’s ability to attract and retain qualified Stylists. Failure by the Company to retain or to attract and retain 
additional Stylists with necessary skills could have a materially adverse impact upon the Company’s growth and 
profitability. The cost of recruiting and retaining Stylists is expected to increase. There can be no assurance that the 
Company will be able to retain the Company’s current Stylists.  
 



 

FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 
Page 26 

Our business is conducted through direct selling. 
 
Sales will be made to customers through direct selling by Stylists, who are independent contractors and not the 
Company’s employees. The Company’s customers continued acceptance of the direct selling model will largely 
determine the success of the Company. 
 
Regulation of direct selling in Canada 
 
The Company’s ability to grow could be exposed to risk if Canada's government authority challenged the Company’s 
determination of Stylists as independent contractors of the Company. 
 
Effects of economic conditions on consumer spending 
 
The success of the Company’s business depends to a significant extent upon the level of consumer spending. A 
number of factors may affect the level of consumer spending on merchandise that the Company will offer, including, 
but not limited to, the following: 
 
• general economic conditions; 
• the level of consumer or family debt; 
• pricing of children apparel; 
• Canadian interest rates; 
• Canadian and provincial tax rates; 
• the Company’s refund policy for customers and Stylists; and 
• war, terrorism and other hostilities. 
 
Consumer confidence in future economic conditions 
 
Adverse economic conditions and any related decrease in consumer demand for discretionary items could have a 
material adverse effect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. The apparel 
Peekaboo sells generally consists of discretionary items. Reduced consumer confidence and spending may result in 
reduced demand for discretionary items and may force the Company to take inventory markdowns, decreasing sales 
and making expense leverage difficult to achieve. Demand can also be influenced by other factors beyond the 
Company’s control. 
 
Because children apparel and accessories generally are discretionary purchases, declines in consumer spending 
patterns may impact the Company more negatively as a specialty children apparel retailer. Therefore, the Company 
may not be able to grow revenues or increase profitability if there is a decline in consumer spending patterns or it 
decides to slow or alter the Company’s growth plans in anticipation of or in response to a decline in consumer 
spending. 
 
Moreover, while Peekaboo believes that its operating cash flows will be adequate for Peekaboo's anticipated cash 
requirements, if the economy were to experience a renewed downturn, the Company could be required to modify 
the Company’s operations for decreased cash flow or to seek alternative sources of liquidity, and such alternative 
sources might not be available to the Company. 
 
Domestic and International Competition  
 
The Company faces competition in the domestic and international markets in which it operates. The Company’s 
ability to compete depends on, among other things, knowledgeable personnel, high product quality, competitive 
pricing and range of product offerings. Increased competition may require the Company to reduce prices or increase 
costs and may have a material adverse effect on its financial condition and results of operations. 
 
The children's apparel and accessory markets are intensely competitive. Peekaboo currently competes against a 
diverse group of retailers, including other regional and national specialty stores, department and discount stores, 
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small independents and e-commerce retailers and direct sellers, which sell products similar to and often identical to 
those sold by the Company. A number of different competitive factors could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition, including, but not limited to, the following: 
 
• lower cost pricing strategies; 
• expansion by existing competitors; 
• entry by new competitors into markets in which Peekaboo currently operates; 
• adoption by existing competitors of the direct-sales marketing; 
• increased operational efficiencies of competitors; and 
• better designed or manufactured playwear. 
 
Peekaboo competes on quality, design and customer service through the direct-sales model. Many of Peekaboo's 
competitors are, and many potential competitors may be, larger and have greater financial, marketing and other 
resources, devote greater resources to the marketing and sale of their products, generate greater international 
brand recognition or adopt more aggressive pricing policies than Peekaboo can. In addition, increased levels of 
promotional activity by Peekaboo's competitors, both online and in stores, may negatively impact the Company’s 
revenues and gross profit. 
 
Increased cost of manufacturing 
 
Increased costs for contract manufacturing to Peekaboo's high standards, including those resulting from potential 
increases in raw material, wages and other expense items may reduce the Company’s operating margin and slow its 
growth. 
 
Reliance on Manufacturer 
 
The unexpected loss or failure to retain Peekaboo's sole manufacturer of fabrics and products in Vietnam could 
adversely affect the business. 
 
Increased cost of currency transactions 
 
Peekaboo sells its apparel products in Canadian dollars and, to a lesser degree, in United States dollar, while its costs 
for manufacturing are priced in United States dollars. Increased costs to buy and sell currency may reduce the 
Company’s operating margins. 
 
Dependence on information systems 
 
Peekaboo depends on a variety of information technology systems for the efficient functioning of Peekaboo's 
business and security of information. Most information essential to the business is maintained electronically, 
including competitively sensitive information and potentially sensitive personal information about customers and 
employees. Peekaboo's insurance policies may not provide coverage for security breaches and similar incidents or 
may have coverage limits which may not be adequate to reimburse Peekaboo for losses caused by security breaches. 
The software programs supporting many of Peekaboo's systems were licensed to the Company by independent 
software developers. The inability of these developers or the Company to continue to maintain and upgrade these 
information systems and software programs could disrupt or reduce the efficiency of the Company’s operations. In 
addition, costs and potential problems and interruptions associated with the implementation of new or upgraded 
systems and technology or with maintenance or adequate support of existing systems could also disrupt or reduce 
the efficiency of the Company’s operations or leave it vulnerable to security breaches. 
 
Responses to changing fashion trends and consumer preferences 
 
Peekaboo believes its success depends in substantial part on Peekaboo's ability to originate and define product and 
fashion trends, and anticipate, gauge and react to changing consumer demands in a timely manner. 
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Peekaboo attempts to reduce the risks of changing fashion trends and product acceptance in part by devoting a 
portion of Peekaboo's product line to classic styles that are not significantly modified from year to year. 
Nevertheless, if the Company misjudges the market for the Company’s products or overall level of consumer 
demand, the Company may be faced with significant excess inventories for some products and missed opportunities 
for others. Peekaboo's brand image may also suffer if the Company fails to address and respond to customer 
feedback or complaints. The occurrence of these events, among others, could hurt the Company’s financial results 
by decreasing sales. the Company may respond by increasing markdowns or initiating marketing promotions to 
reduce excess inventory, which would further decrease gross profits and net income. 
 
Peekaboo believes that continued success depends on the Company’s ability to provide a compelling value 
proposition for the Company’s consumers in the Company’s distribution channels. There can be no assurance that 
the demand for the Company’s products will not decline, or that the Company will be able to successfully and timely 
evaluate and adapt the Company’s products to changes in consumer tastes and preferences or fashion trends. If 
demand for the Company’s products declines, promotional pricing may be required to move seasonal merchandise, 
and the Company’s gross margins and results of operations could be adversely affected.  
 
Additional capital requirements 
 
The Company may require additional funds to respond to business challenges, including the need to expand sales 
and marketing activities; develop new products or features; enhance the Company’s current operating 
infrastructure; and acquire complementary businesses. The Company’s cash flow may not be sufficient to fund its 
ongoing activities at all times. Accordingly, the Company may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure 
additional funds. If the Company raises additional funds through further issuances of equity or convertible debt 
securities, shareholders of the Company could suffer significant dilution, and any new equity securities the Company 
issues could have rights, preferences and privileges superior to those of existing holders of the Company’s Common 
Shares. Any debt financing secured by the Company in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to 
capital raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which might make it more difficult for the 
Company to obtain additional capital and to pursue business opportunities. The Company can provide no assurance 
that sufficient debt or equity financing will be available for necessary or desirable expenditures or acquisitions or to 
cover losses, and accordingly, the Company’s ability to continue to support its business growth and to respond to 
business challenges could be significantly limited. 
 
Operating results and financial condition may fluctuate on a quarterly and annual basis 
 
The Company’s operating results and financial condition may fluctuate from quarter to quarter and year to year and 
are likely to continue to vary due to a number of factors, some of which are outside of the Company’s control. These 
events could, in turn, cause the market price of the Company’s Common Shares to fluctuate. If the Company’s 
operating results do not meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors, who may derive their expectations 
by extrapolating data from recent historical operating results, the market price of the Company’s Common Shares 
may decline. Due to all of the foregoing factors and the other risks within this Listing Statement, individuals should 
not rely on quarter-to-quarter or year-to year comparisons of Peekaboo's operating results as an indicator of the 
Company’s future performance. 
 
Customer base and market acceptance 
 
Peekaboo designs and manufactures a high quality, ethically manufactured product compared to its competitors. 
The Company’s customer base may not accept prices for such high-quality apparel. 
 
Sales cycle 
 
Peekaboo's business is affected by the general seasonal trends common to the retail industry. Our annual net 
revenue is weighted more heavily towards summer, reflecting Peekaboo's historical strength in sales during the new 
school season. 
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History of operating losses 
 
Peekaboo has not earned a profit to date. Operating losses are expected until the Company reaches a higher sales 
level. 
 
Share price volatility 
 
The market price of the Company’s Common Shares could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to the 
Company’s results of operations, changes in earnings estimates by analysts, changing conditions in its industry or 
changes in general market, economic or political conditions. The Company may experience quarter-to-quarter 
fluctuations in revenue. If the Company’s revenue fluctuates or does not meet the expectations of securities analysts 
and investors, the market price of the Company’s Common Shares may decline. 
 
Internal controls 
 
Ensuring that the Company has adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place so that 
the Company can produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis is a costly and time-consuming effort. 
Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS. If the Company 
or its independent audit firm identify deficiencies in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that are 
deemed to be material weaknesses, the market's confidence in the Company’s financial statements could decline 
and the market price of the Company’s securities could be adversely impacted. 
 
Stage of development 
 
The Company may be subject to growth-related risks, capacity constraints and pressure on the Company’s internal 
systems and controls, particularly given the early stage of the Company’s development. The ability of the Company 
to manage growth effectively will require the Company to continue to expand its operations and to train and manage 
the Company’s employee base. The inability of the Company to deal with this growth could have a material adverse 
impact on the Company’s business, operations and prospects. 
 
Legal risks 
 
The Company is subject to legal risks related to operations, contracts, relationships and otherwise, pursuant to which 
Peekaboo may be served with legal claims. Whether or not the claims are legally valid, such claims may result in legal 
fees, damages, settlement costs and other costs as well as significant time and distraction of management and 
employees. 
 
Conflicts of interest 
 
Conflicts of interest for the directors and officers of the Company, if any, will be subject to and governed by the 
procedures prescribed by the BCBCA which require a director or officer of a corporation who is a party to, or is a 
director or an officer of, or has a material interest in any person who is a party to, a material contract or proposed 
material contract with the Company to disclose his or her interest and, in the case of directors, to refrain from voting 
on any matter in respect of such contract unless otherwise permitted under the BCBCA. 
 
Absence of cash dividends 
 
Peekaboo has not paid any cash dividends to date on its Common Shares and there are no plans for the Company to 
pay such dividend payments in the foreseeable future. 
 
The value of Peekaboo's brands, and Peekaboo's sales, could be diminished if Peekaboo is associated with 
negative publicity, including through actions by Stylists, and Peekaboo's independent manufacturers, over whom 
Peekaboo has limited control 
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Although Peekaboo maintains policies with Stylists and manufacturers that promote ethical business practices, and 
Peekaboo's employees and auditors periodically visit and monitor the operations of these entities, Peekaboo does 
not control its Stylists or manufacturers. A violation of Peekaboo's policies, licenses, health and safety standards, 
labor laws, or other policies or laws by these Stylists or independent manufacturers, could damage the image and 
reputation of Peekaboo's brands and could subject Peekaboo to liability. As a result, negative publicity regarding 
Peekaboo or its brands or products, could adversely affect Peekaboo's reputation and sales. Further, while Peekaboo 
takes steps to ensure the reputation of its brands is maintained, there can be no guarantee that Peekaboo's brand 
image will not be negatively impacted through its association with products or actions of Stylists or manufacturers. 
 
Peekaboo's failure to protect Peekaboo's intellectual property rights could diminish the value of Peekaboo's brand, 
weaken its competitive position, and adversely affect its results 
 
Peekaboo currently has not relied on trademark and copyright laws to establish and protect Peekaboo's intellectual 
property rights. The steps taken by Peekaboo to protect its proprietary rights may not be adequate to prevent either 
the counterfeit production of Peekaboo's products or the infringement of Peekaboo's trademarks or proprietary 
rights by others. In addition, intellectual property protection may be unavailable or limited in some foreign countries 
where laws or law enforcement practices may not protect Peekaboo's proprietary rights and where third parties 
may have rights to conflicting marks, and it may be more difficult for Peekaboo to successfully challenge the use of 
Peekaboo's proprietary rights by other parties in those countries. If Peekaboo fails to protect and maintain its 
intellectual property rights, the value of Peekaboo's brands could be diminished and Peekaboo's competitive 
position may suffer. Further, third parties may assert intellectual property claims against Peekaboo, particularly as 
Peekaboo expands its business geographically, and any such claim could be expensive and time consuming to defend, 
regardless of its merit. Successful infringement claims against Peekaboo could result in significant monetary liability 
or prevent Peekaboo from selling some of its products, which could have an adverse effect on Peekaboo's results of 
operations. 
 
Profitability and Peekaboo's reputation and relationships could be negatively impacted if Peekaboo does not 
adequately forecast the demand for Peekaboo's products and, as a result, creates significant levels of excess 
inventory or insufficient levels of inventory 
 
There can be no assurance that Peekaboo will be able to successfully anticipate changing consumer preferences and 
product trends or economic conditions and, as a result, Peekaboo may not successfully manage inventory levels to 
meet Peekaboo's future order requirements. If Peekaboo fails to accurately forecast consumer demand, Peekaboo 
may experience excess inventory levels or a shortage of product required to meet the demand. Inventory levels in 
excess of consumer demand may result in inventory write-downs and the sale of excess inventory at discounted 
prices, which could have an adverse effect on the image and reputation of Peekaboo's brands and negatively impact 
profitability. On the other hand, if Peekaboo underestimates demand for its products, Peekaboo's manufacturing 
facilities or third-party manufacturers may not be able to produce products to meet consumer requirements, and 
this could result in delays in the shipment of products and lost revenues, as well as damage to Peekaboo's reputation 
and relationships. These risks could have a material adverse effect on Peekaboo's brand image as well as Peekaboo's 
results of operations and financial condition. 
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Peekaboo's results of operations, financial position, and cash flows, and Peekaboo's ability to conduct business in 
international markets may be affected by legal, regulatory, political and economic risks 
 
Peekaboo works with one contract manufacturer located in Vietnam. Peekaboo's ability to conduct business in 
Vietnam is subject to legal, regulatory, political and economic risks. These include the burdens of complying with 
foreign laws and regulations, including trade and labor restrictions; unexpected changes in regulatory requirements; 
and new tariffs or other barriers in some international markets. Peekaboo is also subject to general political and 
economic risks in connection with its international operations, including political instability and terrorist attacks; 
differences in business culture; different laws governing relationships with employees and business partners; 
changes in diplomatic and trade relationships; and general economic fluctuations in specific countries or markets. 
Peekaboo cannot predict whether quotas, duties, taxes, or other similar restrictions will be imposed by foreign 
countries upon the import or export of its products in the future, or what effect any of these actions would have, if 
any, on Peekaboo's business, financial condition, or operations. Peekaboo cannot predict whether trade and labour 
restrictions, new laws, or similar restrictions will be imposed by foreign countries upon the manufacturing of its 
clothing, or what effect any of these actions would have, if any, on Peekaboo's business, financial condition, or 
operations. Changes in regulatory, geopolitical, social or economic policies, and other factors may have a material 
adverse effect on Peekaboo's business in the future or may require Peekaboo to exit a particular market or 
significantly modify Peekaboo's current business practices. 
 
Additional Risks 
 
Please refer to the Company’s Annual MD&A included in Schedule "A" and incorporated by reference into this Listing 
Statement for additional risk factors. 
 
17.2 – Additional Securityholder Risk  
 
There is no risk that securityholders of the Company may become liable to make an additional contribution beyond 
the price of the security.  
 
17.3 – Other Risks  
 
Subject to the risk factors set out under section 17.1 above, there are no other material risk factors that a reasonable 
investor would consider relevant to an investment in the Company’s shares.  
 
18. Promoters  
 
18.1 – 18.3 – Promoter Consideration  
 

Kin Communications Inc. ("Kin") conducts investor relations activities on behalf of the Company. Kin has a Vancouver 
office address of 100 – 736 Granville Street, Vancouver, B.C., V6Z 1G3. Kin was engaged as the Company’s investor 
relations consultant on February 26, 2018.  
 
Upon engagement, Kin was paid $120,000 for a 12-month term which commenced in February, 2018. If the Company 
elects to continue with Kin, on a month to month basis, commencing February, 2019, Kin will be paid a fee of $10,000 
per month. Kin was granted stock options to acquire up to 200,000 Common Shares of the Company at a price of 
$0.80 per Common Share. The stock options vest quarterly in four tranches of 50,000 and are exercisable for a two 
year term expiring on February 26, 2020, subject to earlier expiry on termination of the agreement in accordance 
with the Company's stock option plan and the policies of the exchange on which the Company’s shares are listed. 
Kin currently holds 293,000 Common Shares in the capital of the Company and 147,000 common share purchase 
warrants.  

No director, officer or shareholder of Kin, as at the date hereof, or was within 10 years before the date hereof, a 
director, chief executive officer, or chief financial officer of any person or company that: 
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(a) was subject to an order that was issued while any director, officer or shareholder of Kin was acting in the 
capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or 

(b) was subject to an order that was issued after any director, officer or shareholder of Kin ceased to be a 
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred 
while any director, officer or shareholder of Kin was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer 
or chief financial officer, 
 
For the purposes of this section “order” means: 

 
(a) a cease trade order; 
 
(b) an order similar to a cease trade order; or 

 
(c) an order that denied the relevant person or company access to any exemption under 

securities legislation, that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days. 

No director, officer or shareholder of Kin: 

(a) is, as at the date hereof, or has been within the 10 years before the date hereof, a director or executive 
officer of any person or company that, while the director, officer or shareholder of Kin was acting in that 
capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal 
under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to 
hold its assets; or 

(b) has, within the 10 years before the date hereof, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation 
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of 
the promoter. 

No director, officer or shareholder of Kin has been subject to: 

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to provincial and territorial securities legislation or 
by a provincial and territorial securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement 
with a provincial and territorial securities regulatory authority; or 

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would be likely to be considered 
important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

 
19. Legal Proceedings 
 

19.1 - Legal Proceedings 
 

There are no legal proceedings material to the Company to which the Company is a party or of which any of its 
property is the subject matter, and there are no such proceedings known to the Company to be contemplated.  
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19.2 – Regulatory Actions  
 

The Company has not been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by any court or regulatory authority 
relating to provincial or territorial securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority within the three years 
immediately preceding the date of this Listing Statement, nor has the Company entered into a settlement 
agreement with a securities regulatory authority within the three years immediately preceding the date of this 
Listing Statement or been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body or self-
regulatory authority that are necessary to provide full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the 
Company’s securities or would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment 
decision.  
 
20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 
 
Except as described herein, no director, executive officer, proposed management nominee for director or person 
who, to the knowledge of the directors or officers of the Company, beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or 
exercises control or direction over more than 10% of any class or series of outstanding voting securities of the 
Company, informed person or any associate or affiliate of the foregoing has any material interest, direct or indirect, 
in any transaction within the three years before the date of this Listing Statement or in any proposed transaction, 
which, in either case, has materially affected or will materially affect the Company or a subsidiary of the Company.  
 
21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 
 
21.1 – Auditors 
 
The firm of Dale Matheson Carr-Hilton Labonte LLP, Chartered Accountants ("DMCL") is the independent registered 
certified auditor of the Company with a Vancouver office address of 1500 – 1140 West Pender Street, Vancouver, 
B.C., V6E 4G1. DMCHL was first appointed as auditor of the Company on February 5, 2009. 
 
21.2 – Transfer Agent and Registrar  
 
The registrar and transfer agent of the Company’s shares is Computershare Trust Company of Canada, at its 
Vancouver office located at suite 510 Burrard Street – 2nd Floor, Vancouver B.C., V6C 3B9.  
  
22. Material Contracts 
 
22.1 – Material Contracts 
 
The Company has not entered into any material contracts within the two years before the date of this Listing 
Statement other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business. 
 
22.2 – Special Agreements  
 
The Company is not a party to any co-tenancy, unitholders’ or limited partnership agreements.  
 
23. Interest of Experts 
 
No person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by the person or company 
and who is named as having prepared or certified a part of this Listing Statement or as having prepared or certified 
a report or valuation described or included in this Listing Statement holds any beneficial interest, direct or indirect, 
in any securities or property of the Company or of an Associate (as defined in the policies of the CSE) or Affiliate (as 
defined in the policies of the CSE) of the Company and no such person is expected to be elected, appointed or 
employed as a director, senior officer or employee of the Company or of an Associate or Affiliate of the Company 
and no such person is a promoter of the Company or an Associate or Affiliate of the Company. DMCL LLP is 
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independent of the Company in accordance with the rules of professional conduct of the Chartered Professional 
Accountants of British Columbia. 
 
24. Other Material Facts 
 
Other than as set out elsewhere in this Listing Statement, there are no other material facts about the Company and 
its securities which are necessary in order for this Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all 
material facts relating to the Company and its securities. 
 
25. Financial Statements  
 
Schedule "A" contains the unaudited financial statements for the Company for six months ended March 31, 2018 
and the audited financial statements for the Company for the years ended September 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015 and 
the MD&A’s of the Company for six months ended March 31, 2018 and for the years ended September 30, 2017, 
2016 and 2015.   
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CERTIFICATE OF THE COMPANY 

Pursuant to a resolution duly passed by its Board of Directors, Peekaboo Beans Inc. hereby applies for the listing of 
the abovementioned securities on  the CSE.   The  foregoing contains  full,  true and plain disclosure of all material 
information relating to Peekaboo Beans Inc. It contains no untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to 
state a material fact that is required to be stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being 
false or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made.  

Dated at Vancouver, British Columbia 

this 27th day of August, 2018  

 

 

/s/ “Traci Costa” 

   

 

/s/ “Nikki Mayer” 

Traci Costa, President and Chief Executive Officer     Nikki Mayer, Chief Financial Officer 

 

 

/s/ “Darrell Kopke” 

   

 

/s/ “Karen Mate” 

Darrell Kopke, Director     Karen Mate, Director 

     

     

/s/ “Arlen Hansen” 

Arlen Hansen, Kin Communications Inc. 

 

 

  
 
 
 

 



 

   

SCHEDULE "A"  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MD&A’S OF THE COMPANY 
 

The unaudited financial statements for the six months ended March 31, 2018 and the audited financial 
statements of the Company for the years ended September 30, 2017, 2016 and 2015,  

& 
The MD&As of the Company for the six months ended March 31, 2018 and for the years ended September 30, 

2017, 2016 and 2015 
 

 

 

[See Attached] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

PEEKABOO BEANS INC. 

 

INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE THREE AND SIX MONTHS ENDED 

MARCH 31, 2018 AND 2017 

 

(UNAUDITED) 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE OF NO AUDITOR REVIEW OF 

INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
In accordance with National Instrument 51-102, Part 4, subsection 4.3 (3) (a), if an auditor has not performed a 

review of the interim financial statements, they must be accompanied by a notice indicating that an auditor has not 

reviewed the financial statements.  The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements 

of the Company have been prepared by and are the responsibility of the Company’s management.  The Company’s 

independent auditor has not performed a review of these financial statements in accordance with standards established 

by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants for a review of interim financial statements by an entity’s auditor. 
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  March 31,                September 30, 

 Note    2018  2017 

ASSETS     

     

Current assets     

Cash  $  872,545  $  183,880 

Trade receivables    24,959    8,879 

Apparel production deposits 4   106,422    63,512 

Prepaid expense    82,485    209,541 

Inventories 5   1,713,673    1,134,727 

Total current assets    2,800,084     1,600,539 

Non-current assets     

Software and equipment 12   3,471    4,374 

Total assets  $  2,803,555  $  1,604,913 

     

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)     

     

Current liabilities     

Trade payables and accrued liabilities 13, 18    $  329,465      $   671,213 

Commissions payable 6   108,189    106,892 

Current portion of bank debt 15   10,050    20,100 

Loans 15   278,250    695,949 

Total current liabilities    725,954    1,494,154 

Non-current liabilities         

Loans 15   429,924    246,821 

Total liabilities    1,155,878    1,740,975 

Shareholders’ equity (deficiency)   
 

 

Share capital 14   12,066,216    9,345,299 

Reserves 14   2,915,111    2,239,816 

Deficit    (13,333,650)    (11,721,177) 

Total shareholders’ equity (deficiency)    1,647,677    (136,062) 

Total liabilities and equity  $  2,803,555  $  1,604,913 

 

 

Note 1, “Nature of Operations and Going Concern” 

Note 18, “Commitments and Contingencies” 

Note 21, “Events Subsequent to the Reporting Date” 

 

 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Peekaboo Beans Inc. on May 29, 2018 

 

/s/ Traci Costa    /s/ Darrell Kopke 

______________________  _________________________  

Ms. Traci Costa, CEO and Director  Mr. Darrell Kopke, Director 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements.
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  Three months ended Six months ended 

  March 31, March 31, 

 Note      2018     2017      2018     2017 

      

Sales  $ 752,227  $       658,635 $ 1,512,768  $ 1,519,766 

Cost of goods sold 5    375,667   371,684    839,388   873,615 

Commissions 6    107,477   130,617    262,903   339,797 

Gross profit     269,083    156,334    410,477    306,354 

      

Operating expenses      

Stylists training, recruitment and marketing   7    73,143    19,242   129,895    96,917 

Administrative 9    252,564    73,467    439,201   159,990 

Distribution and information technology 10    64,221    34,547    198,970    70,561 

Executive and employee salary compensation 8    237,174    196,297    485,332   383,654 

Share-based compensation 14           54,862   -           86,923                    - 

Professional fees and public company costs 11   71,277   54,240   110,384  111,276 

Investor relations    402,275   -   444,683                  - 

Operating loss     (886,433)   (221,459)    (1,484,911)    (516,044) 

      

Interest and finance costs    54,121   253,045   120,100  281,573 

Gain on settlement of accounts payable    (5,009)   -   (5,009)                        - 

Foreign exchange and other expense    (200)   1,517   12,471  16,439 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the period   $ (935,345)  $ (476,021) $ (1,612,473)  $ (814,056) 

      

Basic and diluted loss per common share   $ (0.07)  $ (0.07)  $ (0.12)  $ (0.12) 

Weighted average number of common shares  

Outstanding 

 

       13,640,840       7,031,692        13,640,840      7,031,692 
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  Share Capital    

 Note Number Amount Reserves Deficit Total 

       

At September 30, 2016       6,783,423 $ 6,578,386 $ 1,379,968 $ (8,720,773)  $ (762,419) 
 Issuance of shares pursuant to private placements 14   98,000  102,900  -  -   102,900 

 Conversion of debt 14   645,000  677,250  -  -   677,250 

Share issuance costs on warrants 14   -  (1,602)  1,602  -            - 

Net loss    -  -  -  (814,056)             (814,056) 

At March 31, 2017     7,526,423 $ 7,356,934 $ 1,381,570 $ (9,534,829)    $      (796,325) 

 

 

At September 30, 2017      11,894,535  $ 9,345,299 $ 2,239,816  $  (11,721,177)  $ (136,062) 

Issuance of shares pursuant to private placements, 

net of share issuance costs (cash)  14   5,471,833   2,876,422  416,667  -           3,294,089 

 Share issuance costs on agent warrants 14   -   (159,632)  159,632  -  - 

Share issuance cost on corporate finance shares 14   254,832   (20,883)  20,883  -  - 

Exercise of warrants 14   25,333   15,200  -  -  15,200 

Transfer of warrant exercise value 14   -   9,811  (9,811)  -  - 

Stock-based compensation 14   -   -  86,924  -  86,923 

 Net loss    -   -  -  (1,612,473)   (1,612,473) 

At March 31, 2018    17,646,533   $ 12,092,166  $ 2,915,111 $ (13,333,650) $  1,647,677 
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 Six months ended 

 March 31, 

 2018 2017 

Operating Activities   

Net loss for the period  $     (1,612,473)  $ (814,056) 

Adjustments for:   

Share-based compensation 86,924   - 

Gain on settlement of payables (5,009)   - 

Warrants as finders’ fees -   1,602 

Accrued interest in excess of interest paid 20,715   72,454 

Amortization 904   5,680 

Changes in non-cash working capital items:   

Trade receivables (16,080)   (4,990) 

Inventories (578,946)   (151,094) 

Apparel production deposits (42,910)   149,514 

Prepaid expenses 127,056   45,208 

Trade payables and accrued liabilities   (336,951)   22,851 

Commissions payable 1,297   (43,313) 

Cash used in operating activities  (2,355,473)   (716,144) 

Financing Activities   

Loan advances -   487,270 

Loan repayments   (265,150)   - 

Private placements of common shares, net   3,309,288   99,696 

Cash from financing activities 3,044,138   586,966 

Change in cash during the period 688,665   (129,178) 

Cash, beginning of period 183,880   160,835 

Cash, end of period  $       872,545 $ 31,657 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements. 



 

 

PEEKABOO BEANS INC. 

NOTES TO THE INTERIM CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MARCH 31, 2018 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars – unaudited) 

 

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 

 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. designs children apparel which is sold through a direct-sales network of independent 

sales representatives, referred to as “Stylists”.  Stylists encourage parents to host sales parties or “Pop-ups” in 

their homes to demonstrate and sell the apparel.   

 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. (formerly North Group Finance Limited (“North Group”)) is incorporated in the 

Province of British Columbia, Canada, and has its head office located at 170 – 11120 Bridgeport Road, 

Richmond, BC, V6X 1T2.  The Company was originally incorporated under the Business Corporations Act 

of the Province of Alberta and was continued under the Canada Business Corporations Act on July 8, 2002.  

On December 21, 2005, the Company was continued to the jurisdiction of the Province of British Columbia. 

 

On September 23, 2016, the Company completed its reverse takeover transaction (“RTO”) with Peekaboo 

Beans Inc. (“PBI”) whereby PBI listed its shares on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”).  These 

consolidated financial statements present the historical financial information of PBI up to the date of the 

RTO and the consolidated financial information thereafter.  Peekaboo Beans Inc. and its wholly-owned 

subsidiary are referred to as the “Company” or “Peekaboo Beans”. 

 

To date, the Company has incurred losses and further losses are anticipated as the Company further develops 

its business.  The continuing operations of the Company are dependent upon its ability to generate profitable 

operations in the future, and to continue to secure additional financing.  There can be no assurance that the 

Company will be successful in its efforts to raise additional financing or if financing is available or that it 

will be on terms that are acceptable to the Company. These events and conditions indicate the existence of a 

material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern.  

 

The Company’s common shares are listed for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange (TSXV”) in Canada 

under the trading symbol, “BEAN”, and on the OTCQB in the US under the trading symbol, “PBBSF.” 

 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

 

These unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 

IAS 34 – Interim financial reporting (International Accounting Standard) which is in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Board (“IASB”).  These unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements follow the same 

accounting policies and methods of application, and should be read in conjunction with, the audited annual 

financial statements of the Company for the year ended September 30, 2017. These unaudited interim 

condensed consolidated financial statements do not include all the information and note disclosures required 

by IFRS for annual consolidated financial statements and therefore should be read in conjunction with the 

Company’s audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2017. 

 

There have been no significant changes to the Company’s accounting policies from those disclosed in the 

audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2017. There have also been no 

significant changes in judgments or estimates from those disclosed in the audited consolidated financial 

statements for the year ended September 30, 2017. 

 

The Company’s board of directors approved the release of these financial statements on May 29, 2018. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

 The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years and quarters presented in 

these financial statements unless otherwise indicated.  

 

(a) Basis of Consolidation  

 

The following entities have been consolidated within these financial statements:  

 

Entity Registered Holding 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. 

(Formerly North Group Finance Limited) 

 

British Columbia, Canada 

 

Parent, public holding 

Peekaboo Beans (Canada) Inc. British Columbia, Canada 100% owned 

Peekaboo Beans, Inc. Delaware, United States 100% owned 

 

The subsidiaries are controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company is exposed, or has rights, 

to the variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 

through its power over the investee.  

 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 

that control commences until the date that control ceases.  

 

Intercompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intercompany 

transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  

 

(b) Inventory  

 

Finished goods are valued at the lower of average cost, which is net of vendor rebates, and net realizable 

value.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling price of inventory in the ordinary course of business, less 

any estimated selling costs. Cost of inventory includes expenditures in acquiring the inventories, production 

costs and other cost incurred in bringing them to their existing location. Provision is made for obsolete, slow-

moving or defective items, where appropriate. 

 

(c) Sales revenue recognition and other income 

 

Revenue represents sales of children apparel and catalogues.  Sale of children apparel and catalogues, net of 

returns, is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the 

customer, usually on delivery of the goods.  

 

(d) Cost of sales  

 

Cost of sales includes cost of goods or the manufacturing costs of children apparel and other costs incurred in 

bringing them to their existing location and Stylists’ sales commission.  

 

(e) Software and equipment  

 

Software and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. Equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 

impairment losses. Amortization is calculated on a declining balance method to write off the cost of the 

assets to their residual values over their estimated useful lives. The amortization rates applicable to each 

category of equipment are as follows:  

 

Class Amortization rate 

Computer software and development 50% 

Computer hardware 30% 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

 

(f) Stock-based compensation  

 

Share options granted by the Company allow Directors, Executive Officers, Managers, Employees and 

Consultants to acquire shares of the Company. Share-based payments to Employees are measured at the fair 

value of the instruments issued and amortized over the vesting periods. Share-based payments to non-

employees are measured at the fair value of goods or services received or the fair value of the equity 

instruments issued, if it is determined the fair value of the goods or services cannot be reliably measured, and 

are recorded at the date the goods or services are received. The corresponding amount is recorded to the 

option reserve. The fair value of options is determined using the Black–Scholes Option Pricing Model. The 

number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each reporting period 

such that the amount recognized for services received as consideration for the equity instruments granted 

shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest.  

 

(g) Loss per share  

 

Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. 

The diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares 

outstanding to include additional shares issued from the assumed exercise of stock options and warrants, if 

dilutive. The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming that the proceeds from such exercises are 

used to purchase common shares at the average market price for the period.  

 
4.       APPAREL PRODUCTION DEPOSITS  

 

 March 31,  2018   September 30, 2017 

Apparel Production Deposits  $ 106,422 $63,512 

 

The Company is required to make deposits to its manufacturers to secure production.  The deposits made will 

be credited against final purchase invoice after the inventory is shipped to the Company’s warehouse. 

 

The Company’s contract manufacturers are located in Vietnam and conduct business transactions in United 

States dollars (USD).  

 

5.        INVENTORIES 

 

Inventory consists of children’s apparel which is purchased from third party manufacturers.  As at March 31, 

2018, the Company holds finished goods of $1,713,673 (September 30, 2017 - $1,134,727). 

 

Inventory expensed in net loss and included in cost of goods sold for the three and six months ended March 

31, 2018 was $375,667 and $839,388 (2017 - $371,684 and $873,615), respectively. 

 

6. COMMISSIONS PAYABLE 

 

The Company accrues sales commissions that are payable to its stylists when they elect not to have their 

sales commissions paid by cash immediately and choose to apply outstanding commissions owed against 

future apparel purchases.  As at March 31, 2018, commissions earned by unpaid totaled $108,189 

(September 30, 2017 - $106,892) recorded as commissions payable.  
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7. STYLISTS TRAINING, RECRUITMENT, AND MARKETING 

 

Various costs are incurred in training and recruiting Stylists and are included in the net loss for the period 

incurred.  From time to time, direct-sales industry training and marketing consultants are engaged and 

payments are included in the period incurred.   

 

      Three months ended 

          March 31, 

Six months ended 

March 31, 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Training $ 19,660 $ 18,624 $ 40,420 $ 54,199 

Recruitment  721  618   3,852   1,074 

Marketing  52,762  -  85,623  41,644 

 $ 73,143 $ 19,242 $ 129,895 $ 96,917 

 

8.      EXECUTIVE AND EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION   

 

 

      Three months ended 

          March 31, 

Six months ended 

March 31, 

 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Executive and employee salary compensation     

Executive officer salaries $ 41,875 $  38,900  $ 83,750  $ 86,462 

Employee salaries   195,299  157,397   401,582   297,192 

 $ 237,174 $  196,297  $ 485,332  $ 383,654 

 

9.      ADMINISTRATIVE            

 

 

      Three months ended 

          March 31, 

Six months ended 

March 31, 

            2018            2017            2018            2017 

Credit card processing and miscellaneous $ 19,796  $ 16,932  $ 39,904  $ 41,224 

Consulting  150,514  34,075   264,431   56,328 

Insurance  25,483  5,366   33,445   16,888 

Travel, meals and entertainment  27,328  4,294   59,146   5,568 

Amortization and office cost  29,443  12,800   42,275   39,982 

 $ 252,564 $ 73,467 $  439,201 $  159,990 

 

10.    DISTRIBUTION AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

 

 

      Three months ended 

          March 31, 

Six months ended 

March 31, 

            2018            2017            2018            2017 

Rent and utilities $ 24,547 $ 24,554 $ 47,069 $ 42,420 

Information technology  39,674  9,993  151,901  28,141 

 $ 64,221 $ 34,547 $ 198,970 $ 70,561 

 

11.    PROFESSIONAL FEES AND PUBLIC COMPANY COSTS 

 

      Three months ended 

          March 31, 

Six months ended 

March 31, 

            2018            2017            2018            2017 

Legal $ 26,768 $ 22,726 $      91,249 $      32,724 

Audit and accounting  31,202  22,335  -  22,385 

Other including listing and transfer agent fees  13,307  9,179  19,135  56,167 

 $ 71,277 $ 54,240 $ 110,384 $ 111,276 
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12.    SOFTWARE AND EQUIPMENT 

 

Computer 

Hardware 

Computer 

Software and 

Development 

Total 

Cost    

Balance, September 30, 2017 $    5,047 $     42,616 $ 47,663 

Acquisitions - - - 

Balance, March 31, 2018 $    5,047  $     42,616 $ 47,663 

 

Accumulated Amortization    

Balance, September 30, 2017 $    3,146 $     40,142 $ 43,288 

Amortization 285 619  904 

Balance, March 31, 2018 $    3,431  $     40,761 $ 44,192 

 

Net Book Value    

As at September 30, 2017 $    1,901 $       2,474 $ 4,375 

As at March 31, 2018 $    1,616 $       1,856 $ 3,471 

 

13.    TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

  March 31, 2018  September 30, 2017 

Trade payables $    304,172 $    461,702 

Accruals  25,293  58,060 

Customer deposit  -  49,378 

Other non-trade payables  -  102,072 

 $    329,465 $    671,212 

 

14. SHARE CAPITAL 

 

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares and preferred shares without par value.  

All common shares issued have equal rights to dividends and shareholders are entitled to one vote per share 

at annual and general meetings of the Company.   

 

As at March 31, 2018, the Company had 17,646,533 common shares outstanding, of which 1,742,228 were 

held in escrow.  Details of the issuance of share capital are as follows: 

 

(a) Issued and Outstanding 

 

During the six months ended March 31, 2018, the Company: 

 

(a) Issued 2,488,500 common shares pursuant to private placement at a price of $0.60 per share for 

aggregate gross proceeds of $1,493,100.  A commission of $101,400 was paid and an aggregate 

of 169,066 Agents warrants were issued.  Each warrant is exercisable for one common share at a 

price of $0.60 per common share for a period of 24 months, valued at $68,643. A corporate 

finance fee was settled with the issuance of 105,666 common shares, valued at $63,400 and 

recorded as share issuance cost. 

 

(b) Issued 2,983,333 units for aggregate proceeds of $2,237,500 at a price of $0.75 per unit pursuant 

to a brokered private placement.  Each unit consisted of one share and one half of one share 

purchase warrant to purchase another share at $1.00 for a period of two years.  The share 

purchase warrants were valued at $417,667 using the residual method.  The Company paid share 

issuance costs of $267,136 and issued 238,666 share purchase warrants exercisable for two years 

at $0.75 for agent’s commission.  The finders’ warrants were valued at $90,989.  The Company 

also issued the agents 149,166 Units as a corporate finance fee in connection with the private 

placement.  The share purchase warrants on the Units issued as corporate finance fee were 

valued at $20,883 using the residual method.  
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14. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 

 

(a) Issued and Outstanding (continued) 

 

During the six months ended March 31, 2017, the Company: 

 

(a) Issued 98,000 units for aggregate proceeds of $102,900 at a price of $1.05 per unit.  Each unit 

consisted of one share and one share purchase warrant to purchase another share at $1.25 for a 

period of one year.  The share purchase warrants were valued at $24,500 using the residual 

method.  The Company paid share issuance costs of $7,203 and issued 9,800 share purchase 

warrants exercisable at $1.25 for agent’s commission.  The finder warrants were valued at 

$5,030.  

 

(b) Issued 645,000 units for the conversion of $677,250 in loans.  Each unit consisted of one share 

and one share purchase warrant to purchase another share at $1.25 for a period of two years.  The 

share purchase warrants were valued at $39,150 using the residual method.  

 

All outstanding warrants exercise period of each warrant may be accelerated by the Company if, at 

any time during the term of the warrant, the volume weighted average price of the Company’s 

common shares on the TSX Venture Exchange is equal to or greater than $1.55 over a period of 10 

consecutive trading days. 

 

 (b)    Stock Options 

 

During the year ended September 30, 2016, the Company adopted a stock option plan which conforms 

to the rules and policies of the TSXV.  The stock option plan will be a 10% rolling plan, whereby the 

total number of common shares that may be reserved for issuance will be 10% of the issued and 

outstanding shares of the Company at the time of grant, less any shares reserved for issuance pursuant 

to the grant of stock options under any other share compensation arrangements.  

 

During the year ended September 30, 2017, 875,000 stock options were issued to management, staff 

and consultants.  The options are exercisable into one common share of the Company at an exercise 

price of $0.60 until May 12, 2027.   

 

During the six months ended March 31, 2018, 750,000 stock options were issued to consultants and 

management, exercisable into one common share of the Company at exercise prices of $0.60 to $0.80. 

 

A summary of options activity to March 31, 2018 is as follows: 

 

 

 
Options 

Outstanding 

Weighted Average 

Exercise Price 

 September 30, 2017  875,000  $   0.60 

Issued  750,000  0.76 

Forfeited/cancelled  (55,000)  0.60 

 March 31, 2018  1,570,000  0.68 

 Exercisable  1,545,000   $   0.68 

 

Share-based compensation for the three and six months ended March 31, 2018 was $32,061 and 

$54,862 (2017 - $nil) for stock options that were granted and vested in the period.  
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14. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 

 

(b)    Stock Options (continued) 

 

  Three months ended 

     March 31, 

Six months ended        

March 31, 

Stock-based compensation:        2018       2017        2018       2017 

Executive,  officer and director $ 29,331 $ - $ 33,171 $ - 

Employee  3,518  -  12,158  - 

Consultant  22,013  -  41,594  - 

 $ 54,862 $ - $ 86,923 $ - 

 

The grant date fair value of the options granted and vested during the six months ended March 31, 

2018 and 2017 was valued using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model with the following 

assumptions: 
 

     2018     2017 

Volatility 66-68% 213% 

Risk-free interest rate 1.5% 0.68% 

Expected life of option 2 years 2 years 

Dividend yield 0% 0% 

 

(c)    Warrants 
 

A summary of warrant activity to March 31, 2018 is as follows: 

 

 

 

Warrants  

Outstanding 

Weighted Average  

Exercise Price 

September 30, 2017  2,751,669 $  0.82 

Issued  1,973,981            0.98 

Expired  (107,800)            1.25 

March 31, 2018  4,617,850 $  0.85 

 

At March 31, 2018, the weighted average remaining life of the outstanding warrants is 1.48 years 

(September 30, 2017 – 1.62 years). 

 

During the six months ended March 31, 2018, 407,732 (2017 – 9,800) agent, corporate finance, or 

finders’ warrants were issued and were valued using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model with the 

following weighted average assumptions: 

 

 2018 2017 

Volatility 77%-147% 153.43% 

Risk-free interest rate 0.68% 0.78% 

Expected life of option 2 years 1.94 years 

Dividend yield 0% 0% 
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15.      LOANS 

Debt Ranked by Seniority  

March 31,           

2018 

September 30, 

2017 

Current loans:    

Bank debt, current portion (a) $             10,050 $  20,100 

Short-term loans (b), (c), (d) 278,250    695,949 

  288,300    716,049 

Non-current loans:    

Convertible promissory note (e) , (f) 429,924    246,820 

  429,924    246,820 

  $  718,224 $  962,869 

 

(a) Bank debt 

 

 The Company has outstanding long-term loans from the Business Development Bank of Canada 

(“BDC”) which bear interest at BDC’s floating base rate plus a variance of 3.1% to 3.5% per year and 

are due before September 2018.   

 

(b) Loan 

 

During the period ended March 31, 2018, the Company repaid the outstanding balance of an 

unsecured demand loan of $8,481, bearing interest of 12% per annum, from a relative of a director.   

 

(c) Apparel loans 

 

As at March 31, 2018, the Company has an apparel loan of $278,250 (September 30, 2017 - 

$278,250) owing to an apparel finance company of which a former Director of the Company was an 

officer and a shareholder.  The loan is secured by specific apparel inventory and is charged a quarterly 

finance fee (Note 19). 

 

(d) Venture capital convertible loan 

 

During the period ended March 31, 2018, the Company repaid the outstanding balance of a 

convertible loan of $229,643 to Northpark Limited (a company with a former director in common).  

The loan was due on December 31, 2017, bearing interest at 15% per annum and was convertible into 

units of the Company at $1.05 per unit.    

 

(e)       Unsecured convertible debenture  
 

 The Company has a $184,722 (September 30, 2017 – $188,540) unsecured promissory note bearing 

interest at 12% per annum, that matured on December 31, 2017 and on March 9, 2018, was modified 

into an unsecured convertible debenture bearing interest at 12% per annum and due March 9, 2020.   

The debenture is convertible at $0.75 per unit.  Each unit will consist of one share and one half of one 

share purchase warrant, exercisable at $1.00 per share.  On initial receipt of the loan, and on 

amendment, the Company determined that the carrying value of the debt did not materially differ 

from the fair market value, and as a result none of the balance was attributed to the conversion option 

and recorded in equity.   Total interest accrued on the loan during the six months ended March 31, 

2018 is $11,385 (2017 - $11,531).   
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15.      LOANS (continued) 
 

(f) Executive officer convertible promissory note 

 

The Company’s Chief Financial Officer is owed $245,202 (September 30, 2017 - $246,821) by way 

of an unsecured convertible promissory note.  The loan is due on December 31, 2019, bearing interest 

of 12% per annum and convertible into units at $0.60 per unit.  Each unit will consist of one share and 

one half of one share purchase warrant, exercisable at $0.80 per share. On initial receipt of the loan, 

and on amendment, the Company determined that the carrying value of the debt did not materially 

differ from the fair market value, and as a result none of the balance was attributed to the conversion 

option and recorded in equity.  Total interest accrued during the six months ended March 31, 2018 is 

$14,780 (2017 - $9,873). 

 

16.       LOSS PER SHARE 

 

 Diluted loss per share for the six months ended March 31, 2018 is the same as basic loss per share as the 

effect of warrants and options would be anti-dilutive.  

 

17. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

During the six months ended March 31, 2018: 

 

(a) The Company paid its Chief Executive Officer $44,500 (2017 - $45,558) and its Chief Financial 

Officer $39,250 (2017 - $40,904) in salary (Note 8). 

 

(b) The Company paid $33,171 (2017 - $nil) in share-based compensation to officers and directors. 

 

(c) The Company owes its Chief Financial Officer $245,202 under a convertible promissory note (Note 

15). Total interest accrued during the six months ending March 31, 2018 is $14,780 (2017 - $9,873). 

 

(d) The Company borrowed $123,000 from its Chief Executive Officer and $107,000 from its Chief 

Financial Officer by way of a bridge shareholder loan, bearing interest at 12% per annum. The 

shareholder loans were fully repaid along with accrued interest of $1,352 and $1,089 respectively. 

 

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

 The commercial premises from which the Company carries out its head office and warehouse locations are 

leased from third parties.  This rental contract is classified as operating lease since there is no transfer of risks 

and rewards inherent to ownership.  

 

 The minimum rent payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

 

   

   2018 $              32,892 

 $              32,892 

 

19.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

  

  The Company is exposed to certain financial risks as listed below. There has been no change in the exposure 

to risk, nor its objectives, policies and process for managing the risk from the prior year. Disclosures relating 

to exposure to risks, in particular credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk are 

provided below.   
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19. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

 Credit Risk  

  

  Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 

meet its contractual obligations. The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of 

credit risk are primarily cash. The Company limits its exposure to credit risk with respect to cash by 

investing available cash with major Canadian chartered banks.  

  

  The Company’s cash is not subject to any external restrictions.  

  

  Liquidity Risk  

  

 As at March 31, 2018, the Company had a cash balance of $872,545 (September 30, 2017 - $183,880) 

available to settle current liabilities of $910,676 (September 30, 2017 - $1,494,154). The Company’s 

liquidity follows a seasonal pattern based on the timing of inventory purchases.   The Company expects to 

finance its inventory purchases and administrative expenditures through cash flows from operations, bank 

debt, as well as equity financing.   

 

 The following table identifies the undiscounted contractual maturities of the Company’s financial liabilities 

as at March 31, 2018:  

  

Within one year 

After one but not 

more than five 

years After five years Total 

Trade and other payables  
$        329,465 $                  - 

   $                   

- 
$       329,465 

Commissions payable           108,189 - - 108,189 

Short-term loan              278,250 - - 278,250 

Notes payable - 429,924 - 429,924 

Bank debt 10,050 - - 10,050 

 $     725,954 $       429,924 
   $                   

- 
$    1,115,878 

    

           Market Risk – foreign exchange risk    

  

At March 31, 2018, a majority of the Company’s inventory purchases are in US dollars.  All of the 

Company’s revenues and future equity raised is expected to be predominantly in Canadian dollars. 

Accordingly, the US dollar denominated financial assets and liabilities are subject to fluctuations in 

exchange rates and can have an effect on the Company’s reported results. Management has chosen not to 

hedge its foreign exchange risk.    

  

The Company’s foreign exchange risk is primarily limited to currency fluctuations between the Canadian and 

US dollar. At March 31, 2018, the Company does not have significant financial assets or liabilities 

denominated in US dollars.    

 

In order to protect itself from the risk of losses should the value of the Canadian dollar decline compared to 

the foreign currency, the Company may consider using forward contracts to fix the exchange rate of a portion 

of its expected U.S. dollar requirements. The contracts will be matched with anticipated foreign currency 

purchases.   

  

  Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to cash flow interest rate risk include financial 

assets and liabilities with variable interest rates and consist of cash and the credit facility. As at March 31, 

2018, cash consisted of cash on hand and balances with banks.   
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19.      FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

           Market Risk – foreign exchange risk (continued) 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities that bear interest at fixed rates are subject to fair value interest rate 

risk. The Company’s bank debt is the only financial liability bearing a variable interest rate. It is recorded at 

amortized cost.  

   

 Fair Values  

  

  At March 31, 2018, and September 30, 2017, the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximate fair 

value due to their short-term to maturity or because they bear interest at market rates.   

 

20.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  

  

  As at March 31, 2018, the Company’s capital is composed of interest bearing debt, its loan facility and bank 

debt, and shareholders’ equity. The Company’s primary objectives, when managing its capital, are to 

maintain adequate levels of funding to support the manufacturing operations of the Company and to maintain 

corporate and administrative functions.  

  

  The Company defines capital as bank loans, other long-term debt, and equity, consisting of the issued 

common shares, stock options and warrants. The capital structure of the Company is managed to provide 

sufficient funding operating activities. Funds are primarily secured through a combination of equity capital 

raised by way of private placements, short-term debt and bank debt. There can be no assurances that the 

Company will be able to continue raising equity capital and bank debt in this manner. The Company invests 

all capital that is surplus to its immediate needs in short-term, liquid and highly rated financial instruments, 

such as cash and other short-term deposits, which are all held with major financial institutions.  

  

  There were no changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the period ended March 

31, 2018 

 

21.  EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE REPORTING DATE 
            

(a) Subsequent to March 31, 2018, the Company completed its listing application to OTCQB. Commencing on 

May 17, 2018, the Company’s common shares is listed for trading on the OTCQB under the trading symbol, 

“PBBSF.”  

 

(b) Subsequent to March 31, 2018, the Company’s board of directors have conditionally approved and 

authorized the Company to enter into a new management contract with its Chief Executive Officer, with an 

annual salary of $175,000. As at May 29, 2018, the management contract is still pending further details 

before it is fully executed by the Company. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

To the Shareholders of Peekaboo Beans Inc. 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Peekaboo Beans Inc., which comprise the 

consolidated statements of financial position as at September 30, 2017 and 2016, and the consolidated statements of 

comprehensive loss, changes in deficiency and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines 

is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 

whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 

conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that 

we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and 

fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An 

audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 

statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion. 

 

Opinion  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. as at September 30, 2017 and 2016 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 

years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  

 

Emphasis of Matter 

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements which 

describe matters and conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt 

about Peekaboo Beans Inc.’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 
DALE MATHESON CARR-HILTON LABONTE LLP 

CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 

Vancouver, Canada 

January 29, 2018 
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  September 30, 

 

Note 2017  2016 

  
   

ASSETS 

    
    

Current assets 

       Cash   

 

 $             183,880  

 

 $          160,835  

   Trade receivables  

 

                    8,879  

 

                 4,386  

   Apparel production deposits  6                   63,512  

 

             321,670  

   Prepaid expense  

 

                209,541  

 

               94,174  

   Inventories  7              1,134,727  

 

          1,024,355  

Total current assets 

 

             1,600,539             1,605,420  

Non-current assets 

 

   

    Software and equipment 14                     4,374                    8,287  

 

    Total assets 

 

             1,604,913 

 

          1,613,707  

 
 

 
 

 

LIABILITIES AND DEFICIENCY 

     Current liabilities 

        Trade payables and accrued liabilities  15  $             671,214  

 

 $          775,121  

    Commissions payable  8                 106,892  

 

             116,714  

    Current portion of bank debt  17                   20,100  

 

               18,430  

    Loans  17                 695,949  

 

             622,866  

Total current liabilities               1,494,155 

 

          1,533,131  

  
   

Non-current liabilities 

 

   

    Long-term debt  17 - 

 

             591,237  

    Loans  17 246,821  

 

             251,758  

Total liabilities 

 

             1,740,975            2,376,126  

  

   

Shareholders' deficiency 

    Share capital  16              9,345,299  

 

          6,578,386  

    Reserves 16              2,239,816  

 

          1,379,968  

    Deficit 

 

         (11,721,177) 

 

         (8,720,773) 

Total shareholders' deficiency            (136,062)              (762,419) 

     
Total liabilities and deficiency 

 

 $          1,604,913    $       1,613,707  

      

Note 1 - Nature of Operations and Going Concern 

Note 20 - Commitments 

Note 24 - Events Subsequent to the Reporting Date 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Peekaboo Beans Inc. on January 29, 2018 

 

/s/ Traci Costa    /s/ Darrell Kopke 

______________________  _________________________  

Ms. Traci Costa, CEO and Director  Mr. Darrell Kopke, Director 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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 Year Ended September 30,  

 

Note 2017 
 

2016 

Sales 
 

$     3,358,307  
 

$     3,540,449  

Cost of goods sold 7           2,076,342  
 

           2,231,163  

Commissions  749,375  855,104 

Gross profit 
 

532,591  
 

              454,182  

Operating expenses     

Stylists training, recruitment and marketing 9                241,763  

 

              315,529  

Administrative 10              443,003  

 

              244,270  

Distribution and information technology 11                267,090  

 

              161,738  

Executive and employee salary compensation 12                860,928  

 

              750,248  

Share-based compensation 16                313,518  

 

                          -  

Professional fees and public company costs 13                386,031  

 

              139,801  

Investor relations 

 

               411,473  

 

                          -  

Inventory obsolescence     7                102,821  

 

                          -  

Operating loss    (3,026,628) 

 

          (1,611,586) 

     

Loss before other expenses  (2,494,037)  (1,157,404) 

     

Other expenses     

Listing costs 5                            -  

 

           1,268,042  

Loss on debt settlement 16 197,740  - 

Interest and finance costs                  286,794  

 

              110,752  

Foreign exchange and other expense                    21,833  

 

       16,612                 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year 

 

$ (3,000,404) 

 

$ (2,552,809) 

Basic and diluted loss per common share  $  (0.35)  $  (0.66) 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

 

   

              8,520,038  

 

           3,855,072  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Note 

Number of 

shares 

Share 

capital 

Obligation to 

issue shares 

Share 

subscriptions 

receivable Reserves Deficit Total 

Balance at September 30, 2015 

 

  3,851,885   $ 3,818,620  $    1,000,335   $     (5,000)  $ 1,225,520   $  (6,167,964) $   (128,489) 

Cash received for shares previously issued 

 

-  -  -             5,000                 -                  -          5,000  

Obligation to issue units now issued 16       952,700      1,000,335   (1,000,335)                -                  -                -                -  

Issuance of shares for cash 16     1,000,447  900,402  -  -  150,067  -  1,050,469  

Share issue costs and warrants 16 

 

 (21,524) -  -  4,381  -   (17,143) 

Recapitalization transaction: 

      

  

 Shares of North Group 5 978,391  880,553  -  -  -  -  880,553  

Reversal of shares of PBI    (5,805,032) -  -  -  -  -  -  

Shares issued on reverse takeover 5 5,805,032  -  -  -  -  -  -  

Net loss 

 

-  -  -  -  -   (2,552,809) (2,552,809) 

Balance at September 30, 2016 

 

6,783,423  6,578,386  -  -    1,379,968   (8,720,773) (762,419) 

Issuance of units for cash 16 3,588,001  2,124,646  -  -  72,255  -  2,196,900  

Issuance of units for debt  16 878,111        544,429  -  -  180,179  -  724,608 

Issuance of units on conversion of debt  16 645,000 449,100 - - 228,150  677,250 

Finders warrants 16 -   (65,746) -  -  65,746  -  -  

Share issuance costs 16 -   (285,515) -  -  -  -   (285,515) 

Share-based compensation 16 -  -  -  -  313,518  -  313,518  

Net loss   -  -  -  -  -  (3,000,404)  (3,000,404) 

Balance at September 30, 2017 

 

11,894,535 $  9,345,299  $                   -  $                 -  $  2,239,816  $ (11,721,177) $     (136,062) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Year Ended September 30, 

  

2017 

 

2016 

OPERATING  ACTIVITIES 

       Loss for the year 

 

 $      (3,000,404) 

 

 $      (2,552,809) 

Adjustments for: 

     Net cash acquired on reverse takeover 

 

                         -  

 

                  9,474  

 Share-based payments 

 

              313,518  

 

                         -  

 Loss on settlement of debt 

 

197,740 

 

                         -  

 Accrued interest expense on loan 

 

             24,316 

 

                11,923  

 Amortization 

 

4,440  

 

                  4,573  

 Inventory obsolescence  102,821   

 Non-cash listing costs 

 

                         -  

 

              880,553  

Changes in non-cash working capital items: 

     Trade receivables 

 

                (4,493) 

 

                  1,676  

 Inventories 

 

            (213,193) 

 

              169,734  

 Apparel production deposits 

 

              258,158  

 

            (101,388) 

 Prepaid expenses and deposits 

 

            (115,367) 

 

              (94,174) 

 Trade payables and accrued liabilities 

 

(40,796)  

 

                61,106  

Cash used in operating activities 

 

         (2,473,260) 

 

         (1,609,332) 

INVESTING  ACTIVITIES 

     Purchase of equipment 

 

(527) 

 

                         -  

Cash used in investing activities 

 

(527) 

 

                         -  

FINANCING  ACTIVITIES 

     Bank loan repayment 

 

              (21,770) 

 

              (44,940) 

 Other loan advances 

 

              607,219  

 

              787,626  

 Private placement, net of issuance costs 

 

           1,911,385  

 

           1,038,326  

Cash provided by financing activities 

 

           2,496,834  

 

           1,781,012  

Change in cash during the year 

 

                23,045 

 

              171,680  

Cash (bank overdraft)at beginning of year 

 

              160,835  

 

              (10,845) 

Cash, end of year 

 

 $           183,880  

 

 $           160,835  

Supplemental cash flow information: 

    Interest paid 

 

$          114,552 

 

 $             26,886  

Income taxes paid 

 

$                      -  

 

 $                      -  

Other non-cash transactions: 

    Shares issued for settlement of debt 

 

$          544,429  

 

 $                      -  

Shares issued for settlement of notes payable 

 

$          677,250  

 

 $                      -  

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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PEEKABOO BEANS INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 

 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. designs children playwear apparel which is sold through a direct-sales network of independent 

sales representatives, referred to as “stylists”.  Stylists encourage parents to host sales parties or “Pop-ups” in their 

homes to demonstrate and sell the playwear apparel.   

 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. (formerly North Group Finance Limited (“North Group”)) is incorporated in the Province of 

British Columbia, Canada, and has its head office located at 170 – 11120 Bridgeport Road, Richmond, BC, V6X 

1T2.  The Company was originally incorporated under the Business Corporations Act of the Province of Alberta and 

was continued under the Canada Business Corporations Act on July 8, 2002.  On December 21, 2005, the Company 

was continued to the jurisdiction of the Province of British Columbia. 

 

On September 23, 2016, the Company completed its reverse takeover transaction (“RTO”) with Peekaboo Beans 

Inc. (“PBI”) whereby PBI listed its shares on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”).  These consolidated financial 

statements present the historical financial information of PBI up to the date of the RTO and the consolidated 

financial information thereafter.  Peekaboo Beans Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries are referred to as the 

“Company” or “Peekaboo Beans” (Note 5). 

 

To date, the Company has incurred losses and further losses are anticipated as the Company further develops its 

business.  The continuing operations of the Company are dependent upon its ability to generate profitable operations 

in the future, and to continue to secure additional financing.  There can be no assurance that the Company will be 

successful in its efforts to raise additional financing or if financing is available or that it will be on terms that are 

acceptable to the Company. These events and conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may 

cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

 

The Company’s common shares are listed for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange (TSXV”) in Canada under the 

trading symbol, “BEAN”. 

 

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the 

International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).   

 

 The Company’s board of directors approved the release of these financial statements on January 29, 2018. 

 

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments, 

which are measured at fair value, as explained in the significant accounting policies set out in Note 3. The financial 

statements are presented in Canadian dollars and all financial amounts, other than per-share amounts, are rounded to 

the nearest dollar. The functional currency of the Company is the Canadian dollar. 

 

The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make certain critical 

accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the Company’s accounting 

policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates 

are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 4. 

 

  



PEEKABOO BEANS INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017  

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)          

 

- Page 8 of 21 - 
 

3.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years presented in these financial 

statements unless otherwise indicated.  

 

(a) Basis of Consolidation  

 

The following entities have been consolidated within these financial statements:  

 

Entity Registered Holding 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. 

(Formerly North Group Finance Limited) 

 

British Columbia, Canada 

 

Parent, public holding 

Peekaboo Beans (Canada) Inc. British Columbia, Canada 100% owned 

Peekaboo Beans, Inc. Delaware, United States 100% owned 

 

The subsidiaries are controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company is exposed, or has rights, to the 

variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 

over the investee.  

 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that 

control commences until the date that control ceases.  

 

Intercompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intercompany 

transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.  

 

(b) Foreign Currency Transactions 

 

The functional currency is measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which that entity 

operates. The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars which is the functional currency of the 

Company and its Canadian subsidiary.  The functional currency of the Company’s United States subsidiary is the 

United States dollars. 

 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 

date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the period-end exchange rate. Non-

monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 

Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were 

determined. 

 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items or on settlement of monetary items are recognized 

in gain or loss in the statement of comprehensive loss in the period in which they arise, except where deferred in 

equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 

 

Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognized in other comprehensive 

income in the statement of comprehensive loss to the extent that gains and losses arising on those non-monetary 

items are also recognized in other comprehensive income. Where the non-monetary gain or loss is recognized in 

profit or loss, the exchange component is also recognized in profit or loss. 

 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions and other short-

term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. For cash flow statement presentation 

purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and 

form an integral part of the Company’s cash. The Company had no cash equivalents as at September 30, 2017 and 

2016. 
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3.        SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(d) Inventory  

 

Finished goods are valued at the lower of average cost, which is net of vendor rebates, and net realizable value. Net 

realizable value is the estimated selling price of inventory in the ordinary course of business, less any estimated 

selling costs. Cost of inventory includes expenditures in acquiring the inventories, production costs and other cost 

incurred in bringing them to their existing location. Allowance is made for obsolete, slow-moving or defective 

items, where appropriate.  

 

(e) Sales revenue recognition and other income 

 

Revenue represents sales of children playwear apparel and catalogues. Sales of children playwear apparel and 

catalogues, net of returns, is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have 

passed to the customer, usually on delivery of the goods. 

 

(f) Cost of sales  

 

Cost of sales includes cost of goods or the manufacturing costs of children playwear apparel and other costs incurred 

in bringing them to their existing location and stylists’ sales commission.  

 

(g) Software and equipment  

 

Software and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 

losses. Equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortization is calculated on a declining balance method to write off the cost of the assets to their residual values 

over their estimated useful lives. The amortization rates applicable to each category of equipment are as follows:  

 

Class 

 

Amortization rate 

Computer software and development 

 

50% 

Computer hardware 

 

30% 

 

(h) Stock-based compensation  

 

Share options granted by the Company allow Executive Officers, Managers and Employees to acquire shares of the 

Company. Share-based payments to Employees are measured at the fair value of the instruments issued and 

amortized over the vesting periods. Share-based payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value of goods 

or services received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, if it is determined the fair value of the goods 

or services cannot be reliably measured, and are recorded at the date the goods or services are received. The 

corresponding amount is recorded to the option reserve. The fair value of options is determined using the Black–

Scholes Option Pricing Model. The number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the 

end of each reporting period such that the amount recognized for services received as consideration for the equity 

instruments granted shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest.  
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3.        SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(i) Financial instruments 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are classified into one of five categories: fair value through profit and loss 

(“FVTPL”), held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets or financial 

liabilities at amortized cost. All financial instruments, including derivatives, are measured at the statement of 

financial position date at fair value except for loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and financial 

liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost. The Company has made the following classifications: 

 

 Cash and trade receivables are classified as “Loans and Receivables”. After their initial fair value measurement, 

they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

 Trade payables, commissions payable, loans and bank debt are classified as “Other Financial Liabilities”. After 

their initial fair value measurement, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset has been 

impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a significant and prolonged decline in the value of 

the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen.  

 

The Company does not have any derivative financial assets and liabilities. 

 

(j) Loss per share  

 

Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. The 

diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares outstanding to include 

additional shares issued from the assumed exercise of stock options and warrants, if dilutive. The number of 

additional shares is calculated by assuming that the proceeds from such exercises are used to purchase common 

shares at the average market price for the period. 

 

(k) Taxation 

 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognized in net income 

except to the extent that it arises in a business combination, or from items recognized directly in equity or other 

comprehensive loss/income. 

 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 

from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 

enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date, in the countries where the Company operates and generates 

taxable income. 

 

Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in other comprehensive income or equity is recognized in 

other comprehensive income or equity and not in profit or loss. Management periodically evaluates positions taken 

in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and 

establishes provisions where appropriate. 

 

Deferred income tax is provided using the asset and liability method of temporary differences at the reporting date 

between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.  

 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and recognized 

only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 

income tax asset to be utilized. 

 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when 

the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 

enacted by the end of the reporting period. 
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3.        SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(k) Taxation continued 

 

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, only if a legally enforceable right exists to set 

off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable 

entity and the same taxation authority. 

 

(l) New Standards, Interpretations and Amendments Issued But Not Yet Effective 

 

Certain pronouncements, issued by the IASB or the IFRIC, were adopted during the year, or are mandatory for the 

Company’s fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2017 or are required to be adopted in future periods. The 

following pronouncements are relevant to the financial statements, although none of these are expected to have a 

material effect on financial statement presentation: 

 

(i) IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” replaces the requirements of IAS39, “Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. This final version of IFRS 9 brings together the classification and 

measurements as well as impairment and hedge accounting phases of the project to replace IAS 39. In addition to the 

new requirements for classification and measurement of financial assets, a new general hedge accounting model and 

other amendments issued in previous versions of IFRS 9, the standard also introduces new impairment requirements 

that are based on a forward-looking expected credit loss model. These changes are applicable for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Company has not yet assessed the future impact of this new standard on its 

financial statements. 

 

(ii) IFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers” replaces the requirements of IAS 11, “Construction 

Contracts”, and IAS 18, “Revenue and related interpretations”. This standard specifies the steps and timing for 

issuers to recognize revenue as well as requiring them to provide more informative, relevant disclosures. These 

changes are applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with earlier application permitted. 

The standard is effective for the Company’s fiscal year beginning October 1, 2017.  The Company does not expect 

this standard to have an effect on its financial statements. 

 

(iii) IFRS 16 “Leases” replaces IAS 17 “Leases” and the related interpretative guidance. IFRS 16 applies a 

control model to the identification of leases, distinguishing between a lease and a service contract on the basis of 

whether the customer controls the asset being leased. For those assets determined to meet the definition of a lease, 

IFRS 16 introduces significant changes to the accounting by lessees, introducing a single, on-balance sheet 

accounting model that is similar to current finance lease accounting, with limited exceptions for short-term leases or 

leases of low value assets. Lessor accounting is not substantially changed. The standard is effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted for entities that have adopted IFRS 15.  

 

There are no other pending IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Company’s 

financial statements. 

 

4.        CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 

 

In preparing these financial statements, the Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future that 

affect the amounts recorded. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Estimates and assumptions are based 

on historical experience, expectations of future events and other factors considered by management to be reasonable. 

The estimates and assumptions that could result in a material impact to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

are outlined below: 

 

 

  



PEEKABOO BEANS INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017  

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)          

 

- Page 12 of 21 - 
 

4.      CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued) 

 

 Use of Estimates 

 

(a) Inventory Valuation 
 

The Company records a write-down to reflect management’s best estimate of the net realizable value of inventory 

which includes assumptions and estimates for future sell-through of units, selling prices as well as disposal costs, 

where appropriate, based on historical experience. Management continually reviews the carrying value of its 

inventory, to assess whether the write-down is adequate, based on current economic conditions and an assessment of 

sales trends.  

 

(b) Stock-based Compensation 

 

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees and consultants by reference to the 

fair value of equity instruments at the date on which they are granted. Estimating fair value for share-based 

payments requires determining the most appropriate valuation model for a grant of equity instruments, which is 

dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This also requires determining the most appropriate inputs to the 

valuation model including the assumptions with respect to the expected life of the option, volatility and dividend 

yield. 

 

Use of Judgments 

 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Company to make judgements, apart 

from those involving estimates, in applying accounting policies. The most significant judgements applying to the 

Company’s financial statements include the assessment of the Company’s going concern and expected life of 

equipment.  

 

5.      REVERSE TAKEOVER  

 

On September 23, 2016, North Group issued 5,805,032 of its common shares for the acquisition of 100% of the 

5,805,032 issued and outstanding common shares of PBI (Note 1). As a result of the RTO, the shareholders of PBI 

acquired control of the resulting consolidated group. Therefore, the transaction was accounted for as PBI being the 

acquirer and North Group being the acquiree. Under this basis of accounting, the consolidated group is considered to 

be a continuation of PBI, with the net identifiable assets of North Group deemed to have been acquired at fair value 

by PBI. 

 

The fair value of the consideration paid by PBI for the acquisition of North Group was determined based on the fair 

value of the 978,391 shares of the consolidated entity that was held by the existing shareholders of North Group on 

completion of the RTO. The fair value of these shares was determined to be $0.90 per share for total consideration 

of $880,553. The consideration paid was first allocated to the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 

North Group. Because North Group did not meet the definition of a business as defined by IFRS 3, the excess was 

recorded as an expense in the statement of comprehensive loss and attributed to the cost of listing the Company’s 

shares on the TSXV. 

 

The Company also incurred $285,296 in legal and $54,250 in accounting and audit-related costs in conjunction with 

the reverse takeover transaction, which have been included in the listing costs in the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive loss for the year ended September 30, 2016. 
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5.      REVERSE TAKEOVER (continued) 

 

Fair value of North Group shares issued for RTO (at $0.90 per share) 

 

 $               880,553  

Net assets of North Group acquired:     

Cash 

 

                        9,747  

Payables                     (159,303) 

Debt 

 

                  (567,797) 

Intercompany advances                       669,408  

Excess of fair value of consideration paid over net assets acquired 

 

                      (47,945) 

 

Listing cost on RTO 

 

                    928,496  

Other listing costs 

 

                    339,546  

Total listing costs    $            1,268,042  

 

6.      APPAREL PRODUCTION DEPOSITS  

 

 2017  2016 

Apparel Production Deposits $                63,512  $              321,670  

 

The Company is required to make deposits to its manufacturers to secure production. The deposits made will be 

credited against final purchase invoice after the inventory is shipped to the Company’s warehouse. 

 

 The Company’s contract manufacturers are located in the People’s Republic of China (“China”) and conduct 

business transactions in United States dollars (USD). 

 

7.      INVENTORIES  

 

Inventory consist of children’s playwear apparel which is purchased from third party manufacturers.  As at 

September 30, 2017, the Company holds finished goods of $1,134,727 (2016 - $1,024,355).  

 

Inventory expensed in net loss and included in cost of sales for the year ended September 30, 2017 was $1,885,113 

(2016 - $1,978,982) The Company recorded obsolete inventory write-downs as the management determined the net 

realizable value of inventories from 2015 collections and prior are lower than cost. The inventory obsolescence 

amount recognized in the statement of comprehensive loss was $102,821 (2016 – $nil). 

 

8. COMMISSIONS PAYABLE 

 

The Company accrues sales commissions that are payable to its stylists when they elect not to have their sales 

commissions paid by cash immediately and choose to apply outstanding commissions owed against future apparel 

purchases. As at September 30, 2017 commissions earned but unpaid totalled $106,892 (2016 - $116,714), recorded 

as commissions payable. 

 

9. STYLISTS TRAINING, RECRUITMENT, AND MARKETING 

 

Various costs are incurred in the training and recruitment of stylists and are included in the earnings for the period 

incurred.  Pop-up hostesses receive product credit and discounts for hosting sales parties.  From time to time, direct-

sales industry management consultants are engaged and payments are included in the period incurred.   

 

 
2017   2016 

Training  $  134,004   $  121,009 

Recruitment  5,994 
 

49,300 

Marketing  101,765   145,220 

 
$  241,763    $  315,529 
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10. ADMINISTRATIVE 

 

 
2017   2016 

Credit card processing and miscellaneous  $    92,122   $    77,637 

Consulting  238,155 
 

76,357 

Insurance  54,333   9,569 

Office and general 4,701 
 

55,307 

Travel, meals and entertainment  53,693 
 

25,400 

  $  443,004   $  244,270 

 

11. DISTRIBUTION AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY  

 

 
2017   2016 

Rent and utilities  $    87,009   $    91,061 

Information technology  180,081 
 

70,677 

  $  267,090   $  161,738 

 

12. EXECUTIVE AND EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION  

 

 
2017   2016 

Executive officer salaries  $  167,467 
 

$    89,000 

Executive manager salaries                         -   66,590 

Employee salaries   693,461 
 

594,658 

  $  860,928   $  750,248 

 

13. PROFESSIONAL FEES AND PUBLIC COMPANY COSTS  

 

 
2017   2016 

Professional fees  $  143,469 
 

$    76,518 

Public company costs     242,562                            63,283 

  $  386,031   $  139,801 

 

14. SOFTWARE AND EQUIPMENT 

 

 
Computer 

Hardware 

Computer 

Software and 

Development 

Total 

Cost       

Balance, September 30, 2016 and 2015 $  4,520 $  42,616 $  47,136 

Acquisitions  527 - 527 

Balance, September 30, 2017  $  5,047 $  42,616 $  47,663 

Accumulated Amortization    

Balance, September 30, 2015   $  1,554 $  32,718 $  34,272 

Amortization   734  3,839  4,573 

Balance, September 30, 2016   2,288 36,557   38,845 

Amortization  858 3,585 4,440 

Balance, September 30, 2017  $  3,146 $  40,142 $  43,288 

Net Book Value       

As at September 30, 2016  $  2,232 $  6,055 $  8,287 

As at September 30, 2017  $  1,901 $  2,474 $  4,374 
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15.     TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 

 
2017  2016 

Trade payables  $  461,702  $  669,297 

Accruals  58,060  8,819 

Customer deposits 49,378  - 

Other non-trade payables  102,072  97,005 

 
$  671,212  $  775,121 

 

16. SHARE CAPITAL 

 

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares and preferred shares without par value.  All 

common shares issued have equal rights to dividends and shareholders are entitled to one vote per share at annual 

and general meetings of the Company.   

 

As at September 30, 2017, the Company had 11,894,535 common shares issued and outstanding, of which 445,620 

were held in escrow.  Details of the issuance of share capital are as follows: 

 

(a) Issued and Outstanding 

 

During the year ended September 30, 2017, the Company: 

 

i)  Issued 98,000 units for aggregate proceeds of $102,900 at a price of $1.05 per unit.  Each unit consisted of one 

share and one share purchase warrant to purchase another share at $1.25 for a period of one year.  The share 

purchase warrants were valued at $24,500 using the residual method.  The Company paid share issuance costs of 

$7,203 and issued 9,800 share purchase warrants exercisable at $1.25 for agent’s commission.  The finder warrants 

were valued at $5,030. 

 

ii) Issued 645,000 units for the conversion of $677,250 in loans.  Each unit consisted of one share and one share 

purchase warrant to purchase another share at $1.25 for a period of two years. The share purchase warrants were 

valued at $228,150 using the residual method. 

 

iii) Issued 2,633,001 units at a price of $0.60 per unit for aggregate proceeds of $1,579,801.  Each unit consisted of 

one share and one half share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.80 per warrant for a period of two years.  The share 

purchase warrants were valued at $26,330 using the residual method.  The Company paid share issuance costs of 

$169,606 and issued 111,930 finders’ warrants exercisable at $0.80 per finder warrant.  The finder warrants were 

valued at $43,348. 

 

iv) Issued 857,000 units at a price of $0.60 per unit for aggregate proceeds of $514,200. Each unit consisted of one 

share and one half share purchase warrant exercisable at $0.80 per warrant for a period of two years.  The share 

purchase warrants were valued at $21,425 using the residual method. The Company paid share issuance costs of 

$108,706 and issued 47,887 finders’ warrants. The finder warrants were valued at $17,369. 

 

v) Issued 878,111 units for the conversion of $526,867 in debt. Each unit consisted of one share and one half share 

purchase warrant to purchase another share at $0.80 for a period of two years. The Company recorded the shares at 

their fair value of $544,429.  The 439,055 warrants were determined to have a value of $180,179 using the Black-

Scholes Option Pricing Model with the following assumptions: volatility - 146%; risk-free interest rate - 1.08%; 

expected life - 2 years; dividend yield - 0%.  As a result, the Company realized a loss of $197,740. 
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16. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 

 

(a) Issued and Outstanding (continued) 

 

During the year ended September 30, 2016, the Company: 

 

i) Issued 1,000,447 units for aggregate gross proceeds of $1,050,469. Each unit is priced at $1.05 per unit, with each 

unit consisting of one common share and one share purchase warrant to purchase another share at $1.25 until 

September 23, 2017. The Company paid finder’s fees in connection with a portion of the unit financing, comprised 

of an aggregate cash fee of $17,143 (7% of the gross proceeds raised from subscriptions introduced by such finders) 

and 23,323 warrants. 

 

ii) Issued 952,700 common shares pursuant to shares held in escrow and recorded as obligation to issue shares 

during the year ended September 30, 2015. 

 

All outstanding warrants’ exercise period may be accelerated by the Company if, at any time during the term of the 

warrant, the volume weighted average price of the Company’s common shares on the TSXV is equal to or greater 

than $1.55 over a period of 10 consecutive trading days. 

 

 (b)    Stock Options 

 

During the year ended September 30, 2016, the Company adopted a stock option plan which conforms to the rules 

and policies of the TSXV.  The stock option plan will be a 10% rolling plan, whereby the total number of common 

shares that may be reserved for issuance will be 10% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company at the 

time of grant, less any shares reserved for issuance pursuant to the grant of stock options under any other share 

compensation arrangements.  

 

During the year ended September 30, 2017, 875,000 stock options were issued to management, staff and consultants.  

The options are exercisable into one common share of the Company at an exercise price of $0.60 until May 12, 

2019. 

 

A summary of options activity to September 30, 2017 is as follows: 

 

 
Options 

Outstanding 
 

Weighted Average 

Exercise Price 

September 30, 2016  -  $                             -  

Issued  875,000  $                         0.60  

September 30, 2017  875,000  $                         0.60  

Exercisable  772,500    

 

Share-based compensation for the year ended September 30, 2017 was $313,518 (2016 - $nil).   

 

 
2017   2016 

Executive officer and director stock-based compensation  $  251,385  $     - 

Employee stock-based compensation  37,279                         - 

Consultant stock-based compensation  24,854  - 

 $  313,518   $     -   

 

The grant date fair value of the options granted was $352,393 which was valued using the Black-Scholes Option 

Pricing Model with the following assumptions: 

 
2017 

Volatility  213.18% 

Risk-free interest rate  0.68% 

Expected life of option  2 years 

Dividend yield  0% 
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16. SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 

 

(c)    Warrants 

 

A summary of warrant activity to September 30, 2017 is as follows: 

 

 
Warrants 

Outstanding 

 Weighted Average 

Exercise Price 

September 30, 2015  1,203,688  $    1.25 

Issued   1,503,770   1.25 

September 30, 2016 2,707,458  1.25 

Issued  3,096,669  0.87 

Expired (3,052,458)  1.25 

September 30, 2017 2,751,669  $  0.82 

 

At September 30, 2017, the weighted average remaining life of the outstanding warrants is 1.62 years (2016 – 0.99 

years). 

 

During the year ended September 30, 2017, a total of 169,617 (2016 – 23,323) agent or finders’ warrants were 

issued and were valued using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model with the following weighted average 

assumptions: 

 

 2017 2016 

Volatility 153.43% 73.2% 

Risk-free interest rate 0.78% 1.6% 

Expected life of warrant 1.94 years 4 to 10 years 

Dividend yield 0% 0% 

 

17.      LOANS 

 

  2017 2016 

Current loans:    

Bank debt, current portion (a) $            20,100 $       18,430 

Short-term loans 
(b), (c), 

(d),(e) 
695,949 622,866 

  716,049 641,296 

Non-current loans:    

Bank debt, non-current portion ....................................................  (a) - 23,440 

Convertible promissory note ........................................................  (f) 246,820 251,758 

Long-term promissory note .........................................................  (d) - 567,797 

  - 842,995 

  $  962,869 $   1,484,291 

 

(a) Bank debt 

 The Company has outstanding long-term loans from the Business Development Bank of Canada (“BDC”) which 

bear interest at BDC’s floating base rate plus a variance of 3.1% to 3.5% per year and are due before September 

2018.   

 

(b) Loan 

 As at September 30, 2017, the outstanding balance of an unsecured demand loan, bearing interest of 12% per annum 

is $8,091 (2016 - $106,581) from a relative of a director.  During the year ended September 30, 2017, total interest 

accrued on the loan was $13,444 (2016 - $3,496).  On September 28, 2017, the Company settled $111,935 of the 

then outstanding debt by issuing shares for debt. 
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17.      LOANS (continued) 

 

(c) Apparel loans 

As at September 30, 2017, the Company has an apparel loan of $278,250 (2016 - $273,000) owing to an apparel 

finance company of which a former Director of the Company was an officer and shareholder. The loan is secured by 

specific apparel inventory and is charged a quarterly finance fee (Note 19).  

 

(d) Venture capital convertible loan 

During the year ended September 30, 2016, Northpark Limited (a company with a former director in common) 

advanced $555,000 under a promissory note for a loan of up to $700,000.  The loan was due on December 31, 2017, 

bears interest at 15% per annum and is convertible into units of the Company at $1.05 per unit.  As additional 

consideration for the loan, Northpark Limited received 480,000 warrants.  The Company determined that the 

carrying value of the debt did not materially differ from the fair market value, and as a result none of the balance 

was attributed to the conversion option and additional warrants.  During the year ended September 30, 2017, 

Northpark Limited converted a total of $1,019,250 of the rolling promissory note into 970,714 units of the Company 

at a price of $1.05 per unit.  Each unit consisted of one common share and one share purchase warrant exercisable at 

$1.25 per share for a period of one year. 

 

As at September 30, 2017, the outstanding balance is $221,068 (2016 - $567,762).  During the year ended 

September 30, 2017, total interest accrued on the loan was $97,930 (2016 - $nil).   

 

(e)          Unsecured Promissory note  

The Company has an $188,540 (2016 – $188,292) unsecured promissory note bearing interest at 12% per annum, 

maturing on December 31, 2017.  Total interest accrued on the loan during the year ended September 30, 2017 is 

$22,801 (2016 - $16,045).  The loan in currently being renegotiated. 

 

(f) Executive officer convertible promissory note 

The Company’s Chief Financial Officer is owed $246,821 (2016 - $251,758) by way of an unsecured convertible 

promissory note.  The loan was originally due December 31, 2017, bore interest at 8% per annum and was 

convertible into units at $1.05 per unit but was amended on September 28, 2017.  The loan is now due on December 

31, 2019, bearing interest of 12% per annum and convertible into units at $0.60 per unit.  Each unit will consist of 

one share and one half of one share purchase warrant, one whole warrant exercisable at $0.80 per share. On initial 

receipt of the loan, and on amendment, the Company determined that the carrying value of the debt did not 

materially differ from the fair market value, and as a result none of the balance was attributed to the conversion 

option and recorded in equity.  Total interest accrued during the year ended September 30, 2017 is $17,277 (2016 - 

$4,937).  

 

18. LOSS PER SHARE 

 

 Diluted loss per share for the years ended September 30, 2017 and 2016 is the same as basic loss per share as the 

effect of warrants and options would be anti-dilutive.  

 

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 

During the year ended September 30, 2017 and 2016: 

 

(a) The Company paid its Chief Executive Officer $89,000 (2016 - $89,000) and its Chief Financial Officer 

$78,467 (2016 - $66,590) in salary (Note 12). 

 

(b) The Company recorded $258,479 (2016 - $nil) in share-based compensation to officers and directors. 

 

(c) At September 30, 2017, the Company owes its Chief Financial Officer (former Executive Manager) $32,031 

(2016 - $nil) for unpaid expense reimbursement and $246,821 (2016 - $251,758) under an unsecured 

convertible promissory note (Note 17). Total interest accrued during the year ended September 30, 2017 was 

$17,277 (2016 - $4,937) (Note 17). 

  



PEEKABOO BEANS INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017  

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)          

 

- Page 19 of 21 - 
 

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 

 

(d) During the year ended September 30, 2016, the Company incurred a total of $80,175 in fees to former 

directors and officers of North Group.  At September 30, 2016, $52,123 was owing to these parties. 

 

(e) During the year ended September 30, 2017, a company with a former director in common converted a total of 

$1,019,250 of a promissory note into 970,714 units of the Company at a price of $1.05 per unit (Note 17).   

 

(f) Refer to note 17(b) 

 

 

20. COMMITMENTS  
 

The Company has entered into the following agreements: 

 

The commercial premises from which the Company carries out its head office and warehouse locations are leased 

from third parties.  This rental contract is classified as operating lease since there is no transfer of risks and rewards 

inherent to ownership. The minimum rent payable under the lease is as follows: 

 

   2018 $              46,475 

 

21.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

  

The Company is exposed to certain financial risks as listed below. There has been no change in the exposure to risk, 

nor its objectives, policies and process for managing the risk from the prior year. Disclosures relating to exposure to 

risks, in particular credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk are provided below.   

  

 Credit Risk  

  

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 

contractual obligations. The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of credit risk are 

primarily cash. The Company limits its exposure to credit risk with respect to cash by investing available cash with 

major Canadian chartered banks.  

  

The Company’s cash is not subject to any external restrictions.  

  

 Liquidity Risk  

  

As at September 30, 2017, the Company had a cash balance of $183,880 (2016 - $160,835) available to settle 

current liabilities of $1,494,155 (2016 - $1,533,131). The Company’s liquidity follows a seasonal pattern based on 

the timing of inventory purchases.   The Company expects to finance its inventory purchases and administrative 

expenditures through cash flows from operations, bank debt, as well as equity financing (Note 24).   

  

The following table identifies the undiscounted contractual maturities of the Company’s financial liabilities as at 

September 30, 2017:  

 
Within one year 

After one but 

not more than 

five years 

After five years Total 

Trade and other payables   $671,214 $  - $- 671,214 

Commissions payable  106,892 - - 106,892 

Short-term loan  695,949 - - 695,949 

Convertible note  - 246,821 - 246,821 

Bank debt  20,100 - - 20,100 

  $1,494,155 $246,821 $- $1,740,976 
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

 

Market Risk – foreign exchange risk    

  

At September 30, 2017, a majority of the Company’s inventory purchases are in United States dollars.  All of the 

Company’s revenues and future equity raised is expected to be predominantly in Canadian dollars. Accordingly, the 

United States dollar denominated financial assets and liabilities are subject to fluctuations in exchange rates and can 

have an effect on the Company’s reported results. Management has chosen not to hedge its foreign exchange risk.    

 

The Company’s foreign exchange risk is primarily limited to currency fluctuations between the Canadian and United 

States dollar. At September 30, 2017, the Company does not have significant financial assets or liabilities 

denominated in United States dollars.    

 

In order to protect itself from the risk of losses should the value of the Canadian dollar decline compared to the 

foreign currency, the Company may consider using forward contracts to fix the exchange rate of a portion of its 

expected United States dollar requirements. The contracts will be matched with anticipated foreign currency 

purchases.   

 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to cash flow interest rate risk include financial assets and 

liabilities with variable interest rates and consist of cash and the credit facility. As at September30, 2017, cash 

consisted of cash on hand and balances with banks.   

  

Financial assets and financial liabilities that bear interest at fixed rates are subject to fair value interest rate risk. The 

Company’s bank debt is the only financial liability bearing a variable interest rate. It is recorded at amortized cost.  

 

Fair Values  

  

At September 30, 2017 and 2016, the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximate fair value due to their 

short-term to maturity or because they bear interest at market rates.   

 

22.  CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  

  

As at September 30, 2017, the Company’s capital is composed of interest bearing debt, its loan facility and bank 

debt, and shareholders’ equity. The Company’s primary objectives, when managing its capital, are to maintain 

adequate levels of funding to support the manufacturing operations of the Company and to maintain corporate and 

administrative functions.  

 

The Company defines capital as bank loans, other long-term debt, and equity, consisting of the issued common 

shares, stock options and warrants. The capital structure of the Company is managed to provide sufficient funding 

operating activities. Funds are primarily secured through a combination of equity capital raised by way of private 

placements, short-term debt and bank debt. There can be no assurances that the Company will be able to continue 

raising equity capital and bank debt in this manner. The Company invests all capital that is surplus to its immediate 

needs in short-term, liquid and highly rated financial instruments, such as cash and other short-term deposits, which 

are all held with major financial institutions.  

  

There were no changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended September 30, 

2017.  

 

  



PEEKABOO BEANS INC. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017  

(Expressed in Canadian dollars)          

 

- Page 21 of 21 - 
 

23.       INCOME TAXES 

  2017   2016 

Net loss before income taxes  $   (3,000,404) 

 

 $  (2,552,809) 

Income tax rate 27.7% 

 

18% 

Expected income tax benefit  (830,356) 

 

   (458,816) 

Non-deductible expenses             136,582  

 

      189,271  

Share issue costs (74,234)  - 

Adjustment to prior years provision versus statutory tax returns 2,815,677  - 

Effect of RTO                      -    

 

   (191,993) 

Change in valuation allowance  (2,047,669) 

 

      461,538  

 

 $                  - 

 

 $                  - 

 

The Company recognizes tax benefits on losses or other deductible amounts generated where it is probable the 

Company will generate taxable income to utilize its deferred tax assets. The Company’s unrecognized deductible 

temporary differences and unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognized consist of the following 

amounts: 

 

 
2017   2016 

Deferred income tax assets: 

   Non-capital losses $ 2,510,707  

 

$              846,073  

Net capital losses              426,275  

 

                     71,373  

Equipment                6,535  

 

                       2,709  

Share issuance costs and other              453,243  

 

                       1,783  

Unrecognized deferred income tax assets          (3,396,760) 

 

                 (921,938) 

 

 $                 - 

 

 $                         -    

 

The non-capital losses expire in the year 2007 through 2027.  

 

24.  EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE REPORTING DATE 
 

On December 20, 2017, the Company closed a private placement consisting of 2,488,500 common shares at a price 

of $0.60 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of $1,493,100.  A commission of $101,440 was paid and an 

aggregate of 169,066 Agents warrants were issued. Each warrant is exercisable for one common share at a price of 

$0.60 per common share for a period of 24 months. A corporate finance fee was settled with the issuance of 105,666 

common shares. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

To the Shareholders of Peekaboo Beans Inc. (formerly North Group Finance Limited), 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Peekaboo Beans Inc. (formerly North 

Group Finance Limited), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at September 30, 2016 

and 2015, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss, changes in equity (deficit) and cash flows for the 

years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 

conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require 

that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.  

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and 

fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 

control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion. 

 

Opinion  
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. as at September 30, 2016 and 2015 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 

years the ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  

 

Emphasis of Matter 
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements which describe 

matters and conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about 

Peekaboo Beans Inc.’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 
DALE MATHESON CARR-HILTON LABONTE LLP 

CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 
Vancouver, Canada 

January 30, 2017 
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  September 30, 
 Note 2016  2015 

ASSETS     

Current assets     

Cash .............................................................................................   $  160,835  $  - 

Trade receivables .........................................................................     4,386    6,062 

Apparel production deposits ........................................................  6   321,670    220,282 

Prepaid expense ...........................................................................     94,174    - 

Inventories ...................................................................................  6   1,024,355    1,194,089 

Total current assets ......................................................................     1,605,420    1,420,433 

Non-current assets     

Software and equipment ..............................................................  15   8,287    12,860 

Total assets ....................................................................................   $  1,613,707  $  1,433,293 
     

LIABILITIES AND DEFICIENCY     

Current liabilities     

Bank overdraft .............................................................................   $  -  $  10,845 

Trade payables and accrued liabilities .........................................  16   775,121    586,354 

Commissions payable ..................................................................  8   116,714    140,057 

Current portion of bank debt .......................................................  17   18,430    47,340 

Loans ...........................................................................................  17   622,866    303,000 

Total current liabilities .................................................................     1,533,131    1,087,596 

Non-current liabilities         

Long-term debt ............................................................................  17   591,237    39,470 

Loans ...........................................................................................  17   251,758    434,708 

Total liabilities ..............................................................................     2,376,126    1,561,774 

Deficiency   
 

 

Share capital ................................................................................  18   6,578,386    3,818,628 

Commitment to issue shares ........................................................  18   -    1,000,335 

Subscriptions receivable ..............................................................  18  -  (5,000) 

Reserves ......................................................................................  18   1,379,968    1,225,520 

Deficit ..........................................................................................     (8,720,773)    (6,167,964) 

Total deficiency    (762,419)    (128,481) 

Total liabilities and deficiency  $  1,613,707  $  1,433,293 
 

Note 1, “Nature of Operations and Going Concern” 

Note 22, “Commitments and Contingencies”. 

Note 25, “Events Subsequent to the Reporting Date”. 

 

 

 

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Peekaboo Beans Inc. on the 30th day of January, 2017. 
 

 

/s/ Traci Costa    /s/ Darrell Kopke 
___________________________   ___________________________  

Ms. Traci Costa, CEO and Director  Mr. Darrell Kopke, Director 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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  Year Ended September 30, 
 Note 2016  2015 
     

Sales ..........................................................................................   $  3,540,449  $  3,469,867 
Cost of sales ..............................................................................  7, 8   3,086,267    2,806,865 
Gross profit ..............................................................................     454,182    663,002 
     

Stylist training, recruitment and marketing ...............................  9   315,529    199,718 

Administrative ...........................................................................  11   244,270    438,407 

Distribution and information technology ..................................  12   161,738    125,679 

Governance, restructuring and public company costs ...............  14   139,801    117,086 

Executive and employee stock-based compensation .................  10   -    371,546 

Executive and employee salary compensation ..........................  10   750,248    878,767 

Operating loss  .........................................................................     (1,157,404)    (1,468,201) 
Finance expense .........................................................................  13   (110,752)    (1,216,549) 
Listing costs ...............................................................................  5   (1,268,042)    - 

Other expense ............................................................................     (16,612)    (9,740) 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year ........................   $  (2,552,809)  $  (2,694,490) 
Basic and diluted loss per common share ..............................   $  (0.66)  $  (1.04) 
Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding ...............................................................................     3,855,072 

 
  2,599,337 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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  Share Capital 
Obligation To 

Issue 
Share 

Subscriptions    
 Note Number Amount Shares Receivable Reserves Deficit Total 
         

At September 30, 2014  2,560,688 $ 2,390,731 $ - $ -  $ 974,239 $ (3,473,474) $ (108,505) 
 Issuance of shares pursuant to private 

placement .................................................................................  18  285,495  311,637  - -    -  -   311,637 

 Stock-based compensation .......................................................  18  -  -  - -    371,546  -   371,546 

 Exercise of stock options ..........................................................  18 75,000  18,750  - (5,000)    -  -   13,750 

 Transfer from reserves on exercise of 

options ......................................................................................    -  120,265  - -    (120,265)  -   - 

 Shares issued pursuant to settlement of 

amounts due to shareholders ....................................................  
 

17, 18 

  

 220,674  231,708  - 

 

-    -  -   231,708 

 Shares issued pursuant to settlement of 

notes payable ............................................................................  17, 18  710,028  745,529  - 

 

-    -  -   745,529 

 Escrow shares to be issued .......................................................  18  -  -  1,000,335 -    -  -   1,000,335 

 Net loss .....................................................................................    -  -  - -    -  (2,694,490)   (2,694,490) 

At September 30, 2015   3,851,885  3,818,620  1,000,335 (5,000)    1,225,520  (6,167,964)   (128,489) 
 Cash received for shares previously issued  - - - 5,000 - - 5,000 

 Obligation to issue shares now issued ......................................  18 952,700 1,000,335  (1,000,335) - - - - 

 Issuance of shares pursuant to unit offering 18 1,000,447 900,402 - - 150,067 - 1,050,469 

 Share issue costs and warrants .................................................  18 - (21,524) - - 4,381 - (17,143) 

Recapitalization transaction:         

 Shares of North Group .............................................................  5 978,391 880,553 - - - - 880,553 

 Reversal of shares of PBI .........................................................   (5,805,032) - - - - - - 

 Shares issued on reverse takeover ............................................  5 5,805,032 - - - - -  

 Net loss .....................................................................................    -  -  -    -    -   (2,552,809)     (2,552,809) 

At September 30, 2016   6,783,423 $ 6,578,386 $ - $     -  $  1,379,968 $ (8,720,773) $ (762,419) 
 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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 Year Ended September 30, 
 2016  2015 
Operating Activities    

Net loss for the year ..................................................................................  $  (2,552,809)  $  (2,694,490) 

Adjustments for:    

Net cash acquired on reverse takeover……………………………..…   9,474  - 

Stock-based compensation ....................................................................  -    371,546 

Common shares issued for consulting ...................................................  -    12,500 

Financing fee issued in escrow shares ...................................................  -    1,000,335 

Accrued interest expense .......................................................................  11,923    122,885 

Amortization ..........................................................................................  4,573    7,373 

Non-cash listing costs ............................................................................  880,553  - 

Changes in non-cash working capital items:    

Trade receivables ...................................................................................  1,676    3,289 

Inventories .............................................................................................  169,734    (585,114) 

Apparel production deposits ..................................................................  (101,388)    229,173 

Prepaid expenses ...................................................................................  (94,174)    - 

Trade payables and accrued liabilities ...................................................  61,106    447,459 

Cash used in operating activities ...........................................................    (1,609,332)    (1,085,044)  

Investing Activities    

Purchase of equipment ..........................................................................    -    (9,579) 

Cash used in investing activities ............................................................    -    (9,579) 

Financing Activities    

Repayment of bank 

debt……………………………………………….   (44,940) 

 

  (47,340) 

Loan payable………………………………………………………......   787,626    300,000 

Short-term loan………………………………………………………..   -    293,000 

Shareholder loans……………………………………………………..   -    154,821 

Private placements of common shares, net of issuance costs…………   1,038,326    325,386 

Cash from financing activities……………………………………   1,781,012    1,025,867 

Change in cash during the year ...............................................................    171,680    (68,756) 

Cash (bank overdraft), beginning of year ..............................................    (10,845)    57,911 

Cash (bank overdraft), end of year .........................................................  $  160,835  $  (10,845) 
 

Other supplemental cash flow information: 

 

Interest paid .....................................................................................................  $  26,886  $  23,190 

Income taxes paid ............................................................................................  $  -  $  - 

    

Other non-cash transactions:    

Shares issued for settlement of debt…………………………………………. $  -  $  231,708 

Shares issued for settlement of notes payable .................................................  $  -  $  745,529 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN 
 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. designs children playwear apparel which is sold through a direct-sales network of 

independent sales representatives, referred to as “Stylists”.  Stylists encourage mothers to host sales parties or 

“Soirees” in their homes to demonstrate and sell the playwear apparel.   

 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. (formerly North Group Finance Limited (“North Group”)) is incorporated in the 

Province of British Columbia, Canada, and has its head office is located at Unit 610, 13211 Delf Place 

Richmond, British Columbia, V6V 2A2.The Company was originally incorporated under the Business 

Corporations Act of the Province of Alberta and was continued under the Canada Business Corporations Act 

on July 8, 2002.  On December 21, 2005, the Company was continued to the jurisdiction of the Province of 

British Columbia. 

 

On September 23, 2016, the Company completed its reverse takeover transaction (“RTO”) transaction with 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. (“PBI”) whereby PBI could list its shares on the TSXV.  In connection with the RTO, 

North Group Finance Limited changed its name to Peekaboo Beans Inc.; made changes to its board of 

directors and executive officers; wound up its wholly-owned subsidiary, 0719906 B.C. Ltd. and implemented 

a stock option plan.  These consolidated financial statements present the historical financial information of 

PBI up to the date of the RTO and the consolidated financial information thereafter.  Peekaboo Beans Inc. 

and its wholly-owned subsidiary are referred to as the “Company” or “Peekaboo Beans” (Note 5). 

 

To date, the Company has incurred losses and further losses are anticipated as the Company further develops 

its business.  The continuing operations of the Company are dependent upon its ability to generate profitable 

operations in the future, and to continue to secure additional financing.  There can be no assurance that the 

Company will be successful in its efforts to raise additional financing or if financing is available, that it will 

be on terms that are acceptable to the Company.  These events and conditions indicate the existence of a 

material uncertainty that my cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern.  

 

The Company’s common shares are listed for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange (TSXV”) in Canada 

under the trading symbol, “BEAN”. 

 
2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 

(a) Statement of Compliance 

 

 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and 

interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  

 

 The Company’s board of directors approved the release of these financial statements on January 30, 

2017. 

 

(b) Basis of measurement 

 

 These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial 

instruments, which are measured at fair value, as explained in the significant accounting policies set out 

in Note 3. The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars and all financial amounts, other 

than per-share amounts, are rounded to the nearest dollar. The functional currency of the Company is 

the Canadian dollar.  

 

 The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make certain 

critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in applying the 

Company’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or 
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areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in Note 

4. 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all years presented in these financial 

statements unless otherwise indicated. 

 

(a) Basis of Consolidation 
 

The following entities have been consolidated within these financial statements: 

   

Entity Registered Holding 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. (Formerly North Group Finance Limited) BC, Canada Parent 

Peekaboo Beans (Canada) Corp BC, Canada 100% owned 

 
The subsidiary is controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company is exposed, or has 

rights, to the variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those 

returns through its power over the investee. 

 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the 

date that control commences until the date that control ceases. 

 

Intercompany balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from 

intercompany transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

 
(b) Foreign Currency Transactions 
 

 The functional currency is measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which 

that entity operates. The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars which is the functional 

currency of the Company and its subsidiary.   

 

 Transactions and balances: 

 

 Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

prevailing at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the period-

end exchange rate. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the 

exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at 

the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined. 

 

 Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items or on settlement of monetary items 

are recognized in profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive loss in the period in which they arise, 

except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge. 

 

 Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognized in other 

comprehensive income in the statement of comprehensive loss to the extent that gains and losses arising 

on those non-monetary items are also recognized in other comprehensive income. Where the non-

monetary gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss, the exchange component is also recognized in 

profit or loss. 

 

(c) Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions and 

other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are 

readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. For 

cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes bank overdrafts. Bank 
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overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash.  The 

Company had no cash equivalents as at September 30, 2016 and 2015.  

 

(d) Inventory 
 

 Children playwear apparel inventory are categorized by four seasonal product lines sold through 

catalogues and include:  

 

i) Fundamentals Collections: Includes year-round children playwear apparel that is consistently 

ordered by Stylists. 

ii) Stylist Business Supplies:  Includes material sold to Stylists to operate their business, such as 

promotional material, business tools and office supplies.  

iii) Inventory Reserves: Includes factory extras and past seasonal stock. 

 

Finished goods are valued at the lower of average cost, which is net of vendor rebates, and net realizable 

value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price of inventory in the ordinary course of business, less 

any estimated selling costs.  Cost of inventory includes expenditures in acquiring the inventories, 

production costs and other cost incurred in bringing them to their existing location.   Provision is made for 

obsolete, slow-moving or defective items, where appropriate. 

 

(e) Sales revenue recognition and other income 
 

 Revenue represents sales of children playwear apparel and catalogues.  Sales of children playwear 

apparel and catalogues, net of returns, is recognized when the significant risks and rewards of 

ownership of the goods have passed to the customer, usually on delivery of the goods.   

 
(f) Cost of sales 
 

 Cost of sales includes cost of goods or the manufacturing costs of children playwear apparel and other 

costs incurred in bringing them to their existing location and Stylists’ sales commission.  

 

(g) Software and equipment 
 

 Software and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 

impairment losses. Equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 

impairment losses. 

 

 Amortization is calculated on a declining balance method to write off the cost of the assets to their 

residual values over their estimated useful lives. The amortization rates applicable to each category of 

equipment is as follows: 

 

Class  Amortization rate 
Computer software ................................................................................................  50% 

Computer hardware ...............................................................................................  30% 

 

(h) Stock-based compensation 
 

Share options granted by the Company allows Executive Officers, Managers and Employees to acquire 

shares of the Company.  Share-based payments to Employees are measured at the fair value of the 

instruments issued and amortized over the vesting periods.  Share-based payments to non-employees are 

measured at the fair value of goods or services received or the fair value of the equity instruments 

issued, if it is determined the fair value of the goods or services cannot be reliably measured, and are 

recorded at the date the goods or services are received.  The corresponding amount is recorded to the 

option reserve.  The fair value of options is determined using the Black–Scholes Option Pricing Model. 

The number of shares and options expected to vest is reviewed and adjusted at the end of each reporting 

period such that the amount recognized for services received as consideration for the equity instruments 

granted shall be based on the number of equity instruments that eventually vest.    
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 

(i) Financial instruments 
 

 Financial assets and liabilities are classified into one of five categories: fair value through profit and loss 

(“FVTPL”), held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets or 

financial liabilities at amortized cost. All financial instruments, including derivatives, are measured at 

the statement of financial position date at fair value except for loans and receivables, held-to-maturity 

investments and financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost. The Company has made the 

following classifications: 

 

• Cash and trade receivables are classified as “Loans and Receivables”. After their initial fair value 

measurement, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

• Trade payables, commissions’ payable, loans and bank debt are classified as “Other Financial 

Liabilities”. After their initial fair value measurement, they are measured at amortized cost using 

the effective interest rate method. 

 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 

has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a significant and prolonged 

decline in the value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen. 

 

The Company does not have any derivative financial assets and liabilities. 

 

(j) Loss per share 
 

 Basic loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 

period. The diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of 

shares outstanding to include additional shares issued from the assumed exercise of stock options and 

warrants, if dilutive. The number of additional shares is calculated by assuming that the proceeds from 

such exercises are used to purchase common shares at the average market price for the period. 

 

(k) Taxation 
 

 Current income tax 
 

 Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to 

be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 

amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date, in the countries where 

the Company operates and generates taxable income. 

 

 Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in other comprehensive income or equity is 

recognized in other comprehensive income or equity and not in profit or loss. Management periodically 

evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations 

are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 
 

 Deferred income tax 
 

 Deferred income tax is recognized, using the asset and liability method, on temporary differences at the 

reporting date arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for 

financial reporting purposes. 

 

 The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

recognized only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all 

or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d) 
 

   (k)  Taxation (cont’d) 
 

 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 

year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.  

 

 Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right 

exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes 

relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

 
   (l)  New Standards, Interpretations And Amendments Issued But Not Yet Effective 

  

 Certain pronouncements, issued by the IASB or the IFRIC, were adopted during the year, or are 

mandatory for the Company’s fiscal years beginning on or after October 1, 2016 or are required to be 

adopted in future periods. The following pronouncements are relevant to the financial statements, 

although none of these are expected to have a material effect on financial statement presentation: 

 

(i) IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” replaces the requirements of 

IAS39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. This final version of IFRS 9 

brings together the classification and measurements as well as impairment and hedge accounting 

phases of the project to replace IAS 39. In addition to the new requirements for classification and 

measurement of financial assets, a new general hedge accounting model and other amendments 

issued in previous versions of IFRS 9, the standard also introduces new impairment requirements 

that are based on a forward-looking expected credit loss model. These changes are applicable for 

annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Company has not yet assessed the 

future impact of this new standard on its financial statements. 
 

(ii) IFRS 15, “Revenue from contracts with customers” replaces the requirements of IAS 11, 

“Construction Contracts”, and IAS 18, “Revenue and related interpretations”. This standard 

specifies the steps and timing for issuers to recognize revenue as well as requiring them to provide 

more informative, relevant disclosures. These changes are applicable for annual periods beginning 

on or after January 1, 2017, with earlier application permitted. The standard is effective for the 

Company’s fiscal year beginning October 1, 2017. 
 

(iii) IFRS 16 “Leases” replaces IAS 17 “Leases” and the related interpretative guidance.  IFRS 16 

applies a control model to the identification of leases, distinguishing between a lease and a service 

contract on the basis of whether the customer controls the asset being leased. For those assets 

determined to meet the definition of a lease, IFRS 16 introduces significant changes to the 

accounting by lessees, introducing a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to 

current finance lease accounting, with limited exceptions for short-term leases or leases of low 

value assets. Lessor accounting is not substantially changed. The standard is effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted for entities that have 

adopted IFRS 15.  

 

There are no other pending IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the 

Company’s financial statements. 
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4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 
 

In preparing these financial statements, the Company makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future 

that affect the amounts recorded. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Estimates and assumptions 

are based on historical experience, expectations of future events and other factors considered by management 

to be reasonable. The estimates and assumptions that could result in a material impact to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities are outlined below: 

 

Use of Estimates 
 

(a) Inventory Valuation 
 

 The Company records a write-down to reflect management’s best estimate of the net realizable value of 

inventory which includes assumptions and estimates for future sell-through of units, selling prices as 

well as disposal costs, where appropriate, based on historical experience. Management continually 

reviews the carrying value of its inventory, to assess whether the write-down is adequate, based on 

current economic conditions and an assessment of sales trends. 

 

(b) Stock-based compensation 
 

 The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees and consultants by 

reference to the fair value of equity instruments at the date on which they are granted. Estimating fair 

value for share-based payments requires determining the most appropriate valuation model for a grant 

of equity instruments, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant. This also requires 

determining the most appropriate inputs to the valuation model including the assumptions with respect 

to the expected life of the option, volatility and dividend yield. 

 

  Use of Judgments 
 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Company to make judgments, 

apart from those involving estimates, in applying accounting policies. The most significant judgments 

applying to the Company’s financial statements include the assessment of the Company’s going concern and 

expected life of equipment. 

 

5. REVERSE TAKEOVER 

 

On September 23, 2016, North Group issued 5,805,032 of its common shares for the acquisition of 100% of 

the 5,805,032 issued and outstanding common shares of PBI (Note 1).  As a result of the RTO, the 

shareholders of PBI acquired control of the resulting consolidated group.  Therefore, the transaction was 

accounted for as PBI being the acquirer and North Group being the acquiree.  Under this basis of accounting, 

the consolidated group is considered to be a continuation of PBI, with the net identifiable assets of North 

Group deemed to have been acquired at fair value by PBI.   

 

The fair value of the consideration paid by PBI for the acquisition of North Group was determined based on 

the fair value of the 978,391 shares of the consolidated entity that was held by the existing shareholders of 

North Group on completion of the RTO.  The fair value of these shares was determined to be $0.90 per share 

for total consideration of $880,553.  The consideration paid was first allocated to the fair value of the 

identifiable assets and liabilities of North Group.  Because North Group did not meet the definition of a 

business as defined by IFRS 3, the excess was recorded as an expense in the statement of comprehensive loss 

and attributed to the cost of listing the Company’s shares on the TSXV. 

 

The Company also incurred $285,296 in legal and $54,250 in accounting and audit-related costs in 

conjunction with the reverse takeover transaction, which have been included in the listing costs in the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive loss for the year ended September 30, 2016.  
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5. REVERSE TAKEOVER (cont’d) 
 

Fair value of North Group shares issued for RTO (at 0.90 per share) $ 880,553 
Net assets of North Group acquired:   

Cash ...............................................................................................................   9,747 

Payables .........................................................................................................   (159,303) 

Debt ...............................................................................................................   (567,797) 

Intercompany advances .................................................................................   669,408 

Excess of fair value of consideration paid over net assets acquired (47,943) 

Listing cost on RTO 928,496 

Other listing costs 339,546 

Total listing costs $ 1,268,042 
 

6. APPAREL PRODUCTION DEPOSITS AND INVENTORIES 
 

 Apparel production deposits Inventories 

Seasonal 2016 2015 2016 2015 
Spring / Summer 2017 ............................  $ 50,000 $ - $ - $ - 
Winter, 2016 ...........................................   271,670  -  -  - 
Fall, 2016 ................................................   -  -  402,361   - 
Spring / Summer 2016 ............................  -  220,282  399,063  - 
Winter, 2015 ...........................................   -  -  4,982  209,582 
Fall, 2015 ................................................   -  -  136,130  601,918 

Summer, 2015 ........................................   -  -  -  52,455 

Spring, 2015 ...........................................   -  -  -  82,310 

Winter, 2014 ...........................................   -  -  -  4,775 

Fall, 2014 ................................................   -  -  -  24,039 

Summer, 2014 ........................................   -  -  -  2,685 

Spring, 2014 ...........................................   -  -  -  1,867 

Total Seasonal .......................................   321,670  220,282  942,536  979,631 
Fundamental Collection .........................   -  -  54,935  161,816 

Stylist Business Supplies ........................   -  -  -  44,971 

Other .......................................................   -  -  26,884  7,671 

Total .......................................................  $         321,670  $ 220,282 $ 1,024,355 $ 1,194,089 

  

7. COST OF GOODS 
 

For the years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, cost of goods sold were $2,231,163 and $2,023,877 

respectively, excluding Stylist commissions.  Inventory costs included in cost of goods sold were $1,978,982 

(2015 - $1,828,456). 

 

The Company’s contract manufacturers are located in the People’s Republic of China (“China”) and conduct 

business transactions in United States dollars (USD). 

 
8. STYLISTS COMMISSIONS 
 

Stylists receive commissions on their sales depending on their compensation rank.  Stylists also earn down 

line commissions for each sponsored active recruit. During the year ended September 30, 2016, Stylists sold 

apparel and earned commissions of $855,104 (2015 - $782,988), recorded in cost of sales. 

 

The Company accrues sales commissions that are payable to its Stylists when they elect not to have their 

sales commissions paid by cash immediately and choose to apply outstanding commissions owed against 

future apparel purchases.  As at September 30, 2016, commissions earned but unpaid totalled $116,714 (2015 

- $140,057). 
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9. STYLISTS TRAINING, RECRUITMENT AND MARKETING 
 

Various costs are incurred in the training and recruitment of Stylists and are included in the earnings for the 

period incurred.  Soiree hostesses receive product credit and discounts for hosting sales parties.  From time to 

time, direct-sales industry management consultants are engaged and payments are included in the period 

incurred.   
 2016 2015 

Training ...........................................................................................................  $ 121,009 $ 105,485 

Recruitment .....................................................................................................   49,300  8,299 

Marketing  .......................................................................................................   145,220  85,934 

 $ 315,529 $ 199,718 
 
10. EXECUTIVE AND EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION  

 2016 2015 
Executive and employee salary compensation   
Executive officer salaries ...............................................................................  $ 89,000 $ 73,000 

Executive manager salaries ............................................................................   66,590  135,339 

Employee salaries ...........................................................................................   594,658  670,428 

 $ 750,248 $ 878,767 
   
 2016 2015 
Executive and employee stock-based compensation   
Executive officer stock-based compensation (Note 18)  ................................  $ - $ 101,865 
Executive manager stock-based compensation (Note 18)  .............................   -  34,087 

Employee stock-based compensation (Note 18) ............................................   -  235,594 

 $ - $ 371,546 
  
11. ADMINISTRATIVE  

    2016 2015 
Credit card processing ..................................................................................  $ 77,637 $ 88,482 

Consulting ....................................................................................................   76,357  89,341 

Donations ......................................................................................................   5,946  34,513  

Amortization (Note 15)  ...............................................................................   4,573  7,373  

Insurance ......................................................................................................   9,569  7,963  

Office and miscellaneous .............................................................................   44,023  97,999  

Professional fees ...........................................................................................   765  98,700  

Research and development ...........................................................................   -  1,048  

Travel, meals and entertainment ..................................................................   25,400  12,988 

 $ 244,270 $ 438,407 
 

12. DISTRIBUTION AND INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 

    2016 2015 
Rent and utilities ...........................................................................................  $ 91,061 $ 75,307 

Information technology ................................................................................   70,677  50,372 

 $ 161,738 $ 125,679 
 

13. FINANCE EXPENSE 

     2016 2015 
Interest expense ..................................................................................................  $ 110,752 $ 216,214 

Financing fee to be paid in escrow shares (Note 18)  ........................................   -  1,000,335 

  $ 110,752 $ 1,216,549 
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14. GOVERNANCE, RESTRUCTURING AND PUBLIC COMPANY COSTS 
    2016 2015 

Legal .............................................................................................................  $ 45,886 $ 95,786 

Audit and accounting ....................................................................................   30,632  20,000 

Other .............................................................................................................   63,283  1,300 

 $ 139,801 $ 117,086 
 
15. SOFTWARE AND EQUIPMENT 

 
Computer 
Hardware 

Computer 
Software Total 

Cost    
Balance, September 30, 2014 ......................................................  $ 1,031 $ 36,522 $ 37,553 

Acquisitions .................................................................................   3,489  6,090  9,579 

Balance, September 30, 2015 ......................................................   4,520  42,612  47,132 

Acquisitions .................................................................................   -  -  - 

Balance, September 30, 2016 ....................................................  $ 4,520 $ 42,612 $ 47,132 
 

 
Computer 
Hardware 

Computer 
Software Total 

Accumulated Amortization    
Balance, September 30, 2014 ........................................................  $ 1,031 $ 25,868 $ 26,899 

Amortization ..................................................................................   523  6,850  7,373 

Balance, September 30, 2015 ........................................................   1,554  32,718  34,272 

Amortization ..................................................................................   734  3,839  4,573 

Balance, September 30, 2016 ......................................................  $ 2,288 $ 36,557 $ 38,845 
 

 
Computer 
Hardware 

Computer 
Software Total 

Net Book Value    
As at September 30, 2015 ...........................................................  $ 2,966 $ 9,894 $ 12,860 
As at September 30, 2016 ...........................................................  $ 2,232 $ 6,055 $ 8,287 

 
16. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

  2016 2015 
Trade payables ..............................................................................................  $ 669,297 $ 385,607 

Accruals ........................................................................................................   8,819  107,522 

Other non-trade payables ..............................................................................   97,005  93,225 

 $ 775,121 $ 586,354 
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17. LOANS 
 

Debt Ranked by Seniority  2016 2015 
Current loans:    

Bank debt, current portion ....................................................................  (a) $ 18,430 $ 47,340 

Short-term loans ...................................................................................  (b)  622,866  273,000 

Short-term promissory note ..................................................................  (c)  -  30,000 

   641,296  350,340 

Non-current loans:    

Bank debt, non-current portion ............................................................  (a)  23,440  39,470 

Convertible promissory note ................................................................  (d)  251,758  246,821 

Long-term promissory note ..................................................................  (d), (e)  567,797  187,887 

   842,995  474,178 

  $1,484,291 $ 824,518 
 

(a) Bank debt 
 

 The Company has outstanding long-term loans from the Business Development Bank of Canada (“BDC 

Loans”) which bear interest of BDC’s floating base rate plus a variance of 3.1% to 3.5% per year and 

are due between May 2016 and September 2018.   

 

(b) Short term loans 
 

i) The Company has a revolving loan of $273,000 owing to an apparel finance company of which a 

former Director of the Company was an officer and shareholder. The Company is charged a 

quarterly finance fee (Note 20). 

 

ii)  The Company had a $106,581 demand loan from a director of the Company, bearing interest of 

12% per annum, due June 30, 2016.  The loan currently remains outstanding and the Company is 

currently negotiating repayment terms. 

 

iii) The Company owes $188,292 in the form of an unsecured promissory note bearing interest at 12% 

per annum which matured on August 31, 2015. During the year ended September 30, 2016, the 

Company accrued interest of $21,630 and repaid $21,121.  The promissory note currently remains 

outstanding and the Company is currently negotiating repayment terms.  

 

iv) At December 31, 2015, North Group owed $436,168 to a finance company of which a director of 

the Company is a director and shareholder. Further advances of $90,000 were made and interest of 

$15,118 during the year ended September 30, 2016.  On September 26, 2016, the loan was settled 

with 285,715 units of PBI already held by North Group, valued at $300,000, and other securities 

valued at $186,293.  Subsequent to September 30, 2016, the remaining balance of $54,993 was 

repaid.  

   

(c) Short-term promissory note 
 

 The Company fully repaid a $30,000 shareholder loan, which bore no interest, during the year ended 

September 30, 2016. 

 

(d) Convertible promissory notes 
 

An Executive Manager of the Company owns a $251,758 convertible promissory note due on December 

31, 2017, bearing interest of 8% per annum beginning July 1, 2016 and convertible into 235,068 units of 

the Company. The Company determined that the carrying value of the debt did not materially differ 

from the fair market value, and as a result none of the balance was attributed to the conversion option 

and recorded in equity.    
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17. LOANS (cont’d) 
 

During the year ended September 30, 2016, Northpark Limited (a company with a former director in 

common) advanced $555,000 under a promissory note for a loan of up to $700,000.  Interest at 

September 30, 2016 amounted to $12,797.  The loan is due on December 31, 2017, bears interest at 15% 

per annum and is convertible into units of the Company at $1.05 per unit.  As additional consideration 

for the loan, Northpark Limited received 480,000 warrants (Note 18).  The Company determined that 

the carrying value of the debt did not materially differ from the fair market value, and as a result none of 

the balance was attributed to the conversion option and additional warrants.  Subsequent to September 

30, 2016, Northpark Limited converted $152,250 of the promissory note into 145,000 units of the 

Company at a price of $1.05 per unit.  Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase 

warrant exercisable at $1.25 per share for a period of one year. 

 

(e) Promissory notes, converted 
 

 At September 30, 2015, the following notes payable were converted into shares and warrants of the 

Company under the Unit Financing: 

 
Shares 

received 

Note 
Payable 

converted 
Director and shareholder promissory note  ................................................... 

 
317,123 $ 332,979  

Investor promissory note ..............................................................................  107,191 112,550 

RTO promissory note ....................................................................................  285,714         300,000 

Shareholders promissory note  ......................................................................  220,674 231,708 

 930,702  $      977,237 
 

i) Director and Shareholder promissory note: As at September 30, 2015, a shareholder and a Director 

of the Company was owed a promissory note balance of $332,979, and which was converted to 

317,123 Units at September 30, 2015. 

 

ii) Investor promissory note: As at September 30, 2015, an investor was owed a promissory note 

balance of $112,550, which was converted to 107,191 shares as at September 30, 2015. 

 

iii) RTO promissory note: At September 30, 2015, the Company had a demand loan for $300,000 

from North Group prior to the RTO transaction with and which was converted to 285,714 Units.  

The Chief Executive Officer of the Company personally guaranteed the loan. Subsequent to the 

year-end and the completion of the RTO, the debt was settled between the Company and its 

wholly-owned subsidiary. 

 

iv) Shareholders promissory note: At September 30, 2015, the Company owed $231,708 to five 

shareholders of the Company.  At September 30, 2015, the balance was converted into 220,674 

Units. 

 

18. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares and preferred shares without par value.  

All common shares issued have equal rights to dividends and shareholders are entitled to one vote per share 

at annual and general meetings of the Company.   

 

As at September 30, 2016, the Company had 6,783,423 common shares issued and outstanding. Details of the 

issuance of share capital is as follows. 
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18. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d) 
 

(a) Issued and Outstanding 
  

  During the year ended September 30, 2016, the Company: 

 

i) Issued 1,000,447 units for aggregate gross proceeds of $1,050,469.  Each unit is priced at $1.05 

per unit, with each unit consisting of one common share and one share purchase warrant to 

purchase another share at $1.25 until September 23, 2017.  The Company paid finder’s fees in 

connection with a portion of the Unit Financing, comprised of an aggregate cash fee of $17,143 

(7% of the gross proceeds raised from subscriptions introduced by such finders) and 23,323 

Warrants (Note 18(c)). 

 

ii) Issued 952,700 common shares pursuant to shares held in escrow and recorded as obligation to 

issue shares during the year ended September 30, 2015. 

 

During the year ended September 30, 2015, the Company: 

 

i) Issued 12,500 common shares for proceeds of $25,000 pursuant to non-brokered private 

placements at $2.00 per share.  

ii) Issued 272,995 common shares for proceeds of $286,637 pursuant to non-brokered private 

placements of the Unit Financing. 

iii) Issued 55,000 common shares for proceeds of $13,750 pursuant to the exercise of employee stock 

options, exercisable at $0.25 per share.   

iv) Issued 220,674 common shares with a fair value of $231,708, or $1.05 per Unit, pursuant to 

settlement of amounts due to shareholders of $231,708, including $12,500 for consulting services 

incurred during the year. 

v) Issued 710,028 common shares with a fair value of $745,529, or $1.05 per Unit, pursuant to 

settlement of notes payable of $745,529.   

vi) Committed to issue 952,700 shares to be held in escrow shares with a fair value of $1,000,335, 

which was recorded as a finance expense (Note 13).  

 

(b) Stock Options 
 

During the year ended September 30, 2016, the Company adopted a stock option plan which conforms 

to the rules and policies of the TSXV.  The stock option plan will be a 10% rolling plan, whereby the 

total number of common shares that may be reserved for issuance will be 10% of the issued and 

outstanding shares of the Company at the time of grant, less any shares reserved for issuance pursuant to 

the grant of stock options under any other share compensation arrangements.  

 
 A summary of stock option activity to September 30, 2016 is as follows: 

 

 
Stock Options 
Outstanding 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

September 30, 2014 ............................................................................   405,000 $ 1.06 
Issued ...................................................................................................   394,000  1.58 

Exercised ..............................................................................................   (55,000)  0.25 

Cancelled .............................................................................................   (744,000)  1.39 

September 30, 2015 and 2016 ............................................................   - $ - 
 

During the year ended September 30, 2016, the Company recognized $nil in stock-based compensation 

(2015 - $371,546) on stock options granted and vested.   
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18. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d) 
 

The weighted average grant-date fair value of options awarded during the year ended September 30, 

2015 was $0.75.  The Company used the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model using the following 

weighted average assumptions: 

 2016 2015 
Volatility .........................................................................................................  - 73.2% 

Risk-free interest rate ......................................................................................  - 1.60% 

Expected life of option ....................................................................................  - 4 to 10 years 

Dividend yield .................................................................................................  - 0% 

 
(c) Warrants 

 
 A summary of warrant activity to September 30, 2016 is as follows: 

 
 

    
Warrants 

Outstanding 
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price 
September 30, 2014 ............................................................................   725,000 $ 2.50 
Issued ...................................................................................................   1,203,688  1.25 

Cancelled .............................................................................................   (725,000)  2.50 

September 30, 2015 ............................................................................   1,203,688  1.25 
Issued ...................................................................................................   1,503,770  1.25 

September 30, 2016 ............................................................................   2,707,458 $ 1.25 
 

During the year ended September 30, 2016, the Company issued 1,000,447 warrants pursuant to the 

Unit Financing, 23,323 warrants pursuant to finders’ fees on the Unit Financing, and 480,000 warrants 

pursuant to a debt financing agreement (Note 17).  The warrants were valued using the Black-Scholes 

Option Pricing Model using the following weighted average assumptions: 

 

 2016 2015 
Volatility .........................................................................................................  73.2% - 

Risk-free interest rate ......................................................................................  1.60% - 

Expected life of option ....................................................................................  4 to 10 years - 

Dividend yield .................................................................................................  0% - 

 

The weighted average remaining life on the outstanding warrants at September 30, 2016 is 0.99 years 

(2015 – 1.98 years). 

 

(d) Escrow shares 
 

During the year ended September 30, 2016, the Company issued 952,700 shares to be held in escrow to 

an Executive Officer as a fee for personally guaranteeing loans made to the Company.  These shares 

have a par value of $0.01, and had a fair value of $1,000,335.   

 
19. LOSS PER SHARE 
 

Diluted loss per share for the years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 is the same as basic loss per share as 

the effect of warrants and options would be anti-dilutive.  
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20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

During the year ended September 30, 2016: 

 

i) The Company paid its Chief Executive Officer $89,000 (2015 - $73,000) in salary and in 2015 incurred 

$35,000 as a guarantee fee for providing collateral to another loan.   

 

ii) The Company paid salaries of $66,590 (2015 - $49,477) and interest of $nil (2015 - $8,501) on loans 

from an Executive Manager of the Company. At September 30, 2016, the Executive Manager was owed 

$30,362 for unpaid expense reimbursement, and $251,758 (2015 – $246,821) under a convertible 

promissory note (Note 17(d)). During the year ended September 30, 2016, interest of $4,936 was 

accrued (2015 - $8,501). 

 

iii) An apparel finance company of which a former Director of the Company is a shareholder and officer 

held a revolving loan of $273,000 (2015 - $273,000) (Note 17(b)).  During the year ended September 

30, 2016, finance fees totalling $30,006 were incurred on this revolving loan. 

 

iii)  A director of the Company was owed $100,000 plus $6,681 in accrued interest under a demand loan, 

bearing interest at 12% per annum (Note 17(b)). 

 

iv) The Company incurred a total of $80,175 in fees to former directors and officers of North Group.  At 

September 30, 2016, $52,123 is owing to these parties. 

 

21. INCOME TAXES 
 

The reconciliation of income taxes computed at statutory rates to the reported income tax benefit is as 

follows:  

    2016 2015 
Net loss before income taxes .....................................................................  $ (2,552,809) $ (2,694,492) 

Income tax rate ..........................................................................................   18%  13.50% 

Expected income tax benefit .....................................................................   (458,816)  (350,300) 

Non-deductible expenses ...........................................................................   189,271  48,500 

Escrow bonus shares .................................................................................   –  130,000 

Effect of RTO  (191,993)  - 

Change in valuation allowance ..................................................................   461,538  171,600 

 $ - $ - 
 

 The Company recognizes tax benefits on losses or other deductible amounts generated where it is probable 

the Company will generate taxable income to utilize its deferred tax assets. The Company’s unrecognized 

deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset is recognized consist 

of the following amounts:  

 

    2016 2015 
Deferred income tax assets:   

Non-capital losses .........................................................................................  $ 846,073 $ 457,300 

Net capital losses  71,373  - 

Equipment ....................................................................................................   2,709  3,100 

Share issuance costs  1,783  - 

Unrecognized deferred income tax assets ....................................................   (921,938)  (460,400) 

 $ - $ - 
 

The Company has available for deduction against future taxable income non-capital losses of approximately 

$6,508,000 for Canadian tax purposes. These losses, if not utilized, will expire in 2036. 
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22. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

 

The commercial premises from which the Company carries out its head office and warehouse locations are 

leased from third parties.  This rental contract is classified as operating lease since there is no transfer of risks 

and rewards inherent to ownership.  

 

The minimum rent payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: 

   
2016 .............................................................................................................................................  $ 42,000 

2017 .............................................................................................................................................   42,000 

 $ 84,000 

 

 The Company had no contingent liabilities at September 30, 2016 or 2015.  

 

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

 The Company is exposed to certain financial risks as listed below. There has been no change in the exposure 

to risk, nor its objectives, policies and process for managing the risk from the prior year. Disclosures relating 

to exposure to risks, in particular credit risk, liquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk are 

provided below.  

 

 Credit Risk 
 

 Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 

meet its contractual obligations. The Company’s financial instruments that are exposed to concentrations of 

credit risk are primarily cash. The Company limits its exposure to credit risk with respect to cash by investing 

available cash with major Canadian chartered banks. 

 

 The Company’s cash is not subject to any external restrictions. 

 
 Liquidity Risk 
 

 As at September 30, 2016, the Company had a cash balance of $160,835 (2015 overdraft- $10,845) available 

to settle current liabilities of $1,533,130 (2015 - $1,087,604). The Company’s liquidity follows a seasonal 

pattern based on the timing of inventory purchases.  In addition, as outlined in Note 17, the Company has a 

bank debt of $41,870.  The Company expects to finance its inventory purchases and administrative 

expenditures through cash flows from operations, bank debt, as well as equity financing.  The Company 

expects that its trade and other payables will be discharged within 180 days and its bank debt discharged as 

contractually agreed and as disclosed in Note 17.  

 

 The following table identifies the undiscounted contractual maturities of the Company’s financial liabilities 

as at September 30, 2016: 

 
Within one 

year 

After one 
year but not 
more than 
five years 

After five 
years Total 

Trade payables and other payables .........  $ 775,121 $ - $ - $ 775,121 

Commissions payable .............................   116,714  -  -  116,714 

Short-term loans .....................................   622,896  -  -  622,896 

Notes payable .........................................   -  819,555  -  819,555 

Bank debt ................................................   18,430  23,440  -  41,870 

 $ 1,533,131 $ 842,995 $ - $ 2,376,126 
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d) 
  

Market Risk – foreign exchange risk  
 

At September 30, 2016, a majority of the Company’s inventory purchases are in US dollars.  All of the 

Company’s revenues and future equity raised is expected to be predominantly in Canadian dollars. 

Accordingly, the US dollar denominated financial assets and liabilities are subject to fluctuations in exchange 

rates and can have an effect on the Company’s reported results.   Management has chosen not to hedge its 

foreign exchange risk.   

 
The Company’s foreign exchange risk is primarily limited to currency fluctuations between the Canadian and 

US dollar.  At September 30, 2016, the Company does not have significant financial assets or liabilities 

denominated in US dollars.   

 

In order to protect itself from the risk of losses should the value of the Canadian dollar decline compared to 

the foreign currency, the Company may consider using forward contracts to fix the exchange rate of a portion 

of its expected U.S. dollar requirements. The contracts will be matched with anticipated foreign currency 

purchases.  

 

 Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to cash flow interest rate risk include financial 

assets and liabilities with variable interest rates and consist of cash and the credit facility. As at September 

30, 2016, cash consisted of cash on hand and balances with banks.  

 

 For the year ended September 30, 2016, variable interest expense on the bank debt totalled $5,765. Assuming 

that all other variables remain constant, a 100 basis point change in the average interest rate charged during 

the year would have resulted in an increase or decrease to net earnings (loss) in the amount of $3,119. 

 

 Financial assets and financial liabilities that bear interest at fixed rates are subject to fair value interest rate 

risk. The Company’s bank debt is the only financial liability bearing a fixed interest rate. It is recorded at 

amortized cost. 

 
 Fair Values 
 

 At September 30, 2016 and 2015 the Company’s financial assets and liabilities approximate fair value due to 

their short-term to maturity or because they bear interest at market rates.  

 

24. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
 As at September 30, 2016, the Company’s capital is composed of interest bearing debt, its loan facility and 

bank debt, and shareholders’ equity. The Company’s primary objectives, when managing its capital, are to 

maintain adequate levels of funding to support the manufacturing operations of the Company and to maintain 

corporate and administrative functions. 

 

 The Company defines capital as bank loans, other long-term debt, and equity, consisting of the issued 

common shares, stock options and warrants. The capital structure of the Company is managed to provide 

sufficient funding operating activities. Funds are primarily secured through a combination of equity capital 

raised by way of private placements, short-term debt and bank debt. There can be no assurances that the 

Company will be able to continue raising equity capital and bank debt in this manner. The Company invests 

all capital that is surplus to its immediate needs in short-term, liquid and highly rated financial instruments, 

such as cash and other short-term deposits, which are all held with major financial institutions. 

 

 There were no changes to the Company’s approach to capital management during the year ended September 

30, 2016. 
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25. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO THE REPORTING DATE 
 

i) On October 18, 2016, the Company raised $102,900 through the issuance of 98,000 units of the Unit 

Financing priced at $1.05 per unit.  Each unit consists of one common share and one share purchase 

warrant at $1.25, expiring September 23, 2017. 

ii) Northpark Limited converted $152,250 of debt into 145,000 units of the Company at $1.05 per unit.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Shareholders of North Group Finance Limited: 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of North Group Finance Limited, which 
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the consolidated 
statements of comprehensive loss, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
North Group Finance Limited as at December 31, 2015 and 2014, and its financial performance and its cash flows for 
the for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements which describes 
certain conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about  North 
Group Finance Limited’s  ability to continue as a going concern. 
 

 
 

DALE MATHESON CARR-HILTON LABONTE LLP 
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 

Vancouver, Canada 
April 29, 2016 
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NORTH GROUP FINANCE LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

Notes 2015 2014

ASSETS
Current   
    Cash and cash equivalents 4 62,344$        629,119$      
    Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses  -                6,054            
    Loan receivable 5 65,000          -                
    Investment classified as held for sale 6 222,742        -                

 350,086        635,173        

Long-term investment 5 300,000        -                

Equity accounted investment 6 -                1,127,483     

TOTAL ASSETS 650,086$      1,762,656$   

LIABILITIES
Current
    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 7 35,996$        74,595$        
    Loan payable 8 436,168        400,000        

TOTAL LIABILITIES 472,164        474,595        
EQUITY    
    Capital stock 9 3,650,877     3,650,877     
    Deficit  (3,491,628)    (2,336,851)    
    Reserves  18,673          (25,965)         

TOTAL EQUITY 177,922        1,288,061     

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 650,086$      1,762,656$   

December 31,

 
 
 
 
 
 
On behalf of the Board: 

   

 
 
 

   

/s/ Tom Kusumoto Director /s/ Andrew Mah Director 
 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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NORTH GROUP FINANCE LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
               
 

Notes 2015 2014
    
REVENUE   
    Interest 2,058$          6,727$          

EXPENSES
    Directors' fees 12 25,000          29,000          
    General and administrative 10 135,022        107,098        
    Interest  31,168          16,000          
    Regulatory fees and shareholder communication  17,695          14,120          

208,885        166,218        
Loss before equity accounted investments and other items  (206,827)       (159,491)       
Income (loss) from equity accounted investment 6 (41,725)         162,057        
Write-down of equity accounted investment on reclassification as held for sale 6 (907,654)       -                
Other items 11 1,429            (52,070)         

(947,950)       109,987        
Loss for the year (1,154,777)    (49,504)         
Other comprehensive loss  
Other comprehensive income of equity accounted investment  44,638          (25,965)         
Change in fair value of long-term investments -                (735)              
Reclassification of reserve on disposal of investment -                58,312          

44,638          31,612          

Comprehensive loss for the year (1,110,139)$  (17,892)$       

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 2,935,175     3,078,378     

Basic and diluted loss per common share (0.39)$           (0.02)$           

December 31,

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NORTH GROUP FINANCE LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2014 and 2015 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
               
 

Number Amount OCI

Balance, December 31, 2013 3,091,669  3,666,526$ (49,100)$ (8,477)$     -$        (57,577)$     (2,287,347)$ 1,321,602$    

Net loss -             -              -          -            -          -              (49,504)        (49,504)          
Repurchase and cancellation of common shares (156,494)    (15,649)       -          -            -          -              -               (15,649)          

Other comprehensive loss -             -              -          (735)          -          (735)            -               (735)               

Equity share of Chinook's other comprehensive loss -             -              -          -            (25,965)   (25,965)       -               (25,965)          

Reclassification of reserve on disposal of investments -             -              49,100     9,212        -          58,312        -               58,312           

Balance, December 31, 2014 2,935,175  3,650,877   -          -            (25,965)   (25,965)       (2,336,851)   1,288,061      
Net loss -             -              -          -            -          -              (1,154,777)   (1,154,777)     
Equity share of Chinook's other comprehensive incom -             -              -          -            44,638     44,638        -               44,638           

Balance, December 31, 2015 2,935,175  3,650,877$ -$        -$          18,673$   18,673$      (3,491,628)$ 177,922$       

Total equitytranslatio ts Reserves Deficit

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NORTH GROUP FINANCE LIMITED 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
               
 

2015 2014

CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN):
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
    Loss for the year (1,154,777)$      (49,504)$          
    Items not affecting cash:
        Gain on marketable securities and non-trading warrants -                   (1,611)             
        Loss on long-term investments -                   58,261             
        (Income) loss from equity accounted investment 41,725              (162,057)         
        Write-down of equity accounted investment on reclassification as held for sale 907,654            -                  
        Non-cash interest and fee 36,168              -                  
    Changes in non-cash working capital items
        Accounts receivable and prepaid expenses 6,054                141,401           
        Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (38,599)            15,935             

 -201,775 2,425

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
    Proceeds on disposal of marketable securities -                   18,055             
    Proceeds on disposal of long-term investments -                   641                  
    Loan receivable advances (365,000)          -                  

(365,000)           18,696               
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
    Repurchase and cancellation of common shares -                    (15,649)             

-                    (15,649)             
Change in cash and cash equivalents for the year (566,775)           5,472                 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 629,119            623,647           

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year 62,344$             629,119$           
Supplemental disclosure with respect to cash flows:
    Cash received during the year for interest 2,058$               6,727$               
    Cash paid during the year for interest -$                  -$                  

December 31,

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 
 North Group Finance Limited was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act of the Province of Alberta and 

was continued under the Canada Business Corporations Act on July 8, 2002. On December 21, 2005, the Company was 
continued to the jurisdiction of the Province of British Columbia. The Company’s registered and head office is located 
at Suite 1000, 925 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada V6C 3L2. 

 
 North Group Finance Limited and its wholly-owned subsidiaries are referred to as the “Company”. 
 
 The Company’s common shares are listed for trading on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) under the trading symbol 

“NOR”. 
 
 Proposed RTO Transaction 
 

The Company and Peekaboo Beans Inc. (“Peekaboo”), a private company distributing children’s playwear entered into 
a non-binding letter of intent to conduct a reverse takeover transaction (“Proposed RTO”).  In conjunction with the 
Proposed RTO, Peekaboo’s board has authorized the issuance of 2.4 million units priced at $1.05 per unit with each unit 
consisting of one common share and one share purchase warrant (“Peekaboo Units”). The Proposed RTO is subject to 
approval from North Group’s board of directors and the TSXV.  A binding RTO transaction will be subject to North 
Group shareholder approval.   

 
Going Concern 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which presumes the realization of 
assets and settlement of liabilities in the normal course of operations in the foreseeable future. The continuing operations 
of the Company are dependent upon its ability to raise adequate financing, complete its RTO with Peekaboo and 
commence profitable operations in the future.   
 
These consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification 
of recorded asset amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to 
continue in existence.  The aforementioned factors indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast 
significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  

 
 
2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION  
 
 These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), 
interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) and with the accounting 
policies and selected annual disclosures disclosed in note 3. 

 
 The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on April 29, 2016. 

 
 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
  
 Basis of consolidation  
 

The Company consolidates subsidiaries over which it has control, where control is the power, directly or indirectly, to 
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…) 
 
Basis of preparation (cont’d…) 

  
 These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of North Group Finance Limited and its wholly-owned 

subsidiary, 0719906 BC Ltd. (“0719906”). Inter-company transactions and balances have been eliminated upon 
consolidation.  The Company has begun the process to wind-up and dissolve 0719906. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on historical costs, except 
for investments in associates and joint ventures that are accounted for using the equity method and certain financial 
instruments and investments which are measured at fair value. 
 

 Foreign currency translation 
 
 Items included in the financial statements of each of the Company’s entities are measured using the currency of the 

primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). These financial statements are 
presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s presentation currency.  

 
The Company’s functional and presentation currency is the Canadian dollar. The functional currency of Chinook Tyee 
Industry Limited (“Chinook”) is the Canadian dollar.  Chinook was equity accounted for until the Company made a 
decision to dispose of its investment in partial settlement of a loan payable and classified the investment as held for sale 
(note 6). 
 
Transactions and balances: 
 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of 
the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the period-end exchange rate. Non-monetary items 
measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were determined. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items or on settlement of monetary items are recognized in 
profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive loss in the period in which they arise. 
 
Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognized in other comprehensive income 
in the statement of comprehensive loss to the extent that gains and losses arising on those non-monetary items are also 
recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). Where the non-monetary gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss, 
the exchange component is also recognized in profit or loss. 
 
Foreign operations: 
 
The financial results of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the Company’s presentation 
currency are translated as follows: 
 
 assets and liabilities are translated at period-end exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date; 
 equity is translated at historical rates; and 
 income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period. 

 
Exchange differences arising on translation of the financial statements of foreign operations from the functional currency 
to the presentation currency are adjusted directly to the Company’s foreign currency translation reserve in the statement 
of comprehensive loss. These differences are recognized in the profit or loss and reversed from the foreign currency 
translation reserve in the period in which the operation is disposed of. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…) 
 

Use of estimates and assumptions  
 
 The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period and contingent assets and liabilities.  Significant estimates 
include the fair value measurements and assumptions relating to share purchase warrants and other stock-based 
transactions, financial instruments, recoverability of equity accounted investments, as well as other investments, 
accruals, related party and non-monetary transactions, current and deferred income taxes and the recoverability of 
receivables. 

 
  The Company’s management reviews these estimates and underlying assumptions on an ongoing basis, based on 

experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Revisions to estimates are adjusted for prospectively in the period in which the estimates are revised. 
Actual results could significantly differ from those estimates. 
 
Significant judgments 
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Company to make judgments, apart from 
those involving estimates, in applying accounting policies. The most significant judgments applying to the Company’s 
financial statements include the assessment of the Company’s level of influence in associates and whether or not control 
exists, determination of the nature of joint arrangements and determination of functional currency. 
 
Financial Instruments 

 
Financial assets and liabilities are classified into one of five categories: fair value through profit and loss (“FVTPL”), 
held-to-maturity, loans and receivables, available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets or financial liabilities at amortized 
cost. All financial instruments, including derivatives, are measured at the statement of financial position date at fair 
value except for loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments and financial liabilities, which are measured at 
amortized cost.  
 
The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, other receivables, long-term investments, 
accounts payable and loan payable. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable are classified as receivables and measured at amortized cost. 
Accounts payable and loans, which are measured at amortized cost, are classified as other financial liabilities. 
 
Long-term investments consisting of common shares of Peekaboo are classified as AFS and measured at fair value with 
unrealized gains and losses included in other comprehensive income (loss) and accumulated in reserves as part of 
shareholders’ equity. The Company determines at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that any of its 
long-term investments are impaired. A significant or prolonged decline in fair value of a security below its cost is 
evidence that the asset is impaired. The impairment loss is the difference between the cost and fair value of the security. 
This amount represents the cumulative loss for the security recorded in the fair value adjustment reserve that is 
reclassified to the net loss. Dividends, interest and realized gains and losses are included in the statements of 
comprehensive loss. 
 
Equity accounted investments are those entities in which the Company has significant influence, but does not have 
control over the financial and operating policies of the investees. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the 
Company holds between 20 percent and 50 percent of the voting power of another entity.  
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…) 
 
Financial Instruments (cont’d…) 
 
Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method, whereby the original cost of the investment is adjusted 
for the Company's share of comprehensive income or loss less dividends since significant influence was acquired. When 
net accumulated losses from an equity accounted investment exceed its carrying amount, the investment balance is 
reduced to zero and additional losses are not provided for unless the Company is committed to provide financial support 
to the investee. The Company resumes accounting for its portion of comprehensive income (loss) of the investment 
when the entity subsequently reports comprehensive income and the Company's share of that comprehensive income 
exceeds the share of losses not recognized during the period the equity method was suspended.  
 
Profits or losses resulting from transactions between the Company and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the 
interest in the associate. The Company determines at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that the 
investments in associates are impaired. The financial statements of associates are prepared for the same reporting period 
as the Company. Where necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies of associates into line with 
those of the Company. 
 
Income taxes 
 
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred tax is recognized in profit and loss except 
to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity or in reserves as part of shareholders’ equity. 
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the period using tax rates enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.  
 

 Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse based on the laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date. 

 
 A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against 

which the asset can be realized. 
 

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set 
off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority. 
 
Loss per share 
 

 Basic loss per share is computed by dividing net loss attributable to the equity owners of the Company by the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the reporting period. 

 
Diluted loss per share is determined by dividing the net loss attributable to the equity owners of the Company by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding, adjusted for the dilutive effect of all potential common share 
issuances upon exercise of options, warrants and similar instruments.  For the periods presented the Company had no 
dilutive instruments. 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d…) 
 

 Reserves 
 
Foreign currency translation reserve and OCI reserve 
 
The foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising on translation of the financial statements 
of subsidiaries and equity accounted investments of the Company that have a functional currency other than the 
Canadian dollar. 
  
Fair value adjustments reserve 
 
The investment revaluation reserve records unrealized gains and losses arising on AFS financial assets, net of 
impairment losses and deferred taxes. 
 
New accounting standards, amendments and interpretations 
 

A number of new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations, are not yet effective for the year ended 
December 31, 2015 and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements. These new standards 
are not expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Company. 
 

 
4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

          

2015 2014
Cash at bank 62,344$             81,119$             
Guaranteed investment certificates, maturing within 90 days -                     548,000             

62,344$             629,119$           

   
 

5. LOAN RECEIVABLE 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company provided a $365,000 demand loan to Peekaboo, secured by a 
personal guarantee of the principal by the borrower. The loan bears interest at 12% per annum commencing February 
29, 2016 and a monthly monitoring fee of $2,000.  On September 30, 2015, $300,000 of the loan was converted into 
275,715 Peekaboo Units and is recorded as a long-term investment.  The cost of the Peekaboo Units is considered to 
approximate fair value. 
 
 

6. INVESTMENT CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company classified its investment of 1,349,950 common shares of 
Chinook, which trades on the TSX Venture Exchange, as held for sale and reduced the carrying value of the investment 
to its fair value, resulting in a charge recognized in net loss for the year of $907,654 (note 8). 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the investment was pledged as collateral for a loan payable. 
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7. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
               

2015 2014
Trade payables 5,476$               1,937$               
Accrued liabilities 30,520               72,658               

35,996$             74,595$             

 
8. LOAN PAYABLE  
 

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company borrowed $400,000 as a short-term unsecured loan, which was 
payable on demand and bore interest at the Bank of Canada prime rate plus 1%.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company amended the loan payable by extending the repayment to 
2016, increasing the loan amount to $500,000, adjusting the interest rate to the prime rate plus 5% and pledging 
1,349,950 common shares of Chinook as collateral (note 6). 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company amended the loan payable by extending repayment to 2017 
and remedied the collateral deficiency from the decreased value in the common shares of Chinook by including 285,715 
Peekaboo Units as collateral (note 5).  During the year ended December 31, 2015, loan fees of $5,000 (2014 - $24,000) 
and interest accruing at the prime rate plus 5% of $31,168 (2014 - $Nil) were charged to the loan. 

 
The loan payable is due to a finance company of which a director of the Company is a director and shareholder (note 
12). 
 
    

9. CAPITAL STOCK 
 

As of December 31, 2015, the Company had 2,935,175 Class A Voting Common Shares (“common shares”) issued and 
outstanding.  There are currently no stock options, warrants or other dilutive securities granted, issued or outstanding. 

 
On December 1, 2014, the Company repurchased and cancelled 156,494 common shares for $15,649 as part of an odd-
lot shareholder buyback program. 
 
 

10. GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS 
               

2015 2014
Loan fees (notes 8, 12) 5,000$               24,000$             
Office and supplies 14,625               7,926                 
Professional and consulting fees (note 12) 79,397               75,172               
Rent (note 12) 36,000               -                     

135,022$           107,098$           
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11. OTHER ITEMS 
               

2015 2014
Foreign exchange gain 1,429$               4,580$               
Loss on long-term investments -                     (58,261)              
Realized gain on marketable securities and trading warrants -                     1,611                 

1,429$               (52,070)$            

 
 

12. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURE  
 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company paid independent director board meeting and service fees of 
$25,000 (2014 - $29,000). 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company paid or accrued accounting fees of $28,850 (2014 - $22,750) 
to its Chief Financial Officer’s consulting company. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, loan fees of $5,000 (2014 - $24,000) and loan interest of $31,168 (2014 - 
$16,000) were charged to the loan payable owing to a finance company of which a director of the Company is a director 
and shareholder (note 8). 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company paid office rent of $36,000 (2014 - $Nil) to a company related 
to a director and former President of the Company. 
 
Included in accounts payable at December 31, 2015 is $10,520 owing to two officers of the company for accounting 
fees and expenses incurred on behalf of the Company.   
 
 

13. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 
 The Company’s capital is comprised of shareholders’ equity less reserves and liabilities. Cash and long-term investments 

are managed for liquidity and operational requirements in conjunction with budgeted or expected capital requirements. 
The Company’s objective when managing capital is to maintain its ability to retain sufficient liquidity to make 
investments as opportunities arise and to continue to meet ongoing expenditure and operational needs. 

 
 The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to its capital management strategies when economic 

conditions or risk characteristics of its capital change. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may 
consider the issuance of shares, acquire or dispose of assets or adjust the amount of cash held. 

 
 Currently, the Company’s strategy is to monitor economic conditions and capital markets and to allocate operating 

capital for investment opportunities arising from market conditions. 
 
 The Company expects its current and available capital resources will be sufficient to meet operational needs through its 

2016 operating period. 
 
 The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. The Company’s overall capital management 

strategy remains unchanged from the prior year. 
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14. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 

Fair value 
 

The Company's financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, loan receivable, long-term investments, 
accounts payable and loan payable.  

 
As at December 31, 2015, the Company’s financial instruments are considered to approximate fair value. 
 
The Company is exposed to varying degrees of financial instrument related risks. The Board of Directors approves and 
monitors the risk management processes, inclusive of investment policies, counterparty credit limits and liquidity 
concerns. The more significant risk exposure and the way in which such exposure is managed is described below.  
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other 
party to incur a financial loss.  The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is on its cash held in bank accounts. The 
majority of cash is deposited in bank accounts held with major banks in Canada.  As most of the Company’s cash is 
held by one bank there is a concentration of credit risk.  This risk is managed by using major banks that are high credit 
quality financial institutions as determined by rating agencies.  
 
Price risk 
 
Fluctuations in the value of long-term investments affect the level and timing of recognition of gains and losses on 
securities held and cause changes in realized and unrealized gains and losses. General economic conditions, political 
conditions and many other factors can also adversely affect the stock and bond markets and, consequently, the value of 
the equity and fixed income investments held. The Company has policies to limit and monitor its exposure to individual 
issuers and classes of issuers of equity securities. 
 
Currency risk 
 
The Company may hold cash in foreign currencies and make investments in foreign companies, equities and financial 
instruments. Accordingly, there is risk of losses from volatility in foreign currency fluctuations.  At December 31, 2015, 
the Company’s did not have any financial instruments denominated in foreign currencies. 

 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates. The risk that the Company will realize a loss as a result of a decline in the fair value of 
its investment in money market funds included in cash is limited as the money market funds may be redeemed at any 
time without penalty. The Company’s loan payable has a fixed interest rate and the cash flows are not affected by 
changes in interest rates. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet financial obligations as they 
fall due. The Company addresses liquidity risk through management of its capital structure as outlined in note 13. 
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15. INCOME TAXES 
 
 Income tax expense varies from the amount that would be computed by applying a combined federal and provincial 

income tax rate of 26% (2014 - 26%) to income before taxes as follows: 
             

2015 2014
Loss before income taxes (1,154,777)$       (49,504)$            
Expected income tax recovery (300,242)$          (12,871)$            
Permanent differences (12,854)              77,428               
Change in valuation allowance 215,121             (73,337)              
Impact of tax rate changes and differences 117,616             (31,932)              
Impact of expiring losses 26,114               -                     
Other items (45,755)              40,712               

-$                   -$                   

 

 
 
The significant components of the Company's deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:   

 
2015 2014

Capital loss carry-forwards 286,510$           305,657$           
Non-capital loss carry-forwards 563,700             447,049             
Property and equipment 3,873                 3,873                 
Marketable securities and long-term investments 137,683             20,067               
Resource development and exploration expenses 292,005             292,005             
Net deferred tax assets 1,283,771          1,068,651          
Less: valuation allowance (1,283,771)         (1,068,651)         

-$                   -$                   

 

 
The Company has non-capital tax losses carried forward approximating $2,263,717 in Canada, expiring from 2015 
through 2035 that can potentially be used to reduce future taxable income. 
 
The Company has gross capital losses approximating $2,203,926 available for deduction against future capital gains 
that if not utilized will carry forward indefinitely. Subject to certain restrictions, the Company has available resource 
development and exploration expenditures totaling approximately $1,123,098 potentially available to reduce taxable 
income of future years.   
 
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized because management believes it is not sufficiently probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which the Company can utilize the benefits. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 

Results of Operations as at March 31, 2018 and 2017 
 
The following is management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of Peekaboo Beans Inc.’s financial 

condition and results of operations for three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017, and should be read 

in conjunction with the interim financial statements and related notes for the same reporting periods. The 

MD&A will also outline the economic operating conditions and how these influence business activities 

of Peekaboo Beans Inc. 

 

All references herein refer to the interim financial statements and related notes for three months ended 

March 31, 2018 and 2017, except where otherwise indicated. All financial information is expressed in 

Canadian dollars (“$”). Unless otherwise indicated, a reference to the “Company” or “Peekaboo” means 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. The Company’s fiscal year is the year ended September 30
th “

(“year-end”). 

Reference to a “fiscal year” means the Company’s year commencing on October 1
st
 of that year and 

ending on September 30
th

 of the following year. For example, fiscal 2018 means the period beginning 

October 1
st
, 2017 and ending September 30

th
, 2018. Reference to “reported quarter” means the three 

months commencing on January 1, 2018 and ending March 31, 2018. In addition, reference will be made 

to “Notes”, which refers to the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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PART 1 – OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK 

 

The Company 

 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. is a direct-sales retailer of children’s apparel operating in Canada and the United 

States of America (“US”).  Peekaboo is listed on the TSX Venture Exchange in Canada (Symbol: 

BEAN) and on the OTCQB in the US (Symbol: PBBSF). The company is the first and only Canadian 

listed company with a majority female board of directors and executive management. 

 

The Company designs and manufactures children’s apparel that is stylish, functional and allows free, 

unstructured play for children. Peekaboo is helping to create a revolutionary lifestyle brand around the 

growing culture of children’s play by focusing on the Company’s core customers, “Parents”. 

 

Peekaboo’s design team in British Columbia, Canada works with child development specialists, 

educators, and therapists to review, evaluate and create new designs that take into consideration the 

developmental needs of children by creating value with versatile pieces and longevity through quality 

construction.   

 

The fabric that Peekaboo designs in-house for its apparel are third-party tested to guarantee that it is 

aligned with OEKO-TEK® Standard 100, an independent testing and certification system for all stages 

of production from textile raw materials to end products.  The requirement is that all components of an 

item comply with the required criteria without exception, including the outer material, sewing threads, 

linings, prints, etc., as well as non-textile accessories such as buttons, zip fasteners, rivets, etc. for 

harmful substances and sensitivity to skin contact.   

 

The Company does not own or operate any manufacturing facilities.  Peekaboo works closely with its 

third-party contract manufacturers who adhere to a vendor code of ethics regarding social and 

environmental sustainability practices.  Peekaboo relies on a limited number of suppliers to provide 

custom designed fabrics and follows the production of its apparel from raw fiber to finished garment.    

 

Peekaboo’s apparel is sold exclusively through a direct-sales network of independent sales 

representatives or “Stylists” in Canada and the US.  The Company expanded into the US in September 

2017.  The Company does not own, lease or operate any retail store locations.   Peekaboo’s direct-sales 

business offers Stylists the business opportunity to generate income and not sacrifice time with their 

families.   

 

The direct-sales channel allows Peekaboo’s Stylists to market actual products directly to customers, 

provide customers with a higher level of service and encourage repeat purchases through building 

personal relationships.  As Stylists purchase the apparel themselves for their children, they can provide 

the first-hand testimonial of the quality of the apparel, which serves as a powerful sales tool and is 

strengthened by ongoing personal contact and education between the Stylists and Parents. The 

Company’s network of Stylists encourages friends to host sales parties or “Pop-ups” in their homes to 

demonstrate and sell the Company’s children’s apparel. In return for hosting, the hosts receive free 

products and discounts.  Pop-ups also act as business opportunities for Stylists to gain engagement to 

book more parties, present the direct-sales business opportunity to potential Stylists and market 

Peekaboo’s brand and apparel.  Orders are processed through Peekaboo’s online system, and payments 

are made at Pop-ups or directly on the Company’s website, usually by credit cards. 
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In previous years, Peekaboo produced four seasonal collections each year with the Fall collection being 

the biggest season for sales.  Starting in January 2017, the Company adopted a new rhythm to launch six 

collections in one calendar year, with the expectations that more frequent launches would generate more 

consistent sales and keep the Stylists and customers continuously engaged with Peekaboo’s products. In 

evaluation of this product launch strategy, however, management has decided to resume its four seasonal 

collections rhythm in the calendar year 2018, which is better aligned with seasonal trend of its product. 

Management plans to source for special product launches to engage with Stylists and customers in 

between launches. During the second quarter of 2018, the Company has collaborated with other 

Canadian brands that share similar values with Peekaboo to create special product drops, including 

underwears and windbreaker jackets. The initiative has proved to be a success as the additional product 

mix incentivizes our loyal customers to increase their order size.  

 

Peekaboo’s direct-sales business model allows the business to grow quickly with modest investment 

capital as most of the Company’s costs are fixed once the investment has been made in the independent 

sales representative network.  Peekaboo incurs minimal incremental direct costs to add new Stylists to 

the Company’s existing markets.  Stylist compensation varies directly with sales. Unlike other children’s 

apparel manufacturers, direct-sales model does not require significant expenditures for multiple retail 

store rent, retail sales staff and capital to hold inventory across a retail store network or costs for 

marketing and returned goods if sold through independent retail store network.  In direct-sales industry, 

the Stylists bear the majority of the consumer marketing expenses and sponsors coordinate a good 

proportion of the recruiting and training of new Stylists.  

 

Peekaboo’s primary drivers for sales growth are growing the Stylists network, retaining current Stylists 

and increasing the average sales per Stylist.  Other drivers that influence growth include Stylist and sales 

manager training and the time and costs to market and recruit new Stylists.  Investing in brand 

awareness through campaigns promoting the importance of play to children’s development increases the 

Stylist retention rate, which is largely influenced by Peekaboo’s unique mission, culture and quality 

apparel.  To be an active Stylist, a sales representative must achieve $900 in personal sales in a twelve-

month period on a rolling basis.  

 

As at March 31, 2018, the Company has 1,133 Stylists across Canada and the US.  Stylists join 

Peekaboo’s opportunity for a number of reasons. Many become a Stylist to earn part-time money to 

contribute to their family’s income while receiving product discounts, and some are drawn to Peekaboo 

because they can be their own boss and earn substantial rewards based on their skills and hard work.  

Peekaboo has built a community where the Company helps parents across Canada and the US connect 

with each other, who share the same belief in play as the Company, and together promote a playful 

lifestyle for children while also supporting their families at home.  Peekaboo has ensured that there is an 

opportunity for everyone of any lifestyle to become a Stylist.  

 

The Company’s recurring cash requirements include executive and employee salary compensation, 

distribution and information technology costs, administrative and public company costs.  

 

The Company’s recurring working capital requirements include financing the lead-time for inventory 

and apparel production deposits. The Company places apparel production deposits several months 

before the final purchase order and pays for goods before shipment to Canada from Vietnam, which 

happens several weeks before the Company receives payment for goods sold.  Up to the public listing of 
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the Company in late September 2016, the Company has used interest-bearing loans from related parties 

to fund the working capital required for the production-to-payment cycle. 

 

The Company sells its apparel and holds cash in Canadian and United States Dollars. The fluctuation in 

the price of the Canadian dollar, United States Dollars and to a lesser degree, the Vietnamese dong may 

affect financial performance. The economic health of the economies of North America and to a lesser 

extent Vietnam may affect the financial performance of the Company.   

 

Highlights during the most recent quarter 

  
 Raised $2.2 million in gross funding through equity financing  

 Improved gross margin to 35.8%  

 Continued on US expansion growth in Q2  
 

Overall Performance  
 

Growth strategies require the Company to fund a permanent source of working capital for increased 

inventory and apparel production deposits to fund the time when apparel orders are paid for and when 

the Company receives payment from Stylists and customers. The advantage of the direct-sales business 

model is that it allows Peekaboo the flexibility on when to expand as the majority of expansion costs are 

variable in nature and borne on the Stylist.  During the first six months of fiscal 2018, the Company 

raised $3.73 million gross proceeds in private placements at $0.60 and $0.75 to provide working capital 

for apparel production deposits and US expansion.  

 

US Expansion Update 

 

The Company executed a soft launch in the US in September 2017 to begin building the US Stylist 

network and promoting Peekaboo’s brand while the Company further prepares for a global launch with 

integrated software for both countries.  
 

In light of the growing Stylist network in both Canada and the expanding US network, the Company 

hired a new Director of Sales and Field Development, Ms. Cindy Tokoly, in October 2017. Ms. Tokoly 

previously held the same position with Matilda Jane Clothing, a US children direct sales company, since 

its inception. Ms. Tokoly’s primary focus in the Quarter was to grow the Stylist base while coaching the 

Stylists to enhance their ability to sell and sponsor.  

 

The Company has developed an interim compensation plan along with incentive programs to support 

and facilitate the US Stylists recruitment. In the second quarter of 2018, management introduced an 

enrollment initiative that came with a two-piece outfit at a price of $49. The low entry price proved to 

successfully incentivize Stylists to join since the initial commitment of $49 is minimal compared to 

other direct-sales company. As at May 29, 2018, the Company has recruited 137 US Stylists across 38 

states. This equates to 251% growth since the Company’s fiscal year end. Management’s focus in the 

next quarter is to launch a global integration of Canadian and US software systems.  

 

Management is encouraged to see the initial results of the well-executed soft launch plan. The Company 

has seen strong recruitment of US Stylists in the second quarter of 2018, resulting in 9% of the sales in 

the second quarter having come from the US market. 
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With initiatives of software integration to deliver enhanced customer experiences, management is 

confident that the Company is well-positioned for strong growth results in North America later this year. 

 

PART 2 – FINANCIAL PERFORMACE REVIEW 

 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

 

The following selected financial data as reported by the Company for the three months ended March 31, 

2018, which is the second quarter of financial year ending September 30, 2018, has been summarized 

from the Company’s unaudited interim consolidated financial statements and are qualified in their 

entirety by reference to, and should be read in conjunction with, such financial statements.   

 

The Company has not presented quarterly information for its past eight quarters, as it has not prepared 

quarterly financial statements for such quarters as a private company prior to fiscal 2016.  

 

 2018 2018 2017 2017 2017 2017 

 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 

Revenue $ 752,227 $ 760,541 $ 862,160 $ 976,381 $ 658,635 $ 861,131 

Net loss  (935,345)   (677,128)  (1,394,063)  (792,285)   (476,021)   (338,035) 

Loss per share,  

basic and diluted  $ (0.07) $ (0.06) $ (0.16) $ (0.08) $ (0.07) $ (0.05) 

 

Summary of Reported Period Results 

 

For the three months ended March 31, 2018 

 

The following analysis of the Company’s operating results for the three months ended March 31, 2018, 

includes a comparison to the corresponding comparative three months ended March 31, 2017. Please 

refer to the Interim Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss. 

   

 March 31, 

2018 

%
1 

March 31, 

2017 

%
1 

YoY%
2 

Sales $  752,227 - $  658,635 - 14% 

Cost of sales      

Cost of goods sold 375,667 50% 371,684 56% 1% 

Stylist commission 107,477 14% 130,617 20% -18% 

Gross profit 269,083 36% 156,334 24% 72% 

Operating costs 627,102 83% 323,553 49% 94% 

      

Number of Stylists 1,133  750  51% 

(1) As a percentage (%) of sales. 

(2) Year-over-year (YoY) change as a percentage (%). 
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In this quarter, management’s focus was to develop diversified initiatives to recruit potential new 

Stylists and to support the Stylists to engage new customers. Some key initiatives include: 

 A $49 enrollment opportunity for Stylists that incentives recruitment by minimizing the direct-

sales entry barrier 

 Held three Company-host pop-ups across Canada to support the Stylists in creating excitement in 

their community and reaching new customers by utilizing past seasons’ vintage inventory at a 

discounted price in exchange of no commission being paid in the three pop-ups 

 Encouraged Stylists to attend vendor events to grow their business by promoting surprise events 

that came with non-commissionable, past seasons’ vintage products at a discounted price 

 

Sales during the second quarter of 2018 was 14% more than the comparative period in 2017 largely due 

to the successes of the aforementioned initiatives.  In the meantime, the initiatives also helped expand 

48% of the active Stylists base, to 1,113 active Stylists at March 31, 2018, compared to 750 in the 

comparative period.   

 

Cost of goods sold only had a slight increase to $375,667 compared to $371,684 in the comparative 

period while sales had grown 14%, because management has continued limiting discounts for products 

sold at regular channels, that is, the Stylists’ pop-ups and the Company has contracted a new factory 

partner to source Peekaboo’s products at better margins. Thus, management believes that offering past 

seasons’ vintage inventory at a discount to support the Stylists in engaging new customers will pay back 

in the future considering that cash would be realized from older inventory to purchase new seasons’ 

products, to which the Company and Stylists will have a large customer base to sell.  

 

Stylist commission decreased to $107,477 compared to $130,617 in the comparative period due to 

management’s initiatives to adjust commission paid on discounted products and the aforementioned 

sales initiatives were non-commissionable. As such, gross profit as a percentage of sales increased to 

36% compared to 24% in the comparative period. 

 

The Company’s main markets in order of sales were Alberta (37%), British Columbia (33%) and the 

Maritime provinces (13%). 

 

Operating costs totaled $1,155,516, which doubled compared to the prior comparative period due to the 

addition of support staff, technology infrastructure and consulting services relating to the US expansion 

launch and to support a generally increasing Stylist and customer base. Operating expenses related to the 

operation of a direct-sales company include investment in Stylists training, recruitment and marketing, 

administrative, distribution and information technology, salary compensation for executives and 

employees. Operations of a public company further include professional fees, public company costs, 

investor relations and share-based compensation.  

 

Executive and employee salaries and administrative expenses increased due to the Company’s US 

expansion initiative, which requires the Company to expand the team and hire additional employees and 

contractors for Stylists and head office support. As of March 31, 2018, the Company has 19 full and 

part-time employees in Canada. 

 

The Company incurred approximately $64,221 in distribution and information technology costs, 

compared to $34,547 in the comparative period in 2017. The increase was solely due to supporting two 
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software systems in Canada and the US, which management is working to integrate in the third quarter 

of 2018. 

 

The Company reported an operating loss of $886,433 in second quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to 

$221,459 in the comparative period of 2017. 

 

Investor relations expense was $402,275 for the quarter compared to nil in the prior comparative period 

as the Company continued several marketing and media services campaigns to further develop its 

presence and exposure in the capital market which greatly supplemented the Company’s effort to 

successfully closed two rounds of private placements in the current period, raising gross proceeds of 

$3.73 million on the equity markets.  

 

Other expenses include interest and finance costs, and foreign exchange losses. Loan interest and other 

finance costs decreased to $54,121 compared to $253,045 in the comparative period, due to repayment 

or conversion of loans.  
 

The Company reported a net loss of $935,345 in the second quarter of fiscal 2018 compared to a loss of 

$476,021 in the comparative period in 2017. The basic loss per weighted average number of common 

shares was $0.07 and a loss of $0.07 for the respective periods.  
 

The management believes that the Company is positioned to continue seeing a double-digit growth in 

the second half of 2018 as the Company further develops new sales initiatives in expanding the 

Company’s product reach and support its quickly-growing Stylists base. The Company also expects to 

generate great synergy from the US-Canada software integration in terms of customer shopping 

experience and Stylists’ selling activity. 
 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 

The following analysis of the Company’s liquidity and capital resources for the three months ended 

March 31, 2018, includes a comparison to the corresponding, comparative year ended September 30
th

 

2017. Please refer to the Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows. 
 

The Company’s principal source of funds available are equity financing and to a lesser degree, debt 

financing.  
 

The Company’s tangible assets include cash, inventories, and apparel production deposits. Other assets 

required for the operation of the Company include trade receivables and software and equipment. Direct 

sales companies do not account for the value for their independent sales network that sells and 

distributes its apparel or its brand.   

 

Cash increased 375% to $872,545, during the reported period due to private placements closing in the 

current period, while trade receivables were immaterial as the Company receives payment in full when a 

customer places a purchase order with an independent sales representative on the Company’s website 

using their credit cards. The difference is due to the credit card companies’ processing time. 
 

Apparel production deposits increased by 68% to $106,422 as the Company provided deposits on the 

increased 2018 Fall and Winter inventory lines. 
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Inventories increased 51% to $1.7 million, during the reported period due to the requirement to build up 

inventory for market expansion into the US and the special product mix initiatives that the Company 

introduces this year. 

 

Prepaid expense decreased by 61% to $82,485 compared to $209,541 the previous year. 

 

Liabilities repayable within the year consisted of trade payables and accrued liabilities of $329,465, 

loans that are current totaling $278,250 and commission payable to Stylists of $108,189. Commissions 

owing to Stylists occur when Stylists elect not to have their sales commissions paid to them in cash but 

instead applied towards future apparel purchases. 

 

Current loans predominately include $278,250 owing to a Canadian apparel finance company.  During 

the current period, a demand loan from a venture capital company for $229,643 was repaid.   

 

Trade payables decreased to $329,465 from $671,213.  

 

The shareholder equity (deficiency) decreased and reached to a positive figure of $1,647,677 during the 

reported period compared to a deficit of $136,062 a year earlier due to the issuance of shares in private 

placements. 
 

The statement of cash flows shows the structure of and changes in cash for the six months ended March 

31, 2018 and 2017. The statement contains cash changes in operating activities, investing activities and 

financing activities. During the reported period, the Company generated $3,309,289 of cash from private 

placements to hold $872,545 at period end.  Operating activities used $2,355,474 in cash predominately 

from operating losses, acquisition of inventory and repayment of liabilities during the period.  Other 

than the aforementioned, other uses and generation of cash flows did not materially affect cash flows 

during the reported period. 

 

PART 3 – CAPITALIZATION
 

 
As of March 31, 2018: 

 

Shares 

 

Peekaboo had 17,646,533 common shares outstanding, of which 1,742,228 common shares are held in 

escrow. 

 

On December 20, 2017, the Company issued 2,488,500 common shares pursuant to private placement at 

a price of $0.60 per share for aggregate gross proceeds of $1,493,100.  A commission of $101,400 was 

paid and an aggregate of 169,066 Agents warrants were issued.  Each warrant is exercisable for one 

common share at a price of $0.60 per common share for a period of 24 months, valued at $68,643.  A 

corporate finance fee was settled with the issuance of 105,666 common shares, valued at $63,400 and 

recorded as share issuance cost. 

 

On January 23, 2018, the Company completed a brokered private placement and issued an aggregate of 

2,983,333 units of the Company at a price of $0.75 per Unit for gross proceeds of approximately $2.2-

million.  Each unit consisted of one share and one half of one share purchase warrant to purchase 
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another share at $1.00 for a period of two years.  The share purchase warrants were valued at $417,667 

using the residual method.  The Company paid share issuance costs of $267,136 and issued 238,666 

share purchase warrants exercisable for two years at $0.75 for agent’s commission.  The finders’ 

warrants were valued at $90,989.  The Company also issued the agents 149,166 Units as a corporate 

finance fee in connection with the private placement.  The share purchase warrants on the Units issued 

as corporate finance fee were valued at $20,883 using the residual method. 

 

Warrants 

 

The Company has the following warrants outstanding: 

 

 300,000 warrants outstanding exercisable at $0.80 per share until March 30, 2019 

 1,428,429 warrants outstanding exercisable at $0.80 per share until May 12, 2019 

 476,385 warrants outstanding exercisable at $0.80 per share until June 29, 2019 

 439,055 warrants outstanding exercisable at $0.80 per share until September 28, 2019 

 169,066 warrants outstanding exercisable at $0.60 per share until December 20, 2019 

 1,491,666 warrants outstanding exercisable at $1.00 per share until February 16, 2020 

 313,249 warrants outstanding exercisable at $0.75 per share until February 16, 2020 

 

Stock Options 

 

During fiscal 2017, 855,000 and 20,000 stock options were issued to management, staff and consultants, 

respectively on May 12
th

, 2017 and September 26
th

, 2017. The options are exercisable into one common 

share at $0.60 until May 12
th

, 2019 and September 26
th

, 2019, respectively. 

 

During the six months ended March 31, 2018, 750,000 stock options were issued to consultants and 

management, exercisable into one common share of the Company at exercise prices of $0.60 to $0.80.  
 

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares 
 

The weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the second quarter of fiscal 2018 was 

13,643,840 and 7,031,692 for the second quarter of fiscal 2017. The weighted average of outstanding 

shares incorporates any changes of shares outstanding over a reported period and is used to calculate key 

financial measures such as earnings per share for the period. 

 

Other than the aforementioned, no other dilutive securities were outstanding at year-end. 
 

Part 4 – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 

Transactions Between Related Parties 

 

During the six months ended March 31, 2018: 

 

(a) The Company paid its Chief Executive Officer $44,500 (2017 - $45,558) and its Chief Financial 

Officer $39,250 (2017 - $40,904) in salary. 

 

(b) The Company paid $33,171 (2017 - $nil) in share-based compensation to officers and directors. 
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(c) The Company owes its Chief Financial Officer $245,202 under a convertible promissory note. 

Total interest accrued during the six months ending March 31, 2018 is $14,780 (2017 - $9,873). 

 

(d) The Company borrowed $123,000 from its Chief Executive Officer and $107,000 from its Chief 

Financial Officer by way of a bridge shareholder loan, bearing interest at 12% per annum. The 

shareholder loans were fully repaid along with accrued interest of $1,352 and $1,089 

respectively. 

 

Forward-Looking Statements 

 

This document contains forward-looking statements. The Company’s representatives may also make 

forward-looking statements orally from time to time. 
 

Statements in this document that are not historical facts, including statements about the Company’s 

beliefs and expectations, recent business and economic trends constitute forward-looking statements. 

Forward-looking statements include, without limitation, statements regarding the outlook for future 

operations, forecasts of future revenue and expenditures, market conditions or other business plans. 

Forward-looking statements include statements regarding the intent, belief or current expectations of the 

Company, primarily on the results of operations, financial position or cash flows of the Company. 
 

The statements are based on current plans, estimates, and projections and are subject to change. A 

number of factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-

looking statement, and the Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly any changes in light of 

new information or future events. 
 

Shareholders and potential investors are cautioned that any such forward-looking statements are not 

guarantees and involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ from those in the forward-

looking statements as a result of various factors, such as general economic and business conditions 

particularly in Canada and North America, including changes in interest rates, actions by government 

authorities in Canada, including changes in government regulation in the direct-sales industry; political 

conditions and future decisions by the Company's directors or executive officers in response to changing 

conditions; the ability to execute prospective business plans; and misjudgments in the course of 

preparing forward-looking statements. 

 

Material factors and assumptions underlying the Company's expectations regarding forward-looking 

statements include, among others: the ability of the Company to obtain financing on acceptable terms; 

that the Company will be able to maintain appropriate levels of liquidity and working capital; stability in 

the global economic environment particularly in Canada and Vietnam and broadly in regard to North 

America and Canadian interest rates; and that interest rates and foreign exchange rates, particularly with 

regard to the Canadian dollar, the United States of America (“United States”) dollar (“US$”) and to a 

lesser degree the Vietnamese dong, the currency of Vietnam, will not vary materially from current 

levels. 

 

Shareholders and potential investors are advised that these cautionary remarks expressly qualify in their 

entirety all forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or persons acting on its behalf 

contained in this MD&A. 
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This forward-looking statement dated May 29, 2018, references CSA Staff Notice 51-330 Guidance 

regarding the Application of Forward-Looking Information Requirements under National Instrument 51-

102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations dated November 20, 2009. 
 

Accounting Policy 
 

Financial information for fiscal 2018 and 2017 presented and discussed in this MD&A is prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

 

Significant accounting policies and outline the measurement and other accounting policies that are 

relevant to understanding Peekaboo’s financial statements, business operations, and the direct-selling 

industry. 

 

Changes in accounting policies distinguish how the Company should present and disclose different types 

of accounting changes in its financial statements. Changes in accounting policies need to be applied 

retroactively while changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively. 

 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments outline the estimates and assumptions that management 

made that can significantly affect Peekaboo’s financial statements and include inventory valuation, 

income taxes, and stock-based compensation during fiscal 2018. 
 

-End of Document- 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 

Results of Operations as at September 30
th

, 2017 and 2016. 
 
The following is management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of Peekaboo Beans Inc.’s financial 

condition and results of operations for the year ended September 30
th

, 2017 and 2016, and should be 

read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and related notes for the same reporting 

periods. The MD&A will also outline the economic operating conditions and how these influence 

business activities of Peekaboo Beans Inc. 

 

All references herein refer to the audited financial statements and related notes for the year ended 

September 30
th

, 2017 and or 2016, except where otherwise indicated. All financial information is 

expressed in Canadian dollars (“$”). Unless otherwise indicated, a reference to the “Company” or 

“Peekaboo” means Peekaboo Beans Inc. The Company’s fiscal year is the year ended September 30
th 

“
(“year-end”). Reference to a “fiscal year” means the Company’s year commencing on October 1

st
 of 

that year and ending on September 30
th

 of the following year. For example, fiscal 2017 means the period 

beginning October 1
st
, 2016 and ending September 30

th
, 2017. In addition, reference will be made to 

“Notes”, which refers to the Notes to the Financial Statements. 
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PART 1 – OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK 

 

The Company 

 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. is a direct-sales retailer of children’s apparel operating in Canada and the United 

States of America (“US”).  Peekaboo is listed on the TSX Venture Exchange in Canada (Symbol: 

BEAN) and first and only Canadian listed company with a majority female board of directors and 

executive management. 

 

The Company designs and manufactures children’s playwear that is stylish, functional and allows free, 

unstructured play for children. Peekaboo is helping to create a revolutionary lifestyle brand around the 

growing culture of children’s play by focusing on the Company’s core customers, “Parents”. 

 

Peekaboo’s design team in British Columbia, Canada works with child development specialists, 

educators, and therapists to review, evaluate and create new designs that take into consideration the 

developmental needs of children by creating value with versatile pieces and longevity through quality 

construction.   

 

The fabric that Peekaboo designs in-house for its playwear apparel are third-party tested to guarantee 

that it is aligned with OEKO-TEK® Standard 100, an independent testing and certification system for 

all stages of production from textile raw materials to end products.  The requirement is that all 

components of an item comply with the required criteria without exception, including the outer material, 

sewing threads, linings, prints, etc., as well as non-textile accessories such as buttons, zip fasteners, 

rivets, etc. for harmful substances and sensitivity to skin contact.  In addition, Peekaboo conducts its 

own third-party lab testing to ensure its dying mills are adhering to the Company’s standards that its 

fabric does not contain harmful levels of heavy metals and other harsh additives that are found in most 

children’s clothing fabrics and dyes.  

 

The Company does not own or operate any manufacturing facilities.  Peekaboo works closely with its 

third-party contract manufacturers who adhere to a vendor code of ethics regarding social and 

environmental sustainability practices.  Peekaboo relies on a limited number of suppliers to provide 

custom designed fabrics and follows the production of its apparel from raw fiber to finished garment.    

 

Peekaboo’s apparel is sold exclusively through a direct-sales network of independent sales 

representatives or “Stylists” in Canada and the US.  The Company expanded into the US in September 

2017.  The Company does not own, lease or operate any retail store locations.   Peekaboo’s direct-sales 

business offers Stylists the business opportunity to generate income and not sacrifice time with their 

families.  To date, the Company has paid out approximately $2.7 million in commissions to its Stylists. 

 

The direct-sales channel allows Peekaboo’s Stylists to market actual products directly to customers, 

provide customers with a higher level of service and encourage repeat purchases through building 

personal relationships.  As Stylists purchase the apparel themselves for their children, they can provide 

the first-hand testimonial of the quality of the apparel, which serves as a powerful sales tool and is 

strengthened by ongoing personal contact and education between the Stylists and Parents.  The 

Company’s network of Stylists encourages friends to host sales parties or “Pop-ups” in their homes to 

demonstrate and sell the Company’s children’s playwear apparel. In return for hosting, the hostesses 

receive free products and discounts.   
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In previous years, Peekaboo produced four seasonal collections each year with the Fall collection being 

the biggest season for sales.  Starting in January 2017, the Company has adopted a new rhythm to launch 

six collections in one calendar year, with the expectations that more frequent launches will generate 

more consistent sales and keep the Stylists and customers continuously engaged with Peekaboo’s 

products. Orders are processed through Peekaboo’s online system, and payments are made at Pop-ups or 

directly on the Company’s website, usually by credit cards.  In addition to being the most significant 

source of revenues, Pop-ups also act as business opportunities for Stylists to gain engagement to book 

more parties, present the direct-sales business opportunity to potential Stylists and market Peekaboo’s 

brand and apparel.   

 

As at September 30, 2017, the Company has 901 Stylists across Canada and the US.  Stylists join 

Peekaboo’s opportunity for a number of reasons. Many become a Stylist to earn part-time money to 

contribute to their family’s income, and some are drawn to Peekaboo because they can be their own boss 

and earn substantial rewards based on their skills and hard work.  Peekaboo has built a community 

where the Company helps parents across Canada and the US connect with each other, who share the 

same belief in play as the Company, and together promote a playful lifestyle for children while also 

supporting their families at home.  Peekaboo has ensured that there is an opportunity for everyone of any 

lifestyle to become a Stylist.  

 

Peekaboo’s direct-sales business model allows the business to grow quickly with modest investment 

capital as most of the Company’s costs are fixed once the investment has been made in the independent 

sales representative network.  Peekaboo incurs minimal incremental direct costs to add new Stylists to 

the Company’s existing markets.  Stylist compensation varies directly with sales. In addition, unlike 

other children’s apparel manufacturers who require significant expenditures for multiple retail store rent, 

retail sales staff and capital to hold inventory across a retail store network or costs for marketing and 

returned goods if sold through independent retail store network.  E-commerce retailers who offer 

convenience and simplicity operate with thin margins, expensive shipping, extensive online marketing 

costs and loss of revenue from returned goods.  In direct-sales industry, the Stylists bear the majority of 

the consumer marketing expenses and sponsors coordinate a good proportion of the recruiting and 

training of new Stylists.  

 

Peekaboo’s primary drivers for sales growth are growing the Stylists network, retaining current Stylists 

and increasing the average sales per Stylist.  Other drivers that influence growth include Stylist and sales 

manager training and the time and costs to market and recruit new Stylists.  Investing in brand 

awareness through campaigns promoting the importance of play to children’s development increases the 

Stylist retention rate.    

 

The Company’s recurring cash requirements include executive and employee salary compensation, 

distribution and information technology costs, some administrative and public company costs.  

 

The Company’s recurring working capital requirements include financing the lead-time for inventory 

and apparel production deposits necessary for seasonal collections.  The Company places apparel 

production deposits several months before the final purchase order and pays for goods before shipment 

to Canada from China, which happens several months before the Company receives payment for goods 

sold.  Up to the public listing of the Company in late September 2016, the Company has used interest-

bearing loans from related parties to fund the working capital required for the production-to-payment 

cycle. 
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The Company sells its apparel and holds cash in Canadian and United States Dollars. The fluctuation in 

the price of the Canadian dollar, United States Dollars and to a lesser degree, the Renminbi may affect 

financial performance. The economic health of the economies of North America and to a lesser extent 

China may affect the financial performance of the Company.   
 

Highlights  

 Raised over $2-million in equity funding and converted $1-milion of debt into shares. 

 Launched US expansion in September 2017. 

 Improved gross margin by aggressive cost reduction and adjustments to the Stylists’ 

compensation.  
 

Overall Performance  
 

At the end of fiscal 2016, Peekaboo was listed on the TSX Venture Exchange and raised $1-million in a 

share unit offering.    

 

Lower than expected proceeds from the financing and expenses associated with the public listing 

resulted in the Company delaying investment in some growth initiatives in Canada which led to flat 

sales growth in Canada and focus cash and management resources in preparing for the Company’s US 

expansion planned for fiscal 2018. 

 

Fiscal 2017 growth strategies required the Company to fund a permanent source of working capital for 

increased inventory and apparel production deposits and US expansion.  During the year, the Company 

raised net proceeds of $1,911,385 in funding through a share unit financing, and a further $1.5-million in 

equity funding during Q2 in fiscal 2018. 

 

US Expansion Update 

 

The Company executed a soft launch in the US in September 2017 to begin building the US Stylist 

network and promoting Peekaboo’s brand while the Company further prepares for a global launch with 

integrated software for both countries. As at January 29, 2017, the Company has recruited 107 US 

Stylists across 34 states. 

 

In light of the growing Stylist network in both Canada and the expanding US network, the Company 

hired a new Director of Sales and Field Development, Ms. Cindy Tokoly, in October 2017. Ms. Tokoly 

previously held the same position with Matilda Jane Clothing, a US children direct sales company, since 

its inception. The Company also engages Ms. Sandy Spielmaker to act as interim General Manager to 

oversee the integration of operations in Canada and the US.  Ms. Spielmaker has over two decades of 

expertise in the direct selling world and previously held Chief Sales Officer positions at Scentsy and 

Origami Owl, and served as VP, Global Sales in Amway. 

 

In the soft launch period, the Company has partnered with Thatcher Technology Group to customize a 

software designed for the US market and the management has planned to focus on software integration 

to host both Canada and US Stylists in the upcoming global launch in fiscal 2018.  

 

The Company also developed an interim compensation plan along with incentive programs to support 

and facilitate the US Stylists recruitment. The management plans to launch a global compensation plan 

in the third quarter of fiscal 2018 that will motivate Stylists to expand and build up strong selling teams. 
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The Company has completed most of its ground work for entering the US market in the fourth quarter of 

fiscal 2017, including engaging with consulting expertise to introduce Peekaboo’s unique brand, 

designing a motivational US compensation plan and customizing US software for Stylist support. The 

management is encouraged to see the initial results of the well-executed soft launch plan. The Company 

has seen strong recruitment of US Stylists in January 2018, resulting in 12% of January monthly sales 

have come from the US market compared to last year.  

 

With initiatives of software integration to deliver enhanced customer experiences, the launch of first-

class global compensation plan and refining the brand’s message, the management is confident that the 

Company is well-positioned for exponential growth in North America. 

 

PART 2 – FINANCIAL PERFORMACE REVIEW 

 

Selected Annual Information  
 

The following table summarizes selected financial data for the Company. The information in this table 

was extracted from the financial statements, and related notes included herein and should be read in 

conjunction with such financial statements. 

 

 2017 %
1 

2016 %
1 

YoY%
2 

Sales $  3,358,307 - $  3,540,449 - -5% 

Cost of sales      

Cost of goods sold 2,076,342 62% 2,231,163 63% -7% 

Stylist commission 749,375 22% 855,104 24% -12% 

Gross profit 532,591 16% 454,182 13% 17% 

Operating costs 3,026,627 90% 1,611,586 46% 88% 

      

Total assets 1,604,913 - 1,613,707 - -1% 

Total liabilities 1,740,975 - 2,376,126 - -27% 

Shareholder equity (deficiency) (136,062) - (762,419) - -82% 

      

Number of Stylists 901 - 670 - 34% 

  
(1) As a percentage (%) of sales. 

(2) Year-over-year (YoY) change as a percentage (%). 
 

                 
 

Summary of Annual Financial Information 

 

For the year ended September 30
th

, 2017 

 

The following analysis of the Company’s operating results for the fiscal year ended September 30
th

, 

2017, includes a comparison to the corresponding comparative year ended September 30
th

, 2016. Please 

refer to the Statement of Operations and Statement of Cash Flows. 

 

During fiscal 2017, sales were influenced by late shipments of Spring products due to lower than 

expected financing and the Fall products are delayed as well due to the Company’s consigned container 

being randomly selected and searched by Canada Border Services Agency.  As the Company’s direct 

sales model relies heavily on the Stylists’ ability to showcase and promote product samples, the delay in 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Canada_Border_Services_Agency
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product shipments disrupted the Stylists’ Pop-up booking and selling activities since many parties were 

cancelled due to lack of products on hand. 

 

Sales are driven by the number of Stylists and the average sales per Stylist per year. The retention rate of 

Stylists is an equally important driver of sales and is largely influenced by Peekaboo’s unique mission, 

culture and quality apparel.  To be an active Stylist, a sales representative must achieve $900 in personal 

sales in a twelve-month period on a rolling basis.  

 

The Stylists base expanded 34% through organic growth requiring little or no additional costs over the 

year to 901 Stylists at year-end.  The Company also had success in digital marketing and social media 

campaigns initiatives, which proved to be more effective in supporting the Stylists and more cost 

efficient than previously contracted PR efforts.  

 

Despite the disruption in product launches and the short-term loss of sales from the less-discounting 

strategy, the Company’s sales remain flat during fiscal 2017 compared to fiscal 2016.  In addition, the 

Company had previously offered heavy discounted sales in exchange for working capital. After being 

listed in the TSXV and having access to the capital markets, the management has gradually reduced the 

discounting promotions to preserve Peekaboo’s brand value, especially in light of the US expansion.  

However, consumers generally take time to adjust to the less-discounting mindset.   

 

The Company’s main market in order of sales were Alberta (38%), British Columbia (31%) and the 

Maritime provinces (11%). 

 

The management is confident that the Company will see a double-digit growth in fiscal 2018 as the 

Company’s equity financing in 2017 has allowed the management to launch the US expansion initiative 

to grow its Stylist base across North America. The risk of product launches disruption has been reduced 

with a new factory term, which will be further explained below in the Liquidity and Capital Resources. 

In addition, the market should be familiar and adjusted to the Company’s less-discounting strategy. 

 

As a direct-sales company, cost of sales includes apparel manufacturing and design costs (cost of goods) 

and commissions paid to Stylists for selling apparel which fluctuates with sales.  While sales were flat 

when compared to the previous year, cost of sales fell $260,550 or 8% to $2.8-million due to both lower 

cost of goods and commissions paid to a growing Stylist base. In conjunction with the less-discounting 

strategy, the Company also adjusted the commission structure by paying less commission on discounted 

products. 

 

Most notably, gross margin increased to 16% of sales from 13% a year earlier due to the improvement in 

cost of sales.  The Company plans to continue improving its gross margin to its target of 25% of sales. 

 

Operating expenses related to the operation of a direct-sales company include investment in Stylists 

training, recruitment and marketing, administrative, distribution and information technology, salary 

compensation for executives and employees, which totaled $3.0-million.   

 

Executive and employee salaries and administrative expenses increased due to the Company’s US 

expansion initiative, which requires the Company to expand the team and hire additional for Stylists and 

head office support. As of September 30, 2017, the Company has 24 full and part-time employees in 

Canada. 
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The Company incurred approximately $267,090 in distribution and information technology costs in of 

which $117,000 is for preparation of the Company’s US launch in fiscal 2018.  The Company decrease 

in Stylists training, recruitment and marketing in Canada to conserve cash. 

 

One-time operating costs include inventory write down of $102,821, which consists of obsolete stocks 

from previous seasonal collections prior to 2017. 

 

The Company reported an operating loss of $2.5-million in fiscal 2017 compared to $1.2-million in 

fiscal 2016. 

 

Other expenses related to the operation of public company and financing include professional fees, and 

public company costs, investor relations, share-based compensation for employees and executives 

increased in the Company’s first year as a public company.  Other expenses declined by 75% to 

$325,955 compared to fiscal 2016 due to the listing cost of $1.2-million in fiscal 2016 being a one-time 

expense. Investor relations expense was $411,473 for the year compared to nil in fiscal 2016. As this is 

the first year the Company operated as a public company, it is necessary to engage with marketing and 

media services to enhance the Company’s exposure in the capital markets, which greatly supplemented 

the Company’s effort to successfully closed two rounds of private placements in fiscal 2017 and 

upcoming fiscal 2018.  

 

Loan interest and other finance costs increased to $286,794 compared to $110,752 largely due to the 

Company requiring to fund the working capital through debt financing since the equity financing was 

lower than expectation.  

 

A loss on settlement of debt is non-cash accounting expense incurred due to the fair market valuation of 

the Company’s warrants issued along with shares to convert $1.2-million in debt during fiscal 2017. 
 

The Company reported a net loss of $3.0-million in fiscal 2017 compared to a loss of $2.5-million in 

fiscal 2016. The basic loss per weighted average number of common shares was $0.35 and a loss of 

$0.66 for the respective periods.  
 

Summary of Reported Period Results 

 

For the three months ended September 30
th

, 2017. 

 

The following analysis of the Company’s operating results for the three months ending September 30
th

, 

2017, includes a comparison to the corresponding comparative year ended September 30
th

, 2016.  
 

Sales totaled $862,160 compared to $931,900 in the comparative period while cost of sales totaled 

$848,552 compared to $757,119.  Gross margins decreased compared to the comparative period, due to 

year-end, non-cash adjustment to cost of goods sold. 

 

Operating costs totaled approximately $1.0-million compared to $393,611 in comparative period as 

majority of the costs associated with the Company’s initial USA expansion were incurred in during Q4 

in fiscal 2017. 
 

The Company reported an operating loss of $1.1-million and a net loss of $1.4-million compared to 

$218,830 and $1.5-million in the comparative period.   
 

 



 

Peekaboo Beans Inc. 
 

PEEKABOO BEANS INC. | Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for the years ended September 30, 

2017 and 2016 and information contained herein as at January 29, 2018. 

 

Page 8 of 12 

 
 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 

The following analysis of the Company’s liquidity and capital resources for the fiscal year ended 

September 30
th

, 2017, includes a comparison to the corresponding, comparative year ended September 

30
th

, 2016. Please refer to the Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows. 
 

The Company’s principal source of funds available are equity financing and to a lesser degree, debt 

financing. The Company believes it has sufficient working capital to maintain its liquidity for the next 

fiscal year. 
 

The Company’s tangible assets include cash, inventories, and apparel production deposits. Other assets 

required for the operation of the Company include trade receivables and software and equipment. Direct 

sales companies do not account for the value for their independent sales network that sells and 

distributes its apparel or its brand.   
 

Total assets generally remained the same at $1.6-million year-over-year. 

 

Cash increased 14% to $183,880, year-over-year, while trade receivables were immaterial as the 

Company receives payment in full when a customer places a purchase order with an independent sales 

representative on the Company’s website using their credit cards. The difference is due to the credit card 

companies’ processing time. 
 

Apparel production deposits decreased by 80% to $63,512 as the Company has engaged with a new 

factory partner, which requires lower upfront deposit when placing a purchase order, compared to the 

companies previous factory.  

 

Inventories increased by 11% to $1.1-million, year-over-year. The Company also wrote down $102,821 

in obsolete inventory from previous collections as the collections had minimal value due to the trend 

changes in apparel. 

 

Prepaid expense increased by 123% to $209,541 compared to $94,174 the previous year due to investor 

relation contracts which require advance payment. 

 

Total debt or liabilities decreased 27% to $1.7-million year-over-year and includes $1.5-million in debt 

that is repayable within the year and $246,821 in long-term debt.  

 

Debt repayable within the year consisted of trade payables and accrued liabilities of $671,214, loans that 

are current totaling $716,049 and commission payable to Stylists of $106,892. Commissions owing to 

Stylists occur when Stylists elect not to have their sales commissions paid to them but instead applied 

towards future apparel purchases. 

 

Current loans predominately include $278,250 owing to a Canadian apparel finance company and a 

demand loan from a venture capital company for $221,068.  The venture capital company has lent over 

$1.2-million of which $1-million has been converted into 974,714 shares of unit financings throughout 

the year. 

 

Long-term debts include an unsecured convertible promissory note from an executive and director of the 

Company for $246,821 bearing interest at 12% per annum and convertible into the shares and warrants 

of the Company.  
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Trade payables decreased 13% year-over-year to $671,214 as the Company converted approximately 

$73,000 in past-due trade payables into shares. 

 

The shareholder equity deficiency decreased to $136,062 at year-end compared to a deficit of $762,419 

a year earlier due to the issuance of 5.1-million shares for cash and for conversion of debt totaling $3.1-

million. 
 

The statement of cash flows shows the structure of and changes in cash for the fiscal years ended 

September 30
th

, 2017 and 2016. The statement contains cash changes in operating activities, investing 

activities and financing activities. During fiscal 2017, the Company generated $23,004 of cash to hold 

$183,880 at fiscal year-end.  Operating activities used $2.5-million in cash predominately from 

operating losses during the year while financing activities generated cash of approximately $2.5-million 

due to proceeds from of the share financing and loans.  Other than the aforementioned, other uses and 

generation of cash flows did not materially affect cash flows during the reported period. 

 

PART 3 – CAPITALIZATION
 

 
As of September 30

th
, 2017: 

 

Shares 

 

Peekaboo had 11,894,535 common shares outstanding and 445,620 common shares held in escrow. 

 

Subsequent to year-end, on December 20, 2017, the Company issued 2,488,500 common shares at a 

price of $0.60 per share for gross proceeds of approximately $1.4-million. The brokered portion of the 

Private Placement consisted of the issuance of 2,113,334 Common Shares and the non-brokered portion 

of the Private Placement consisted of the issuance of 375,166 Common Shares. The Agents were paid a 

commission comprised of a cash fee in the amount of $101,440 and issued an aggregate of 169,066 

Agents’ warrants. Each Agents’ warrant is exercisable for one Common Share at a price of $0.60 per 

Common Share for a period of 24 months from the date of issue. In addition, the Company also issued 

the Agents 105,666 Common Shares as a corporate finance fee in connection with the Private 

Placement. 

 

On January 23, 2018, the Company announces another $1.5-million brokered private placement with a 

closing date on February 28, 2018. The Company will issue up to 2-million units of the Company at a 

price of $0.75 per unit pursuant to the offering. Each unit will be comprised of one common share and 

one half of share purchase warrant. Each warrant will be exercisable into one common share of the 

Company at a price of $1.00 for a period of 24 months following the closing of the offering. 

 

Warrants 

 

The Company has the following warrants outstanding: 

 107,800 warrants outstanding exercisable at $1.25 per share until October 17
th

 , 2017 

 300,000 warrants outstanding exercisable at $0.80 per share until March 30, 2019 

 1,428,429 warrants outstanding exercisable at $0.80 per share until May 12
th

, 2019 

 476,385 warrants outstanding exercisable at $0.80 per share until June 29
th

, 2019 

 439,055 warrants outstanding exercisable at $0.80 per share until September 28
th

, 2019 
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Subsequent to year-end, the Company issued 169,066 finder warrants exercisable at $0.60 per share 

until December 20
th

, 2019. 

 

Stock Options 

 

During fiscal 2017, 855,000 and 20,000 stock options were issued to management, staff and consultants, 

respectively on May 12
th

, 2017 and September 26
th

, 2017. The options are exercisable into one common 

share at $0.60 until May 12
th

, 2019 and September 26
th

, 2019, respectively. 
 

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares 
 

The weighted average number of common shares outstanding for fiscal 2017 was 8,520,038 and 

3,855,072 for fiscal 2016. The weighted average of outstanding shares incorporates any changes of 

shares outstanding over a reported period and is used to calculate key financial measures such as 

earnings per share for the period. 

 

Other than the aforementioned, no other dilutive securities were outstanding at year-end. 
 

Part 4 – ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 

Transactions Between Related Parties 

 

During the year ended September 30
th

, 2017, the Company entered into the following related party 

transactions: 
 

The Company paid its Chief Executive Officer $89,000 (2016 - $89,000) and its Chief Financial Officer 

$78,467 (2016 – 66,590) in salary.  
 

The Company also paid interest of $17,277 (2016 - $4,937) on loans from the Chief Financial Officer of 

the Company. At September 30
th

, 2017, the Chief Financial Officer was owed $32,031 for unpaid 

expense reimbursement, and $246,821  (2016 – $251,758 ) under a convertible promissory note. During 

the year ended September 30, 2017, interest of $17,277 was accrued (2016 - $4,937). 

 

An apparel finance company of which a former Director of the Company is a shareholder and officer 

held a revolving loan of $278,250  (2016 - $273,000). During the year ended September 30, 2017, 

finance fees totaling $65,000 were incurred on this revolving loan. 
 

A director of the Company was owed $8,091 (2016 - $106,581) under a demand loan, bearing interest at 

12% per annum. 
 

The Company incurred nil (2016 - $80,175) in fees to former directors and officers of North Group. At 

September 30, 2017, nil (2016 - $52,123) is owing to these parties. 
 

Forward-Looking Statements 
 

This document contains forward-looking statements. The Company’s representatives may also make 

forward-looking statements orally from time to time. 
 

Statements in this document that are not historical facts, including statements about the Company’s 

beliefs and expectations, recent business and economic trends constitute forward-looking statements. 

Forward-looking statements include, without limitation, statements regarding the outlook for future 
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operations, forecasts of future revenue and expenditures, market conditions or other business plans. 

Forward-looking statements include statements regarding the intent, belief or current expectations of the 

Company, primarily on the results of operations, financial position or cash flows of the Company. 
 

The statements are based on current plans, estimates, and projections and are subject to change. A 

number of factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-

looking statement, and the Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly any changes in light of 

new information or future events. 
 

Shareholders and potential investors are cautioned that any such forward-looking statements are not 

guarantees and involve risks and uncertainties. Actual results may differ from those in the forward-

looking statements as a result of various factors, such as general economic and business conditions 

particularly in Canada and North America, including changes in interest rates, actions by government 

authorities in Canada, including changes in government regulation in the direct-sales industry; political 

conditions and future decisions by the Company's directors or executive officers in response to changing 

conditions; the ability to execute prospective business plans; and misjudgments in the course of 

preparing forward-looking statements. 

 

Material factors and assumptions underlying the Company's expectations regarding forward-looking 

statements include, among others: the ability of the Company to obtain financing on acceptable terms; 

that the Company will be able to maintain appropriate levels of liquidity and working capital; stability in 

the global economic environment particularly in Canada and the People's Republic of China (“China”) 

and broadly in regard to North America and Canadian interest rates; and that interest rates and foreign 

exchange rates, particularly with regard to the Canadian dollar, the United States of America (“United 

States”) dollar (“US$”) and to a lesser degree the Renminbi, the currency of China, will not vary 

materially from current levels. 

 

Shareholders and potential investors are advised that these cautionary remarks expressly qualify in their 

entirety all forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or persons acting on its behalf 

contained in this MD&A. 

 

This forward-looking statement dated September 30
th

, 2017, references CSA Staff Notice 51-330 

Guidance regarding the Application of Forward-Looking Information Requirements under National 

Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations dated November 20, 2009. 
 

Accounting Policy 
 

Financial information for fiscal 2017 and 2016 presented and discussed in this MD&A is prepared in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

 

Significant accounting policies and outline the measurement and other accounting policies that are 

relevant to understanding Peekaboo’s financial statements, business operations, and the direct-selling 

industry. 

 

Changes in accounting policies distinguish how the Company should present and disclose different types 

of accounting changes in its financial statements. Changes in accounting policies need to be applied 

retroactively while changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively. 
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Critical accounting estimates and judgments outline the estimates and assumptions that management 

made that can significantly affect Peekaboo’s financial statements and include inventory valuation, 

income taxes, and stock-based compensation during fiscal 2016. 
 

-End of Document- 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and 

Results of Operations as at September 30th, 2016 and 2015. 
 
The following is management’s discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) of Peekaboo Beans Inc.’s financial 
condition and results of operations for the year ended September 30th, 2016 and 2015, and should be read in 
conjunction with the audited financial statements and related notes for the same reporting periods.  The 
MD&A will also outline the economic operating conditions and how these influence business activities of 
Peekaboo Beans Inc. 
 
All references herein refer to the audited financial statements and related notes for the year ended 
September 30th, 2016 and or 2015, except where otherwise indicated.  All financial information is expressed 
in Canadian dollars (“$”).  Unless otherwise indicated, a reference to the “Company” or “Peekaboo” means 
Peekaboo Beans Inc.  The Company’s financial year is the year ending September 30th “(“year-end”).   
Reference to a “fiscal year” means the Company’s year commencing on October 1st of that year and ending 
on September 30th of the following year.  For example, fiscal 2016 means the period beginning October 1st, 
2015 and ending September 30th, 2016.  In addition, reference will be made to “Notes”, which refers to the 
Notes to the Financial Statements. 
 
Organization of the MD&A 
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The Company ................... 1 
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Part 3 – Capitalization 
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Forward-Looking Statements ......... 10 
Accounting Policy ....  ........... 11 

  

 
PART 1 – OVERVIEW AND OUTLOOK 
 
The Company 
Peekaboo is a direct-sales retailer of children apparel.   
 
The Company designs and manufactures children’s playwear that is stylish, functional and allows free, 
unstructured play for children. Peekaboo is helping to create a revolutionary lifestyle brand around the 
growing culture of children’s play by focusing on the Company’s core customers, “Mothers”. 
 
Peekaboo’s design team in British Columbia, Canada works with child development specialists, educators, 
and therapists to review, evaluate and create new designs that take into consideration the developmental 
needs of children by creating value with versatile pieces and longevity through quality construction.   
 
The fabric that Peekaboo designs in-house for its playwear apparel is third party tested to guarantee that it is 
aligned with OEKO-TEK® Standard 100, an independent testing and certification system for all stages of 
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production from textile raw materials to end products.  The requirement is that all components of an item 
comply with the required criteria without exception, including the outer material, sewing threads, linings, 
prints, etc., as well as non-textile accessories such as buttons, zip fasteners, rivets, etc. for harmful 
substances and sensitivity to skin contact.  In addition, Peekaboo conducts its own third-party lab testing to 
ensure its dying mills are adhering to the Company’s standards that its fabric does not contain harmful levels 
of heavy metals and other harsh additives that are found in most children’s clothing fabrics and dyes.  
 
The Company does not own or operate any manufacturing facilities.  Peekaboo works closely with its third-
party contract manufacturers who adhere to a vendor code of ethics regarding social and environmental 
sustainability practices.  Peekaboo relies on a limited number of suppliers to provide custom designed 
fabrics and follows the production of its apparel from raw fiber to finished garment.    
 
Peekaboo’s apparel is sold exclusively through a direct-sales channel of independent sales representatives or 
“Stylists” in Canada and beginning in the United States.  The Company does not own, rent or operate any 
retail store locations.   Peekaboo’s direct-sales business offers women the business opportunity to generate 
income and not sacrifice time with their families.  To date, The Company has paid out approximately $2-
million in commissions to its Stylists. 
 
The direct-sales channel allows for actual product demonstration and unlike other selling channels 
Peekaboo’s Stylists can provide Mothers with a higher level of service and encourage repeat purchases.  As 
Stylists purchase the apparel themselves for their children, they can provide the first-hand testimonial of the 
quality of the apparel, which serves as a powerful sales tool and is strengthened by ongoing personal contact 
and education between the Stylists and Mothers.   The Company’s network of Stylists encourages friends to 
host sales parties or “Soirees” in their homes to demonstrate and sell the Company’s children’s playwear 
apparel, in return for hosting they will receive free products and discounts.   
 
Peekaboo produces four seasonal collections each fiscal year with the Fall collection being the biggest 
season for sales.  Orders are processed through Peekaboo’s online system, and payments are made at 
Soirees, usually by credit cards.  Soirees, act as a business opportunity to sell product, book more parties, 
present the direct-sales business opportunity to potential Stylists and market Peekaboo’s brand and apparel.   
 
The Company has approximately 1,000 Stylists across Canada.  Mothers become Stylists for a number of 
reasons. Many become a Stylist to earn part-time money to contribute to their family’s income, whereas 
others are drawn to Peekaboo because they can be their own boss and earn rewards based on their skills and 
hard work.  Mothers join to build a community and give themselves something to work on while staying at 
home with their children.  Peekaboo has ensured that there is an opportunity for all Mothers from any 
lifestyle to become a Stylist.  
 
Peekaboo’s direct-sales business model allows the business to grow quickly with modest investment capital 
as most of the Company’s costs are fixed once the investment has been made in the independent sales 
representative network, which Peekaboo has done over the past five years.  Peekaboo does not incur any 
incremental direct costs to add new Stylists to the Company’s existing markets.  Stylist compensation varies 
directly with sales unlike other children’s apparel manufacturers who require significant expenditures for 
retail store rent in many different locations, retail sales staff and capital to hold inventory across a retail store 
network or costs for marketing and returned goods if sold through independent retail store network.  E-
commerce retailers who offer convenience and simplicity operate with thin margins, expensive shipping, 
extensive online marketing costs and loss of revenue from returned goods.  In direct-sales, the Stylists bear 
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the majority of the consumer marketing expenses and sponsor and coordinate a good proportion of the 
recruiting and training of new Stylists.  
 
Peekaboo’s primary drivers for sales growth are growing the Stylist network, Stylist retention and increasing 
the average revenue per Stylist.  Other drivers that influence growth include Stylist and sales manager 
training and the time and costs to market and recruit new Stylists.  Investing in brand awareness through 
campaigns promoting the importance of play to children’s development increases the Stylist retention rate.    
 
The Company’s recurring cash requirements include executive and employee salaries, distribution, 
information technology costs and some administration and finance expenses1 and public company expenses 
such as regulatory, shareholder communication and corporate governance2. 
 
The Company’s recurring working capital requirements include financing the lead-time for inventory and 
apparel production deposits necessary for seasonal direct-sales catalogues.  The Company places apparel 
production deposits several months before the final purchase order, so fabric and design can begin. When 
the apparel has been delivered to Peekaboo, the apparel is categorized as inventory.  Difference in apparel 
production deposits between comparative periods is due to timing differences for when apparel has been 
ordered and deposit made.   The Company pays for goods before shipment to Canada from China, which is 
several months before the Company receives payment for goods sold.   
 
The Company sells its apparel and holds cash in Canadian dollars. The fluctuation in the price of the 
Canadian dollar, US$ and to a lesser degree, the Renminbi may affect financial performance. The economic 
health of the economies of Canada and to a lesser extent China may affect the financial performance of the 
Company3.  As the Company expands into the United States, the health of the US economy will affect 
financial performance. 
 
Highlights 

• Raised over $1-million and listed on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”), 

• Expanded the direct-sales network to approximately 1,000 Stylists in Canada, 

• Begin to plan US expansion in fiscal 2017. 
 
Overall Performance 
With an established Stylist base, the Company developed and tested a new Stylist compensation and reward 
program to be more aligned towards a direct-sales channel.   The compensation plan is one of the key 
components for a successful direct-sales company.  The Company also formed a leadership group of key 
Stylists who were trained to become sales leaders in their market and learned how to recruit and train new 
Stylists.  The Company began recruiting and training regional sales managers to manage the growing Stylist 
sales force.  
 
 
Fiscal 2016 growth strategies required the Company to fund a permanent source of working capital for 
increased inventory and apparel production deposits.   The Company began raising funds through the 

                                                             
1 Note 10, “Executive and Employee Compensation”, Note 12, “Distribution and Information Technology”, Note 11, 

2  Note 14, “Governance, Restructuring and Public Company Costs”. 
3  Note 24, “Capital Management” and Note 23, “Financial Instruments”. 



 
Peekaboo Beans Inc. 
 

 

 
- Page 4 of 11 - 

 
Source: PEEKABOO BEANS INC. | Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition for the years ended September 30th, 2016 and 2015 and 
information contained herein as at January 30, 2017.  

 

issuance of a unit financing, where each unit was issued at $1.05 and consisted of one share and one warrant 
to purchase a further share at $1.25 until September 30th, 2017 (“Warrant”), (collectively, “Unit Financing”). 
 
The majority of management’s time during fiscal 2016 was focused towards fund raising and preparing for 
the listing of the Company’s shares on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) in Canada.  
 
Concurrent with the Company’s decision to go public, the Canadian securites industry went through a major 
upheavel during 2016 which included the consolidation of the investment dealer industry, or brokerage 
companies, to a handful which resulted in a delay in raising funds until the end of fiscal 2016 instead of 
earlier in the fiscal year.   
 
In anticpation of a delay in the equity financing, the Company arranged a bridge loan financing with venture 
capital investors to fund fiscal 2016 working capital requirements.   The Company delayed investing in any 
growth intiatives until fiscal 2017, which resulted in the sales growing by its organic growth level.   
 
Bridge Financing 
The Company financed the working capital requirements for inventory, apparel production deposits and 
production-to-payment cash requirements predominantly from loans from venture capital investor’s4 until 
the Company was publicly listed in late September 2016.  
 
The venture capital loans are convertible into the Unit Financing and approximatley $152,250 has been 
converted into the Unit Financing subsequent to the fiscal year-end.   The Company issued 480,000 
Warrants to a venture capital investor in regard to the bridge financing. 
 
TSXV Listing 
On September 29, 2016, Peekaboo was listed on the TSXV raising $1-million through a Unit Financing.   
Lower than expected proceeds from the financing and expenses associated with the public listing resulted in 
not enough proceeds to fully fund several growth initatives planned for fiscal 2017. 
 
The Company’s major growth initative in fiscal 2017, is to fund and prepare for the Company’s expansion 
into the United States beginning with a soft launch in the Pacific Northwest states of Washington and 
Oregon.    
 
The Company plans to raise funds from an equity offering of shares during Q2 in fiscal 2017 to fund US 
expansion and establish a working capital reserve. 
 
 

PART 2 - FINANCIAL PERFORMACE REVIEW 
 
Selected Annual Information 
The following table summarizes selected financial data for the Company.  The information in this table was 
extracted from the more detailed financial statements, and related notes included herein and should be read 
in conjunction with such financial statements.  
 

                                                             
4 Note 17, “Loans”. 
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 2016 %1 2015 %1 YoY
%2 

Sales ........................................   $ 3,469,867  - $ 3,048,991  - 14% 

Cost of sales ...................................  $ 2,806,866  81% $ 2,141,051 70% 31% 

   Apparel manufacturing cost (Cost of goods) ...........    $ 2,023,877  58% $ 1,634,757 54% 24% 

    Stylists commission ............................    $ 782,989  23% $ 506,295 17% 55% 

Gross profit ...................................  $ 663,002  19% $ 907,939 30% (27%) 

Operating costs ................................  $ 2,131,203  61% $ 1,665,594 55% 30% 

Total assets.................................... $      1,613,707 - $         1,433,293 - - 

Total debt..................................... $      2,376,126 - $         1,561,774 - - 

Shareholder equity (Total deficiency).................. $       (762,419) - $          (128,481) - - 

Number of Stylists...............................  989 -  744 - - 

Number of Soirees ..............................   3,054 -  2,227 - - 
(1) As a percentage (%) of sales. 
(2) Year-over-year (YoY) change as a percentage (%). 

 
Summary of Reported Period Results 
For the year ending September 30th, 2106 
 
The following analysis of the Company’s operating results for the fiscal year ended September 30th, 2016, 
includes a comparison to the corresponding, comparative year ended September 30th, 2015.  Please refer to 
the Statement of Operations and Statement of Cash Flows. 
 
Sales are driven by the number of Stylists and the average sales per Stylist per year.   The retention rate of 
Stylists is an equally important driver of sales and is largely influenced by Peekaboo’s apparel and culture.  
 
The Stylist base expanded 33% over the year to approximately 1,000 Stylists at year-end in fiscal 2016.   
 
Year-over-year sales remained flat while cost of sales increased disproportionately due to higher cost of 
goods and to a less extent higher commission payout to Stylists.   The Company postponed several growth 
initiatives during fiscal 2016 due to the delay in fund raising as previously discussed which contributed to 
flat sales.  Without the establishment of permanent working capital, the Company would not be able to fund 
the cash requirements resulting from double-digit sales growth.  The Company anticipates resuming its 
historical double-digit growth in sales upon raising without the appropriate amount of working capital to 
support such growth. 
 
Stylists held 3,054 Soiree parties during fiscal 2016 compared to 2,532 in fiscal 2015 and the average 
customer order remaining at $135 compared to $129 in fiscal 2015.  By fiscal year-end 2016, the Company’s 
main markets in order of sales were Alberta (41%), British Columbia (34%) and the Maritime provinces 
(9%).    
 
The cost of sales5 includes direct costs traceable to the manufacturing and sale of children’s playwear apparel 
and includes the cost of goods and Stylist’s commissions.   
 
The cost of sales7 increased disproportionately compared to sales growth due primarily to the increase in 
cost of goods and to a lessor extent, commission paid to Stylists.   

                                                             
5 Note 3(e), “Significant Accounting Policies”. 
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The cost of goods increased by $240,593 or 12% to $2.3-million compared to fiscal 2015 due to apparel 
pricing not fully reflecting the currency exchange6 and costs associated with being undercapitalized like 
higher shipping costs.  Like other Canadian apparel manufacturers, Peekaboo absorbed the majority of the 
currency cost resulting from the dramatic depreciation of the Canadian dollar against the US$ during the 
past two years.   The cost of goods as a percentage of sales was 64% in fiscal 2016 compared to 58% in 
fiscal 2015. 
 
Stylist’s commission as a percentage of sales remained at 23% in fiscal 2016 compared to fiscal 20147.  A 
new compensation plan was launched in early fiscal 2015 to make it competitive with other direct-sales 
companies and to increase recruitment.  In addition, the compensation plan was designed to recruit Stylists 
where their commission income is an important part of their family income.  
 
The gross profit margin for fiscal 2016 declined to 13% of sales compared to 19% in 2015 due to the higher 
cost of goods and flat sales growth.   The Company anticipates that’s its gross profit margin will increase to 
the Company’s target of 25% during fiscal 2017. 
 
Operating costs are considered indirect costs associated with the overall operation of the Company, 
including investment in our Stylist network8, administrative9, distribution and information technology10 and 
the salaries for employees and executives11.  The Company’s direct-sales business model does not require the 
Company to operate or rent retail stores, hire retail employee staff or pay advertising and marketing costs to 
promote its apparel to customers. 
 
Total operating costs, excluding the non-cash item of executive and employee stock based compensation, 
decreased 8%, year-over-year, to $1.6-million during fiscal 2016 compared to $1.8-million in the 
comparative period.  Despite modest capital available the Company increased investment in training sales 
leaders and marketing to recruit new Stylists by 58% to $315,529, which resulted in the Stylist base 
increasing by 33% in fiscal 2016.  Investment was increased in distribution and information technology, to 
accomadate a larger and growing Stylists base.  Administrative costs, which include overhead and head 
office costs decreased in fiscal 2016 due to management iniatives while executive and employee salaries 
declined due a streamlining of staffing during the year.  The Company had 20 full and part-time employees 
as of September 2016.  
 
Other costs include finance expense, listing costs associtaed with the Company’s public listing and other 
expenses.  Other costs increased, year-over-year, to $1.4-million in fiscal 201612, which predominately 
consits of $1.2 million in accounting valuation and cash cost of going public.   The Company incurred 
$339,54613 in cash costs associated with the Company’s listing on the TSXV.  
 

                                                             
6 Note 7, “Cost of Goods”. 
7 Note 8, “Stylists Commissions”. 
8 Note 9, “Stylists Training, Recruitment and Marketing”.  
9 Note 11, “Administrative”. 
10 Note 12, “Distribution and Information Technology”. 
11 Note 10, “Executive and Employee Compensation”. 
12 Note 14, “Governance, Restructuring and Public Company Costs” and Note 20, “Related Party Transactions”. 
13 Note 5, “Acquisition of PBI” 
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The Company reported an operating loss, after adjusting for the non-cash cost of executive and employee 
stock based compensation, of $1.2-million in fiscal 2016 compared to an operating loss of $1.1-million for 
the comparative period.   
 
The Company reported a net loss of $2.6-million in fiscal 2016 compared to a loss of $2.7-million in the 
comparative period.  The basic loss per weighted average number of common shares was $0.67 and a loss of 
$1.04 for the respective periods14. 
 
Summary of Reported Period Results 
For the three months ending September 30th, 2016  

The following analysis of the Company’s operating results for the three months ended September 30th, 2016, 
does not include a comparison against the corresponding comparative period.	

Sales totaled $931,900, while cost of sales totaled $757,119 resulting in a 19% gross margin.  Operating costs 
totaled $212,939, and the majority of the costs associated with the Company’s public listing were incurred in 
during Q4 in fiscal 2016, including the charge for $1.268M in Q4 of 2016, relating to the reverse takeover 
transaction. 	

The Company reported a net loss of $1.5M while the basic loss per weighted average number of common 
shares was $0.59. 

Sales totaled $3.5M (2015 - $3.4M), while cost of sales totaled $3.09M (2015 - $2.8M) resulting in a 12.8% 
(2015 – 19.1%) gross margin.  Operating costs totaled $1.4M (2015 – $1.4M) and the majority of the costs 
associated with the Company’s public listing were incurred in during Q4 in fiscal 2016. 
 
The Company reported a net loss of $2.5M (2015 - $2.6M) while the basic loss per weighted average 
number of common shares was $0.66 (2015 – $1.04). 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
The following analysis of the Company’s liquidity and capital resources for the fiscal year ended September 
30th, 2016, includes a comparison to the corresponding, comparative year ended September 30th, 2015.   
Please refer to the Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows. 
 
The Company’s principal source of funds available are equity financing and to a lessor degree, debt 
financing.  The Company believes it has sufficient cash to maintain its liquidity for the next fiscal year.   
 
The Company’s tangible assets include cash, inventory, and apparel production deposits.   Other assets 
required for the operation of the Company include trade receivables and software and equipment.   The 
Company does not account for the value for its independent sales network that sells and distributes its 
apparel or the Peekaboo brand.  The Company’s direct-sales business model does not require the Company 
to own retail stores.   
 

                                                             
14 Note 19, “Loss per Share”. 
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Total assets increased to $1.6-million in fiscal 2016 compared to $1.4-million in 2015, due to cash raised 
from the Unit Financing.   
  
Cash increased to $160,835, due to proceeds from the Unit Financing, while trade receivables did not 
change materially in fiscal 2016 compared to the comparative period.  
 
In aggregate, apparel production deposits and inventories during fiscal 2016 did not change dramatically 
compared to the fiscal 2015.  The Company held apparel production deposits of $415,844 and inventory of 
$1.0-million at year-end15.  Inventories also include the Fundamental Collections, which consists of 
commonly ordered apparel through out the year, and Stylist Business Supplies, to help Stylists run their 
direct sales business and inventory reserves.  
 
At fiscal year-ended 2016, the Company owed $1.5-million in debt that is repayable within the year and 
$842,995 in long-term debt16.  Debt repayable within the year consisted of trade payables and accrued 
liabilities of $775,121, loans totaling $641,296 and commissions owing to Stylists of $116,714.  Commissions 
owing to Stylists occur when Stylists elect not to have their sales commissions paid to them but instead 
applied towards future apparel purchases17.   
 
Trade payables18 increased due to extension of payments to preserve cash flow. 
 
Current loans include $273,000 owing to a Canadian apparel finance company that a former director of the 
Company is a shareholder and officer of19 and a demand loan from a venture capital investor for $106,581 
which was subsequently converted into the Unit Financing.  
 
Long-term debts20 include an unsecured loan from an employee for $188,292 bearing interest at 12% per 
annum and a convertible promissory note from the Executive Manager of the Company for $251,758 
bearing interest at 8% and convertible into the Unit Financing.  Also, included in long-term debts is a 
$555,000 convertible promissory notes owed to a venture capital investor of which $152,250 has been 
converted in the Unit Financing subsequent to the fiscal year-end.  
 
Interest expenses fell to $110,75121 during fiscal 2016 compared to $216,214 in fiscal year 2015, due to the 
conversion of debts into the Unit Financing at year-end in fiscal 201522.   
 
The shareholder equity deficiency increased to $762,419 at year-end fiscal 2016 compared to a deficit of 
$128,481 at year-end fiscal 2015.   
 
The statement of cash flows shows the structure of and changes in cash for the fiscal years ended 
September 30th, 2016 and 2015.  It is broken down into operating activities, investing activities and financing 

                                                             
15

 Note 6, “Apparel Production Deposits and Inventories”. 
16 Note 17, “Loans”. 
17 Note 3(d), “Significant Accounting Policies,” Note 8, “Stylists Commissions”. 
18 Note 16, “Trade Payables and accrued Liabilities”. 
19 Note 17 (b), “Loans” and Note 20, “Related Party Transactions”. 
20 Note 17 (e), “Loans” 
21 Note 13, “Finance Expense”. 
22 Note 17(f), “Loans”. 
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activities.  During fiscal 2016, the Company generated $171,680 of cash to hold $160,835 at fiscal year-end.  
Operating activities used $1.5-million in cash in fiscal 2016 compared to $1-million in fiscal 2015 
predominately due loss from operations in both years after adjustments.  Financing activities generated cash 
of $1.7-million in fiscal 2016 compared to $1.0-million in fiscal 2015 due to proceeds from of the Unit 
Financing23 and loans from venture capital investors.  Subsequent to year-end24, approximately $787, 626 in 
venture capital loans were converted into the Unit.  The Company repaid $28,910 in bank debt during the 
year.  Other than the aforementioned, other uses and generation of cash flows did not materially affect cash 
flows during the reported period. 
 
PART 3 – CAPITALIZATION25 
 
As of September 30th, 2016: 
 
Shares 
Peekaboo had 6,783,423 shares and 952,700 common shares held in escrow.  
 
Subsequent to year-end, the Company sold 98,000 Units raising approximately, $102,900.   
 
Warrants 
The Company had 2,707,468 warrants outstanding exercisable at $1.25 per share until September 30th, 2017. 
 
Subsequent to year-end, the Company issued 98,000 Warrants.   
 
Stock Options 
No stock options have been issued from the Company’s stock option plan. 
 
Weighted Average Number of Common Shares 
The weighted average number of common shares outstanding for fiscal 2016 was 3,855,072 and 2,599,337 for 
fiscal 2015.  The weighted average of outstanding shares incorporates any changes of shares outstanding 
over a reported period and is used to calculate key financial measures such as earnings per share for the 
period.    
 
Other than the aforementioned, no other dilutive securities were outstanding at year-end. 
 
Part 4- ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
Transactions Between Related Parties 
During the year ended September 30th, 2016 (September 30th, 2015), the Company entered into the 
following related party transactions: 
 

The Company paid its Chief Executive Officer $89,000 (2015 - $73,000) in salary and in 2015 incurred 
$35,000 as a guarantee fee for providing collateral to another loan.   

                                                             
23 Note 18(a), “Share Capital”. 
24 Note 25, “Events Subsequent to the Reporting Date” 
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The Company paid salaries of $66,590 (2015 - $49,477) and interest of $nil (2015 - $8,501) on loans from an 
Executive Manager of the Company. At September 30, 2016, the Executive Manager was owed $30,362 for 
unpaid expense reimbursement, and $251,758 (2015 – $246,821) under a convertible promissory note.  
During the year ended September 30, 2016, interest of $4,936 was accrued (2015 - $8,501). 

 

An apparel finance company of which a former Director of the Company is a shareholder and officer held a 
revolving loan of $273,000 (2015 - $273,000).  During the year ended September 30, 2016, finance fees 
totaling $30,006 were incurred on this revolving loan. 

 
A director of the Company was owed $100,000 plus $6,681 in accrued interest under a demand loan, bearing 
interest at 12% per annum. 

 
The Company incurred a total of $80,175 in fees to former directors and officers of North Group.  At 
September 30, 2016, $52,123 is owing to these parties. 
 

 
Forward-Looking Statements 
This document contains forward-looking statements.  The Company’s representatives may also make 
forward-looking statements orally from time to time.   
 
Statements in this document that are not historical facts, including statements about the Company’s beliefs 
and expectations, recent business and economic trends constitute forward-looking statements. Forward-
looking statements include, without limitation, statements regarding the outlook for future operations, 
forecasts of future revenue and expenditures, market conditions or other business plans.  Forward-looking 
statements include statements regarding the intent, belief or current expectations of the Company, primarily 
on the results of operations, financial position or cash flows of the Company.   
  
The statements are based on current plans, estimates, and projections and are subject to change.  A number 
of factors could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking 
statement, and the Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly any changes in light of new 
information or future events.  
 
Shareholders and potential investors are cautioned that any such forward-looking statements are not 
guarantees and involve risks and uncertainties.  Actual results may differ from those in the forward-looking 
statements as a result of various factors, such as general economic and business conditions particularly in 
Canada and North America, including changes in interest rates, actions by government authorities in 
Canada, including changes in government regulation in the direct-sales industry; political conditions and 
future decisions by the Company's directors or executive officers in response to changing conditions; the 
ability to execute prospective business plans; and misjudgments in the course of preparing forward-looking 
statements. 
 
Material factors and assumptions underlying the Company's expectations regarding forward-looking 
statements include, among others: the ability of the Company to obtain financing on acceptable terms; that 
the Company will be able to maintain appropriate levels of liquidity and working capital; stability in the 
global economic environment particularly in Canada and the People's Republic of China (“China”) and 
broadly in regard to North America and Canadian interest rates; and that interest rates and foreign exchange 
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rates, particularly with regard to the Canadian dollar, the United States of America (“United States”) dollar 
(“US$”) and to a lesser degree the Renminbi, the currency of China, will not vary materially from current 
levels.   

Shareholders and potential investors are advised that these cautionary remarks expressly qualify in their 
entirety all forward-looking statements attributable to the Company or persons acting on its behalf 
contained in this MD&A.  

This forward-looking statement dated June 30th, 2016, references CSA Staff Notice 51-330 Guidance 
regarding the Application of Forward-Looking Information Requirements under National Instrument 51-
102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations dated November 20, 2009. 
 
Accounting Policy 
Financial information for fiscal 2015 and 2014 presented and discussed in this MD&A is prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”)26. 
 
Significant accounting policies27 and outline the measurement and other accounting policies that are relevant 
to understanding Peekaboo’s financial statements, business operations, and the direct-selling industry. 
 
Changes in accounting policies28 distinguish how the Company should present and disclose different types 
of accounting changes in its financial statements.  Changes in accounting policies need to be applied 
retroactively while changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively.  
 
Critical accounting estimates and judgments29 outline the estimates and assumptions that management made 
that can significantly affect Peekaboo’s financial statements and include inventory valuation, income taxes, 
and stock-based compensation during fiscal 2015.  
 
 
 

-End of Document- 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

                                                             
26 Note 2, “Basis of Presentation”. 
27

 Note 3, “Significant Accounting Policies”. 
28 Note 4, “Changes in Accounting Policies”. 
29 Note 5, “Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgments”. 



 

   

SCHEDULE "B" 
 

STATEMENT OF EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 

PEEAKABOO BEANS INC. 
(the "Corporation") 

 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2017 

 
In accordance with the requirements of National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations, the Canadian 
Securities Administrators have issued guidelines on executive compensation disclosure for venture issuers as set out 
in Form 51-102F6V. The objective of the disclosure is to communicate the compensation the Corporation paid, made 
payable, awarded, granted, gave or otherwise provided to each named executive officer and director for the financial 
year, and the decision-making process relating to compensation. The disclosure will provide insight into executive 
compensation as a key aspect of the overall stewardship and governance of the Corporation and will help 
Shareholders understand how decisions about executive compensation are made. The Corporation’s approach to 
executive compensation is set forth below. 
 
Director and Name Executive Officer Compensation 
 
Executive Compensation is required to be disclosed for each (i) Chief Executive Officer (or individual who served in 
a similar capacity during the most recently completed financial year), (ii) each Chief Financial Officer (or individual 
who served in a similar capacity during the most recently completed financial year), (iii) the most highly compensated 
executive officer (other than the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer) who were serving as 
executive officers at the end of the most recently completed fiscal year whose total compensation was, individually, 
more than $150,000; and (iv) each individual who would meet the definition set forth in (iii) but for the fact that the 
individual was neither an executive officer of the Corporation, nor acting in a similar capacity, at the end of that 
financial year (the "Named Executive Officers" or "NEO’s"). 
 
Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation, Excluding Compensation Securities  
  
The following table sets forth all compensation paid or accrued, payable, awarded, granted, given or otherwise 
provided, directly or indirectly, by the Corporation or any subsidiary thereof, to each Named Executive Officer and 
director of the Corporation, for each of the two most recently completed financial years. 
 

 
Table of compensation excluding compensation securities 

 

 
 
 

Name 
and 

position (1) 

 
 
 
 
 

Year 

Salary, 
consulting 

fee, 
retainer or 

commission 
($) 

 
 
 
 

Bonus 
($) 

 
 

Committee 
or meeting 

fees 
($) 

 
 
 

Value of 
perquisites 

($) (2) 

 
 

Value of all 
other 

compensation 
($)(3) 

 
 
 

Total 
compensation 

($) 

COSTA, Traci(4) 
President, CEO and 
Director 

2017 89,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil 89,000 

2016 89,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil 89,000 

MAYER, Nikki(5) 
CFO, Corporate 
Secretary and 
Director 

2017 78,467 Nil Nil Nil Nil 78,467 

2016 66,590 Nil Nil Nil Nil 66,590 

KOPKE, Darrell(6) 
Director 

2017 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

2016 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

MATE, Karen(7) 2017 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 



 

 
Table of compensation excluding compensation securities 

 

 
 
 

Name 
and 

position (1) 

 
 
 
 
 

Year 

Salary, 
consulting 

fee, 
retainer or 

commission 
($) 

 
 
 
 

Bonus 
($) 

 
 

Committee 
or meeting 

fees 
($) 

 
 
 

Value of 
perquisites 

($) (2) 

 
 

Value of all 
other 

compensation 
($)(3) 

 
 
 

Total 
compensation 

($) 

Director 2016 - - - - - - 

MCPHIE, Christine(8) 
Former CFO 

2017 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

2016 34,565 Nil Nil Nil Nil 34,565 

MAH, Andrew(9) 
Former CEO, 
President and 
Corporate Secretary 

2017 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

2016 10,500 Nil Nil Nil Nil 10,500 

KUIACK, Michael (10) 
Former Director 

2017 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

2016 10,500 Nil Nil Nil Nil 10,500 

 
Notes: 

1. If an individual is a NEO and a director, both positions have been listed. All compensation noted is for NEO 
position. 

2. Includes perquisites provided to an NEO or director that are not generally available to all employees and 
that, in aggregate, are greater than (a) $15,000, if the NEO or director’s total salary for the financial year is 
$150,000 or less; (b) 10% of the NEO or director’s salary for the financial year, if the NEO or director’s total 
salary for the financial year is greater than $150,000 but less than $500,000; (c) $50,000, if the NEO or 
director’s total salary for the financial year is $500,000 or greater.  

3. No form of other compensation paid or payable equals or exceeds 25% of the total value of other 
compensation paid or payable to the director or Named Executive Officer. 

4. Appointed President, CEO and director on September 23, 2016. 
5. Appointed a director on September 23, 2016 and as CFO and Corporate Secretary on December 30, 2016. 
6. Appointed a director on September 23, 2016. 
7. Appointed a director on September 26, 2017. 
8. Resigned as CFO on December 30, 2016. 
9. Resigned as President, CEO and Corporate Secretary on September 30, 2016 and as a director on December 

30, 2016. 
10. Resigned as a director on December 30, 2016. 

 
External Management Companies 
 
Please refer to "Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements" below for disclosure relating to any 
external management company employing, or retaining individuals, acting as Named Executive Officers of the 
Corporation, or that provide the Corporation’s executive management services and allocate compensation paid to 
any Name Executive Officer or director. 
 
Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities  
 
The following table sets forth all compensation securities granted or issued by the Corporation, or any subsidiary 
thereof, to each director and Named Executive Officer in the most recently completed financial year for services 
provided or to be provided, directly or indirectly, to the Corporation or any subsidiary thereof. 
 



 

 
Compensation Securities  

 

 
 
 
 
 

Name 
and 

position 

 
 
 
 
 

Type of 
Compensation 

security (4) 

Number of 
compensation 

securities, 
number of 
underlying 

securities, and 
percentage of 

class  

 
 
 

Date 
of 

issue 
or 

grant 

 
 
 

Issue, 
conversion 
or exercise 

price 
($) (2) 

Closing 
price of 

security or 
underlying 
security on 

date of 
grant 

($) 

 
Closing 
price of 

security or 
underlying 
security at 
year end 

($) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Expiry 
date 

COSTA, Traci 
President, CEO and 
Director 

Stock Options 370,000(1)(3) May 12, 2017 $0.60 $0.58 $0.62 May 12, 2027 

MAYER, Nikki 
CFO, Corporate 
Secretary and 
Director 

Stock Options 
 

Convertible 
Debenture 

245,000(1)(3) 

 
412,513(5) 

May 12, 2017 
 

Sept. 28, 2017 

$0.60 
 

$0.60 

$0.58 
 

$0.62 
 

$0.62 
 

$0.62 

May 12, 2027 
 

Dec. 31, 2019 

KOPKE, Darrell 
Director 

Stock Options 20,000(1)(3) May 12, 2017 $0.60 $0.58 $0.62 May 12, 2027 

MATE, Karen 
Director 

- - - - - - - 

 
Notes:  

1. Each compensation security is exercisable into one in the capital of the Company (a "Common Share"). 
2. No compensation security has been re-priced, cancelled, replaced, had its term extended, or otherwise 

been materially modified, in the most recently completed financial year. 
3. The compensation securities have no vesting provisions. 
4. All compensation securities issued to directors and NEO’s are subject to a four month resale restriction 

expiring four months and one day from the date of issuance.  
5. The compensation securities has an outstanding principal amount of $247,507.90, accrues interest at a rate 

of 12% per annum, matures on December 31, 2019, and is convertible, from time to time, in whole or in 
part, into units of the Corporation at a price of $0.60 per unit (each a "Unit"). Each Unit is comprised of one 
Common Share and one-half of one Common Share purchase warrant (a "Warrant"). Each whole Warrant 
is exercisable, at a price of $0.80 per Common Share until December 31, 2019. 

 
There were no exercises of compensation securities by directors or Named Executive Officers during the most 
recently completed financial year. 

 
Stock Option Plans and Other Incentive Plans  
 
The following is a summary of the Corporation’s stock option plan (the "Plan") which is the only incentive plan in 
place available to the Name Executive Officers and directors.  
 

 The number of Common Shares to be reserved and authorized for issuance pursuant to options granted under 
the Plan shall not exceed ten percent (10%) of the total number of issued and outstanding shares in the 
Corporation.  
 

 Under the Plan, the aggregate number of optioned Common Shares granted to any one director or Name 
Executive Officer, together with all other Common Share compensation arrangements, must not exceed 5% 
of the Corporation's issued and outstanding shares in any 12 month period, unless the Corporation has 
obtained disinterested shareholder approval.  

 



 

 The exercise price for options granted under the Plan will be set by the Board of Directors at such time as the 
option is allocated under the Plan and cannot be less than the discounted market price permitted by the 
policies of the stock exchange on which the Common Shares are listed. 

 

 Options can be exercisable for a maxim of 10 years, subject to earlier termination in the event of the 
optionee's death or the cessation of the optionee's services to the Corporation.  

 

 Options granted under the Plan will not be assignable or transferable, except in the case of the death of an 
optionee, any vested option held by such individual at the date of death will become exercisable by the 
optionee’s lawful personal representatives, heirs or executors until the earlier of one year after the date of 
death of such optionee and the date of expiration of the term otherwise applicable to such option. 

 
Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements 
 
The Corporation does not have any employment, consulting or management agreements in place with its directors 
or Named Executive Officers.  
 
Oversight and Description of Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation 
 
Director Compensation 
 
Subject to availability of funds, the Corporation may pay its directors a fee of $1,000 per quarter, together with an 
additional fee of $500 per day for travel related to directors’ meetings attended in person. In addition, the members 
of the Audit Committee and Compensation Committee may each receive a fee of $1,000 per year per committee. 
The directors also receive incentive stock options in accordance with the policies of the TSXV, and the Plan. 
 
Named Executive Officer Compensation  
 
The Compensation Committee reviews the compensation payable to the Named Executive Officers on an annual 
basis, or periodically if needed, and makes recommendations to the Board of Directors. 
 
The objective of the Board of Directors in setting compensation levels is to attract and retain individuals of high 
caliber to serve the Corporation, to motivate their performance in order to achieve the Corporation's strategic 
objectives and to align the interests of the Named Executive Officers with the long-term interests of the 
Shareholders.  These objectives are designed to ensure that the Corporation continues to grow on an absolute basis 
as well as to grow cash flow and earnings for Shareholders.   
 
The Board of Directors set the compensation received by the Named Executive Officers so as to be generally 
competitive with the compensation received by persons with similar qualifications and responsibilities who are 
engaged by other companies of corresponding size, stage of development, having similar assets, number of 
employees, market capitalization and profit margin. 
 
The Corporation compensates its Named Executive Officers based on their skill and experience levels and the existing 
stage of development of the Corporation. Named Executive Officers are rewarded on the basis of the skill and level 
of responsibility involved in their position, the individual’s experience and qualifications, the Corporation’s 
resources, industry practice, and regulatory guidelines regarding executive compensation levels.  
   
The Board of Directors has implemented three levels of compensation to align the interests of the executive officers 
with those of the shareholders. First, Named Executive Officers are paid a monthly consulting fee or salary 
determined by the Board of Directors, if appropriate. Second, the Board of Directors awards Named Executive 
Officers long term incentives in the form of stock options. Finally, and only in special circumstances, the Board of 
Directors may award cash or share bonuses for exceptional performance that results in a significant increase in 
shareholder value.  
   



 

The base compensation of the Named Executive Officers is reviewed and set annually by the Board of Directors. The 
Chief Executive Officer has substantial input in setting annual compensation levels. The Chief Executive Officer is 
directly responsible for the financial resources and operations of the Corporation. In addition, the Chief Executive 
Officer and Board of Directors from time to time determine the stock option grants to be made pursuant to the Plan. 
Previous grants of stock options are taken into account when considering new grants. The Board of Directors awards 
bonuses at its sole discretion. The Board of Directors does not have pre-existing performance criteria or objectives.  
 
The Board of Directors considers the implications of the risks associated with the Corporation's compensation 
policies and practices when determining rewards for its Named Executive Officers and ensures that those policies 
do not encourage management to take inappropriate or excessive risks. The Board of Directors does not believe that 
there are any risks arising from the compensation programs that would be reasonably likely to have a material 
adverse effect on the Corporation. 
  
Neither Named Executive Officers nor directors are permitted to take any derivative or speculative positions in the 
Corporation's securities. This is to prevent the purchase of financial instruments that are designed to hedge or offset 
any decrease in the market value of the Corporation's securities. 
 
Compensation for the most recently completed financial year should not be considered an indicator of expected 
compensation levels in future periods. All compensation is subject to and dependent on the Corporation’s financial 
resources and prospects. 
 
Pension Disclosure 
 
The Corporation does not have any defined benefit or defined contribution pension plans in place which provide for 
payments or benefits at, following, or in connection with retirement for its directors or Named Executive Officers. 
 
 

 
 
  
 


